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2009 -

In the conflicts between man and man, between group and group, between nation and nation, the loneliness of the seeker for community is sometimes unendurable. The radical tension between good and evil, as man sees it and feels it, does not have the last word about the meaning of life and the nature of existence. There is a spirit in man and in the world working always against the thing that destroys and lays waste. Always he must know that the contradictions of life are not final or ultimate; he must distinguish between failure and a many-sided awareness so that he will not mistake conformity for harmony, uniformity for synthesis. He will know that for all men to be alike is the death of life in man, and yet perceive harmony that transcends all diversities and in which diversity finds its richness and significance.

                                                                          -Dr Howard Thurman

The victory

At 11.10 pm, on 4 November 2008, America finally understood a secret -‘You Can’.

Barack Hussein Obama’s victory as the 44th President of the United States of America marked the culmination of a nation’s dream that it could rise above its history of slavery and racism.

The cold November chill could not dampen the excitement of the crowds of people all over America and the world as they heard the news. From Harlem to Georgia, spontaneous cheer broke out as the news of the victory came in. Impromptu crowds of strangers formed everywhere, celebrating, congratulating, Barack Obama’s win as the roll call started - from Ohio, Florida, Virginia, Pennsylvania, New Hampshire, Iowa, New Mexico, and more.  

The win was all the more spectacular because he was a first time black Senator from Illinois who defeated Senator John McCain of Arizona, a seasoned politician and a former prisoner of war who was making his second bid for the presidency. Despite the great difference between the candidates, Barack dominated the elections. Thousands of people used to come to hear his speeches, and to dream the impossible with him.

As the words of the new President reverberated across the world, a new wave of optimism spread through the crowds.

If there is anyone out there who still doubts that America is a place where all things are possible, who still wonders if the dream of our founders is alive in our time, who still questions the power of our democracy, tonight is your answer…….It’s been a long time coming, but tonight, because of what we did on this date in this election at this defining moment, change has come to America.

Barack’s win was also echoed in the Congress, which for the first time since 1999 put the Democrats in control of the House. 

The election had some historic moments of its own like when Barack managed to defeat McCain in Ohio, a central battleground in American politics where he had originally lost in the Democratic primary to Hillary Clinton in Ohio.

Barack’s win was praised the world over as an historic moment in world history:

Gordon Brown, Prime Minister of the United Kingdom:

This is a moment that will live in history as long as history books are written. I offer my sincere congratulations to Barack Obama on winning the presidency of the United States. The relationship between the United States and the United Kingdom is vital to our prosperity and security ... Barack Obama ran an inspirational campaign, energizing politics with his progressive values and his vision for the future.

Jose Manuel Barroso, President of the European Commission:

We need to change the current crisis into a new opportunity. We need a new deal for a new world. I sincerely hope that with the leadership of President Obama, the United States of America will join forces with Europe to drive this new deal for the benefit of our societies, for the benefit of the world.

Nicolas Sarkozy, President of France:

Your brilliant victory rewards a tireless commitment to serve the American people. It also crowns an exceptional campaign whose inspiration and exaltation have proved to the entire world the vitality of American democracy, by choosing you, the American people have chosen change, openness and optimism. The outcome resonates well beyond your borders.

Spanish prime minister Jose Zapatero:
Obama's victory "opens a new era for dialogue in international relations".

Australian prime minister Kevin Rudd:

Martin Luther King had a dream of an America where men and women would be judged not on the color of their skin but on the content of their character. Today what America has done is turn that dream into a reality.

China's president, Hu Jintao:

In a new historical era, I look forward to … taking our bilateral relationship of constructive cooperation to a new level (...) a strong collaboration between China and the USA would be for the benefit of Chinese and American people, and people around the world.

Japanese prime minister Taro Aso: 

As the world confronts a multitude of serious challenges, I believe that the US will continue to make significant advancements under the able leadership of president-elect Obama, in cooperation with the international community." 

Nelson Mandela:

Your victory has demonstrated that no person anywhere in the world should not dare to dream of wanting to change the world for a better place. 
South Africa's president Kgalema Motlanthe:

The government and people of South Africa and indeed those of the entire region … join the peoples of the United States of America in expressing their warm congratulations to you … on your resounding election as the president elect of United States of America."

Kenya's president Mwai Kibaki:

We the Kenyan people are immensely proud of your Kenyan roots. Your victory is not only an inspiration to millions of people all over the world, but it has special resonance with us here in Kenya."

On 15 January 2009, Barack Obama wrote an open letter to his daughters, Malia and Sasha sharing with them his thoughts and dreams.

Dear Malia and Sasha, 

I know that you've both had a lot of fun these last two years on the campaign trail, going to picnics and parades and state fairs, eating all sorts of junk food your mother and I probably shouldn't have let you have. But I also know that it hasn't always been easy for you and Mom, and that as excited as you both are about that new puppy, it doesn't make up for all the time we've been apart. I know how much I've missed these past two years, and today I want to tell you a little more about why I decided to take our family on this journey. 

When I was a young man, I thought life was all about me -- about how I'd make my way in the world, become successful, and get the things I want. But then the two of you came into my world with all your curiosity and mischief and those smiles that never fail to fill my heart and light up my day. And suddenly, all my big plans for myself didn't seem so important anymore. I soon found that the greatest joy in my life was the joy I saw in yours. And I realized that my own life wouldn't count for much unless I was able to ensure that you had every opportunity for happiness and fulfillment in yours. In the end, girls, that's why I ran for president: because of what I want for you and for every child in this nation.

I want all our children to go to schools worthy of their potential -- schools that challenge them, inspire them, and instill in them a sense of wonder about the world around them. I want them to have the chance to go to college -- even if their parents aren't rich. And I want them to get good jobs: jobs that pay well and give them benefits like health care, jobs that let them spend time with their own kids and retire with dignity. 

I want us to push the boundaries of discovery so that you'll live to see new technologies and inventions that improve our lives and make our planet cleaner and safer. And I want us to push our own human boundaries to reach beyond the divides of race and region, gender and religion that keep us from seeing the best in each other. 

Sometimes we have to send our young men and women into war and other dangerous situations to protect our country -- but when we do, I want to make sure that it is only for a very good reason, that we try our best to settle our differences with others peacefully, and that we do everything possible to keep our servicemen and women safe. And I want every child to understand that the blessings these brave Americans fight for are not free -- that with the great privilege of being a citizen of this nation comes great responsibility. 

That was the lesson your grandmother tried to teach me when I was your age, reading me the opening lines of the Declaration of Independence and telling me about the men and women who marched for equality because they believed those words put to paper two centuries ago should mean something. 

She helped me understand that America is great not because it is perfect but because it can always be made better -- and that the unfinished work of perfecting our union falls to each of us. It's a charge we pass on to our children, coming closer with each new generation to what we know America should be. 

I hope both of you will take up that work, righting the wrongs that you see and working to give others the chances you've had. Not just because you have an obligation to give something back to this country that has given our family so much -- although you do have that obligation. But because you have an obligation to yourself. Because it is only when you hitch your wagon to something larger than yourself that you will realize your true potential. 

These are the things I want for you -- to grow up in a world with no limits on your dreams and no achievements beyond your reach, and to grow into compassionate, committed women who will help build that world. And I want every child to have the same chances to learn and dream and grow and thrive that you girls have. That's why I've taken our family on this great adventure. 

I am so proud of both of you. I love you more than you can ever know. And I am grateful every day for your patience, poise, grace and humor as we prepare to start our new life together in the White House. 

Love, 

Dad 

Questions 

1. When was Barack Obama elected as the President of the United States?

2. What are your reactions to Obama’s win?

3. List all the Presidents of the United States.

4. Who was the candidate whom Obama defeated?

5. Obama is a Republican or Democrat?

6. What was the most historic moment in the election, according to you?

7. Critically analyze the open letter that Obama wrote to his daughters. What do you feel after reading the letter?

The Battle For Nomination

The nomination was one of the many steps that Barack Obama took towards the fulfillment of the dream of Martin Luther King. But it was the first step that was noticed and cheered for.

The nomination was not easy; Barack a first time senator pitted himself against stalwarts like Hillary Clinton, Joe Biden, Chris Dodd, John Edwards, Dennis Kucinich, Bill Richardson, Tom Vilsack and Mike Gravel.

The Process of nomination

The two major political parties in the United States select their presidential candidates through a process of primary elections. In these primaries, the voters do not directly select presidential nominees instead; they choose delegates from their respective states who will attend a national party convention to nominate a presidential candidate for their party. 

There are significant differences in the way national convention delegates are chosen from state to state. Many states even have different mechanisms for choosing Democratic and Republican delegates. Some states award delegates to candidates on a "winner-take-all" basis, meaning that the candidate with the most votes in a state is awarded all of that state's delegates. Other states award delegates in proportion to each candidate's share of the primary vote. Another important distinction is whether delegates are "pledged" or "unpledged" to vote for the same candidate the voters in his or her state or district supported in the primary. These rules also vary widely by state. 

The battle for nomination as the Presidential candidate ultimately pitted Obama against the most serious contender - Hillary Clinton.

Hillary Clinton, the wife of the former President of the United States, and a seasoned politician herself. But Obama’s win in the Iowa caucuses with 38% of the vote, over Edwards, 30%, and Clinton, 29% created a buzz amongst the voters. During his campaign he defined change as his theme.
Hillary Clinton finished third in the countdown. This surprising ‘defeat’ made many re-look Hillary as a natural choice. This stunning victory put Barack in the driver’s seat and after that few suspected that he would not win the primaries. 

"We came together as Democrats, as Republicans and independents, to stand up and say we are one nation, we are one people and our time for change has come," he said that night in Des Moines. 

Barack's rallying cry "Yes, we can" created a wave of Obama-mania across the United States, and a new hope surged through the nation. But the doubt still remained as Hillary Clinton proved to be a worthy opponent. The former first lady countered Obama's Iowa victory with an upset five days later in New Hampshire and set the stage for a campaign marathon as competitive as any in the last generation. 

The campaign grew more competitive and the divisive lines separated the candidates on either side.  On 5 January 2008, in a televised debate, Edwards backed Barack against Clinton. Edwards said that Clinton could not bring about change that he and Barack envisioned:

 Any time you speak out powerfully for change, the forces for status quo attack.

 Clinton passionately retorted:

Making change is not about what you believe; it's not about a speech you make. It's about working hard. I'm not just running on a promise for change. I'm running on 35 years of change. What we need is somebody who can deliver change. We don't need to be raising false hopes.

This statement and the later emotional outburst in response to a friendly question made voters move towards Clinton. Her campaign as an experienced candidate, a former first lady and second-term senator ready to take over on Day One made her win a surprising three-percent victory over Obama in the popular vote; and they tied in the delegate count. 

Richardson withdrew from the race on 10 January 2008.

As other rivals quickly fell away in winter, the strongest black candidate in history and the strongest female White House contender traded victories on Super Tuesday (the series of primaries and caucuses across 21 states and American Samoa) that once seemed likely to settle the nomination.

The battle now turned against Barack, as Clinton won the popular vote in the Nevada caucuses eleven days later, despite the endorsement of the influential Culinary Workers Union for Barack. Barack won huge support in the rural areas and managed to beat Clinton in the delegate count. 

Edwards's support collapsed in Nevada, as voters coalesced around the two apparent frontrunners. Dennis Kucinich withdrew from the race and Edwards lost his base in Nevada as Barack and Clinton grabbed the headlines and the voter’s interest. 

In the South Carolina primary, a large proportion of African-Americans in the Democratic electorate gathered in support of Barack. Behind in the state polls, Hillary Clinton left to campaign in some Super Tuesday states, while her husband, former president Bill Clinton, stayed in South Carolina and engaged in a series of exchanges with Obama. But Clinton had a problem that Obama exploited, and he scored a coup. 

Obama won by a more than two-to-one margin over Clinton, gaining 55% of the vote to her 27% and Edwards's 18%. The day of the primary, Bill Clinton tried to marginalize Obama by implying that he was "the black candidate”, this remark resulted in a negative response from the public. 

 John Edwards suspended his candidacy on 30 January 2008. 

As the battle reached its final stage, neither Clinton nor Obama had a clear advantage heading into the Super Tuesday primaries, with 23 states and territories and 1,681 delegates at stake. In order to secure the nomination at the convention, a candidate needed to receive at least 2,117 votes from delegates (a simple majority of the 4,233 delegate votes).

 Barack Obama surpassed that total on June 3, 2008, becoming the apparent Democratic nominee. His last remaining opponent, Senator Hillary Rodham Clinton, conceded the nomination four days later. Obama was officially recognized as the Democratic Party nominee at the August convention.

Questions

1. Who were the other Democrats in the race for President?

2. Describe the process for nomination for the Presidential candidate.

3. Who was the main rival of Obama? 

4. How do you view Clinton as a rival to Obama?

5. Who won the Iowa caucuses? What was the result of this victory?

6. What was the theme of Obama’s campaign? Do you feel that Obama will justify his campaign promises?

7. What was named Super Tuesday?

8. What happened on Super Tuesday?

9. What do you think of Bill Clinton’s statement that Obama was ‘the black candidate’? What do you think he is implying through this statement?

10. When did Obama finally win the nomination?

Flash backs-Tales of my father

Barack Husein Obama was born in Hawaii on 4th August 1961 to Barack Obama Sr. and Ann Dunham

His father was a Kenyan of the Luo tribe. His family, though poor, was a prominent family in his tribe. His grandfather was a well respected village elder and a medicine man reputed to have healing powers. The main occupation of the Luo tribe is cattle rearing and as a child, Obama Sr. used to graze cattle. His innate aptitude for learning and education was noticed in the local British colonial school he attended as a child and he gained a scholarship to study in Nairobi. His move to Nairobi coincided with the independence of Kenya. This gave him the opportunity to become a part of the first wave of Kenyan students sent to American universities in order to learn Western techniques and ideas. The government sponsored these students to work towards the education and development of Kenyan society.

In America, Obama Sr. arrived at the University of Hawaii in 1959. He was the university’s first black student and one of the founding members of the International Students’ Association. His desire to excel and undistracted diligence made him top the class in econometrics. It was at the university that he met Ann Dunham.

Ann’s parents Stanley and Madelyn were originally from Kansas, though Ann often stated that one of her ancestors was a full-blooded Cherokee. In his book ‘Dreams From My Father’, Barack Obama describes them as liberal, but admits their reason to approve of the marriage between his parents is still incomprehensible to him.

The fact that my grandparents had answered ‘yes’ to this question, no matter how grudgingly, remains an enduring puzzle to me. There was nothing in their background to predict such a response, no New England transcendentalists or wild-eyed socialists in their family tree.

One of the main reasons for the incomprehensibility to him was that his grandparents lived at a time when anti-miscegenation laws were in existence along with the social taboo associated with inter-racial marriages; and Stanley and Madelyn Dunham though not bigoted conservatives were not liberal activists either.

Anti-Miscegenation laws

Anti-miscegenation laws were implemented to ban interracial marriages and in some cases interracial sex between whites and people of other races. 

The laws were implemented and enforced in America from the late seventeenth century onwards. These laws prohibited the marriages of whites with people from other races. Anti-miscegenation laws existed even though the laws abolishing slavery were passed in 1865 and an anti-miscegenation Amendment was proposed in 1871. The constitutionality of anti-miscegenation laws was upheld by the U.S. Supreme Court in the 1883 case Pace v. Alabama. The Supreme Court ruled that the Alabama anti-miscegenation statute did not violate the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The state of Pennsylvania was the only state in the union that repealed the anti-miscegenation laws in 1780. 

Though the states of Arkansas, Florida, Louisiana, Texas, South Carolina and Alabama legalized interracial marriage for some years during the Reconstruction period (1865-1877), yet the move was short-lived. During Redemption (1877- 1908), when conservative white Democrats assumed power in the South, the anti-miscegenation laws were again implemented along with Jim Crow rules.
 From 1913-1948, thirty American states subscribed to anti-miscegenation laws. 

Another strategy used to discourage marriage between white and black Americans was the propagation of the one-drop theory that labeled a person with any known African ancestry, howsoever remote, as black. 
The law was finally laid to rest in 1967 when the United States Supreme Court made a landmark ruling in Loving Vs Virginia deeming the anti-miscegenation laws as a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and thus unconstitutional. This ruling forced the 16 states that still followed anti-miscegenation rules to change their stand on the issue.

Barack states an incident involving his mother as a young child, barely in her teens. The family had moved to Texas and the hard-lined issues of race met their liberal dealings. One hot and dusty Texan day, when Madelyn arrived home, she saw a group of angry-faced children jeering and shouting ‘nigger lover’ outside her house. As she went in she saw Ann and another young, black girl sitting on the grass, shaking with fear and pretending to read. On complaining to the parents of the children the Dunhams were met with unapologetic views asking them to toe the line of the conservative society and not mingle with ‘blacks’.

Ann’s parents Madelyn and Stanley grew up in small towns in Kansas, less than twenty miles away from each other. Stanley was the ‘wild kid’ of the family who managed to be in every scrape and was asked to leave school, finally, for punching the headmaster. Due to his wild ways Madelyn’s parents didn’t approve of Stanley and so they eloped. After a stint in the army, after the bombing of Pearl Harbor, where he fortunately saw no action, he returned home and worked as a furniture salesman. In contrast, Barack’s grandmother Madelyn (affectionately called Toots) was the more serious one, she had no benefit of college education, but with a family to care for; she worked in restaurants and as a secretary and finally became the vice-president of a local bank. Madelyn was the proverbial ‘strong woman’ and the foil to Stanley’s more gregarious and impetuous personality. 

Ann grew up in the middle-class white environs of her parents, but she also grew up learning to respect and care for other people regardless of their differences. One of the extravagances of her youth led her to watch Black Orpheus, a groundbreaking movie of her time. It was the story of the ill-fated lovers Orpheus and Eurydice of Greek mythology set in Rio during the Carnival. Its cast of black and Brazilian actors wearing colorful costumes captivated Ann. In later years when Barack saw his mother looking wistfully at the screen when the movie played, he thought he saw what drove her to marry his father - the promise of another life that was very different from the one that she had known.

Stanley and Madelyn grudgingly accepted their daughter’s decision to marry Barack Obama Sr. and came to accept, love, and admire him for his wit and intelligence, though they were still apprehensive about Kenya when they heard of the Mau-Mau rebellion. The resistance to the marriage, though, was not one-sided. Hussein Onyango Obama, the paternal grandfather, also sent a strongly worded letter to the Dunhams opposing the marriage as he didn’t want the Obama blood sullied by a white woman; he threatened to have Obama Sr.’s visa revoked. There was another problem too: Obama Sr.’s first wife stayed in the village and as they were married according to village rites, he couldn’t divorce her. 

On finishing his studies at the University of Hawaii, he received two scholarships - one from the New School in New York and the other from Harvard. The New School agreed to pay for room and board, a job on campus, enough to support all three of them; while Harvard just agreed to pay tuition. Obama Sr. chose to go to Harvard as it offered superior education facilities.

The separation turned to divorce when Obama Sr. left for Kenya in 1964. The termination of the marriage, though, did not end the feelings of love and respect between the Dunhams and Obama Sr. In his autobiography, Barack describes the stories his grandparents and mother told him, explaining his father, his beliefs and impressive inner strength to him. As a child these stories were the only reality of his absentee father and they became minor legends in his family, polished with frequent re-telling and created a comfort zone that he would ease into the dreams of his father.

The one story that left a deep impact on Barack dealt with ‘racism’ and his father’s attitude towards it. One night, his grandfather, Obama Sr. and some friends visited a local bar, as they usually did. The atmosphere was relaxed and festive. Suddenly one white man got up and complained to the bartender in a loud voice that he did not want to drink next to a ‘nigger’. As the bar went quiet and tense, waiting for Obama Sr.’s reaction, he smiled and walked up to him and proceeded to explain in a calm voice the dangers of Bigotry, the American Dream, and the Universal Rights of Man. The outcome was amazing. The ‘racist’ felt sorry for his remarks, paid for the drinks and even paid Obama Sr’s rent for the month.

As usual, this story like all the others, gained moralistic overtones with time, signifying for him the importance of confidence.

Through such stories, Barack built an image of his father, but though these stories lessened the pain for a child, as he grew older, Barack needed more than these stories in order to fully understand his father.

Questions

1. When and where was Barack Obama born?

2. What were his parents’ names?

3. Describe his father. How would you characterize Obama Sr.?

4. How did his father meet his mother?

5. Did his maternal and paternal grandparents agree to the marriage? State the reasons why they were unhappy to the union.

6. What is miscegenation? 

7. Research the Pace Vs Alabama case and enumerate its main points.

8. What was the one-drop theory?

9. Describe Obama’s maternal grandparents and their attitude to racism.

10. What incident in Ann’s childhood showed her attitude towards racism?

11. What do you make of Madelyn response to that incident? What does it tell you about the Dunhams?

12. Describe Ann and her idealism.

13. Why did Ann divorce Obama Sr.?

14. How did separation from his father affect Barack’s childhood?

15. How would you describe Obama Sr. on the basis of the incident at the bar?

Flashback - Indonesia

When he was six years old, his mother married an Indonesian student - Lolo Soetoro. Soon after their marriage, Lolo had to return to Indonesia due to a change in the political climate. The Indonesian president Sukarno had been deposed in a bloodless coup and the new régime had revoked the passports of all the students studying abroad. Barrack and his mother, later traveled to Indonesia to live with Lolo. 

They lived in the suburbs, in an area that was still under development, and surrounded by villages. The house was modest but Lolo had kept some surprises for Barack. There was an ape called Tata and crocodiles as pets. The addition of such exotic pets made the new home seem magical.

Indonesia at that time was a country experimenting with its new-found independence. It was poor and underdeveloped with electricity non-existent in villages and infrequent in cities. Dusty, humid, and totally tropical, it was as removed from Hawaii as the North Pole.

Indonesia introduced Barack to a whole new world where the games were not baseball and soccer but flying kites and catching crickets; where snakes, grasshoppers and dogs were culinary delights; where the vagaries of the rains decided the fate of farmers; where superstition and tradition were the basis of life, and where poverty was so widespread that it did not warrant any compassion. 

The exotic and the painful formed a part of the everyday experiences for Barack. He saw people disfigured by war and violence; witnessed the helpless and dazed looks on the farmers faces when the rain played havoc with their lives; glimpsed the grasp of superstition on the faces of his school friends when they described illnesses as evil spirits. As he wrote to Madelyn and Stanley, he masked the painful and saddening encounters with tales of the exotic and described his childhood pranks instead of the poverty that he encountered. 

In Lolo, Barack found a guide and advisor. Lolo treated Barack with understanding and respect. He dispensed advice when needed that let Barack know that Lolo was there for him, but never imposed on him. One day Barack returned home with a telltale lump on his head, this started their daily boxing sessions where Lolo taught young Barack the art of defense. These daily sessions forged a bond between the two. This was the one of the few times when Lolo talked and explained ideas and images to Barack; for the return to Indonesia had been especially hard on Lolo and his good natured calm hid the pain he had encountered. He had to leave his studies mid-way as the passports of all the students studying abroad had been revoked by the government 

The Lolo that Barack and Ann now met was a far cry from the one they had known in Hawaii - the good natured calm was still there but it just emphasized the silence. Lolo now barely talked, words were not to be trusted, it seemed. The silence was especially hard on Ann and as she tried to understand it, she saw the pain inflicted on the land and its people. She became more aware of the vulnerability of the powerless and how rules are bent to serve the powerful.  Later she learnt how Lolo had survived upon his return to Indonesia. As his plane landed at the airport, Lolo was taken away by army officials before his family could meet him, questioned and conscripted into the army, and sent to the inhospitable jungles of New Guinea. Somehow, he survived the hostile environment but not before it had etched its scars on him. The silence became his strength and by refusing to show emotions through words, he tried to stop himself from giving in to his feelings and fears. 

For Ann, Indonesia was a revelation. She had come in innocence expecting a country working towards redevelopment; she was ready for the pains of dysentery, lack of electricity and modern conveniences and ready to work for progress. Later, she realized the hidden pain of the people. Indonesia had been a colony for too long, first under the Dutch and then under the Japanese. The people had learnt to live under power and now that Indonesia had gained independence the power was wielded by the rich over the poor. Innocent people were pulled in this fight for power after independence. Sukarno became the first president of Indonesia, but his loyalties lay towards the communists, and as his speeches carried more endorsements of communist ideologies, the US became worried. Sukarno was deposed in a bloodless coup and Suharto became the new president. Overnight, loyalties were changed; people with a hint of support for Sukarno were rounded up and killed. The death toll rose to thousands, but the people continued working as before. There were no protests and no campaigns; the play of power was complete. As Ann saw this, she became more interested in helping the powerless. But Lolo, who had suffered, decided to hide his sorrow and work with the people in power in order to make a better life for himself and his family. In trying to explain his views to Ann, he had said that ‘guilt is a luxury only foreigners can afford’.  Lolo made peace with his suffering and allied with the powers that were, to provide for his family’s well-being. The years that Barack lived in Indonesia, they moved to a better neighborhood and acquired the trappings of modern conveniences and luxuries like a car, a television set, and a hi-fi system. 

This difference of attitude and acceptance affected their marriage and Ann and Lolo separated in 1972 and divorced in 1980.

It was in Indonesia, at the U.S. embassy, that Barack read an article that shook his world. It induced fear in young Obama. The article was about a man who had undergone chemical treatment to lighten his skin color; the result was frightening to a young child. The man’s complexion was irreversibly damaged- 

‘They had a strange, unnatural pallor, as if blood had been drawn from the flesh.’
The article went on to explain that there were thousands of ‘black’ Americans who underwent the procedure in order to pass off as white and live a life they aspired for. 

This article introduced him to the idea that ‘white’ was the desired color and ‘black’ was considered inferior - a shattering revelation for anybody, most of all a child. He started noticing evidence pointing to the inherent racism in the system; when he watched American TV shows he saw that the black man was either not present or treated differently from the others; the shopping catalogues carried no pictures of black men. These evidences he kept to himself but realized that there were some things his mother was guarding him against.

As Ann witnessed the differences between the powerful and powerless, she became more concerned about Barack’s education. While earlier she had been content to see him assimilating the Indonesian culture and language, now her focus was on making him an American and providing him more opportunities. Most of the westerners attended the international school, but the fees was too high for Ann and Lolo, so she started a strict routine of waking him up at 4 am to study from his US correspondence course. After three hours of study he left for school. The strict schedule made him drowsy and irritable, but Ann persevered. She also tried to educate him on the virtues of honesty and fairness. She tried hard to inculcate the American values of straight-talk and independence and for this she brought up the distant authoritative figure of his father. She told him the story of his father’s childhood; of his hard life in a poor country, his integrity and honesty in the face of all odds. She described to Barack the principled life his father had led leading him to believe in the strong moral strength of his father and encouraging him to follow the same path by saying - ‘it is in your genes’. She also made him listen to the speeches of Mahalia Jackson, Dr. King and told him stories of the Civil Rights Movement and of African-Americans who lived through excruciating poverty and faced racism yet survived to become professionals in their own right. Ann made him believe in the power of the black man to survive and carve his own identity. 

Questions

1. How old was Barack when Ann married again?

2. What was his step-father’s name and nationality?

3. How did Indonesia seem to young Barack?

4. Describe the life of young Barack in Indonesia.

5. How do you think the beauty and poverty of Indonesia influenced Barack in later life?

6. As Barack describes his life in Indonesia, what characteristics do you think he displays?

7. How did Lolo treat Barack?

8. Why had Lolo changed on his return to Indonesia? How did it affect his relationship with Ann?

9. Have you seen power being misused for selfish gains? Describe the events and your reactions.

10. What was Ann’s reaction to Indonesia? What does it tell you about Ann?

11. When did Ann divorce Lolo? Why?

12. Why was Barack horrified on reading the article?

13. How did the article change Barack’s outlook?

14. Why did Ann insist on Barack’s education? What were her fears? Were they justified?

15. Describe Barack’s study routine.

16. How else did Ann try and introduce America and the American values to Barack?

17. Who were the African-Americans that Ann looked up to? 

18. Who do you think of as a leader? What qualities should a leader have? Describe your favorite leader.

19. Why did Lolo leave soon after for Indonesia? Describe the political events in Indonesia.

20. How different was Indonesia from Hawaii?

21. What qualities did Barack develop as a result of his life in a different culture? Do you think it helped Barack in the long run?

22. Imagine that you are living in Indonesia, like Barack. Write a letter to your friends in America detailing your experiences in the new country.

23. Why do you think Barack wrote only about the good and interesting events to Madelyn and Stanley? What does it tell you about his character?

24. Write an essay mentioning how everyone (Barack included) changed in Indonesia. Was this change for the good or bad? Have you ever witnessed people changing due to the circumstances or events around them? Discuss.

25. Do you think education defines a person or is it vice versa?

Flashback - the return of the native

The end of the correspondence course made Ann ponder on different means to educate Barack, the American way. The concerns for his safety also made her want to send him back to America. One evening Barack came back home to find his mother distraught with worry as he was very late. He had slipped on a mudslide and a deep gash marked his arm from his elbow to the wrist. What had shaken her though was that Lolo treated it like a normal wound and was not interested in rushing the boy to the hospital. She pleaded and badgered a neighbor into taking them to the hospital, and there the sorry state of the hospital appalled her. While she waited for the arm to be stitched, she was filled with dread that life did not count for much in that country.

So in 1971, Barack left for Hawaii to study at the prestigious Punahou Academy and to live with his grandparents. Barack’s grandparents, Stanley and Madelyn, lived in a rented, two bedroom apartment in a high-rise on Beretania Street. As he waited for the school to start, he spent his time with Stanley. Stanley was now an insurance agent; he still had big dreams but had stopped believing in them.

The Punahou Academy was a missionary school started in 1841 and by the time of Barack’s arrival, had become one of the elite schools of the island. The school’s infrastructure bragged of a campus several acres wide, with tennis courts, swimming pools and photo studios - this was far removed from the public school he had attended in Djakarta. Barack was restless to join, but when the first day arrived, it brought along attitudes he had never encountered before. In school he was treated with curiosity because of his name, skin color, the old-fashioned clothes he wore, the fact that he didn’t know skate-boarding, and that his father was Kenyan. The heartlessness of children is harder to bear because they do not know how they hurt. At the Academy, there was another black girl called Coretta in Barack’s class, she also had very few friends, but she and Barack avoided each other until one day, when they were both alone in the playground. Then they played and ran around enjoying their camaraderie when suddenly a group of children spied them and started taunting Barack as Coretta’s boyfriend. Trying to deny their taunts, Barack shoved Coretta and shouted that he was not her boyfriend. From that day onwards, Barack became quieter in class and stuck more to his grandparents after school.

His new routine revolved around his grandparents. After leaving school he walked straight home or sometimes bought new comics on the way. At home he watched cartoons and sitcom reruns till 4.30 pm and then he would drive down with his grandfather to fetch Madelyn from her bank. By dinner, Barack would finish his homework and then he would sit in front of the television with Stanley and fight over the TV control. By 10 pm he would fall asleep. This way he passed most of his days, isolating himself from his classmates and trying to save himself from further repeats of the Corretta incident.

Questions

1. Why did Ann decide to send Barack back to Hawaii?

2. What event made her feel that life was not very safe in Indonesia?

3. When did Barack leave Indonesia?

4. What was his new school’s name?

5. How was his new school different from the earlier one? Was he excited?

6. How was his life in his new school?

7. What happened when he played with Coretta? 

8. Why did Barack shove Coretta? 

9. What was his school routine?

10. Why did he spend more time with his grandparents? 

Flashback - Father and son

Things would have continued in the same even keel, if his father hadn’t decided to meet him. Obama Sr.’s visit was coinciding with Ann’s visit during New Year.  When Ann arrived, she tried to fill him up on information on Kenya and its history. Barack was quite apprehensive about meeting his father and introducing him to his friends. The information he read up on the Luo tribe did nothing to alleviate his apprehensions. The book stated that the Luo tribe was one of the numerous tribes that originated along the White Nile, in southern Egypt but what really got Barack down was that the Luo were described as cattle-herders whose traditional costume was a leather thong across the crotch. This extremely unexciting and banal description filled him with the greatest misgivings and he hoped none of his classmates read it.

Finally, it was the day of his father’s arrival. Barack was left off early and he trudged unwillingly home, dreading the month that would follow. The first impression that he had of his father was that he was too thin to have the strength to lift anyone. He walked with a slight limp and his bony knees clearly marked his trousers while he sat. He was a tall, spare man with eyes that were perpetually yellow, and he sported a sparse goatee. The first gifts that he gave Barack were three wooden figurines depicting Africa - a lion, an elephant and a tribal man beating a drum.

The first meeting was too strained and Barack held back as his father spoke to him, while his mother got emotional on seeing them together.

The month went by in a whirl, they went for drives and revisited the places that had occupied personal memories in their past like the hospital where Barack was born, but the loneliness and sorrow remained unspoken and the questions remained unasked.

Barack’s apprehension increased manifold when he learnt that his father had been asked by his class teacher to come and speak to the students on Kenya. He imagined his classmates learning about the mud huts the tribals stayed in, the basic food they ate, and the various tribal customs - the idea was horrifying.

As the much feared day arrived, Barack could find no excuse to evade and he tried not to show any emotion on his face when his father was introduced to the students. But as his father started speaking he became as mesmerized as the rest of his classmates in listening to the story of Kenya - its beauty and tribal laws that held the community together, the debilitating effects of colonization, and the dream of independence and development that ignited the whole country to strive towards progress. The speech had an astounding effect on his classmates; they were not only impressed by his father’s knowledge, but also by his personality.

The force of Obama Sr.’s personality also affected all the family members. It injected hope and vigor into everybody. Stanley became more purposeful and thoughtful and Madelyn got excited talking about politics and finance. As Barack watched his family changing, he felt he was seeing them as they once were - before the realities and exigencies of life sucked the hope and belief out of them. 

But the change did not last long as the month long stay progressed. Old grievances and new irritants surfaced and it all exploded one day with a showdown that started with Obama Sr. berating Barack about the amount of time he watched television. Madelyn and Stanley did not take kindly to this and argued that Christmas holidays were the time he watched the favorite Christmas movies. The argument then moved on to Obama Sr.’s irresponsibility in leaving the child alone and fatherless, while he countered it with a tirade against the lax treatment of Barack that was spoiling him. 

The month was a period of great emotional turmoil and incidents like the one above highlighted the fragile balance that was maintained and sometimes broken. It must have been difficult not only for Barack but also for his grandparents and Ann to share the same space with his father as before, because although they still respected him,  the unsaid accusations for the time spent in his absence made the return of old feelings a very distant prospect.

Barack was too young to explain his loneliness to his father and the period of one month was too short for trust and love to develop between them. But what that month did offer Barack was the real image of his father, the one that he could lay claim to having seen for himself, as opposed to the earlier images that he borrowed from the memories of others. This visit gifted him a horde of images of his father - standing in front of the Christmas tree showing off the gifts they received from each other (the orange basketball for Barack and the new tie for Obama Sr.), attending a Dave Burbeck concert together, sitting together each engrossed in his own book, feeling his father’s grip on his shoulders tighten as he introduced him to old friends. These images and sensations formed a part of Barack’s private album of his father and allowed him to form his own opinions of Obama Sr. 

The most joyful image that that month provided Barack was when, before leaving, his father unearthed recordings of African music and spent the afternoon showing him how to dance to the African beats - the image of his father swaying to the rhythm, his arms swinging, his body moving in time to the music, and of Barack starting awkwardly and then joining in.

Soon it was time to bid goodbye and though they would correspond regularly for some years, they would never meet again.

The following summer, Barack made good use of his father’s gift and started training in basketball. Basketball provided him the easy friendship and camaraderie that he wanted and the court was the one place where skin color and his social status didn’t matter. So while he practiced his moves in the playground near his home, his grandmother watched over him from their tenth storey apartment. 

Ann had divorced Lolo and come back to Hawaii. She had enrolled for a Master’s degree in Anthropology. The three of them, Ann, Barack, and Maya, (Ann’s child through Lolo) stayed together in a small apartment near the Punahua Academy. Ann’s study grants supported them during this period. The money barely covered their expenses and there was little left for luxuries. The feelings of inadequacy due to social status used to affect Barack but Ann, forever practical and focused, brushed those feelings aside. Sometimes when he got his friends over, they would comment on the lack of choices in food or the sparsely furnished rooms. Ann would then take Barack aside and remind him that she was a single mother who was still studying and as such the luxuries of life were not affordable. Barack understood and helped out whenever he could by doing laundry, fetching groceries and looking after Maya, but when after completing her masters, Ann suggested he move back to Indonesia with her and Maya, Barack refused. He didn’t want to be uprooted again. He preferred staying on in Hawaii. So Barack stayed with Stanley and Madelyn again, while Ann left for Indonesia with Maya.

Questions

1. Which tribe did Barack’s father belong to?

2. Write a description of the Luos.

3. How did Barack feel about his fathers visit? Why? 

4. How did his first meeting with his father go?

5. Describe Barack Sr.

6. What were the first gifts that his father gave him?

7. How did their relationship progress? 

8. Why do you think they were not able to talk to each other?

9. Why was Barack dismayed to learn that his father was invited to talk to his class?

10. How did Barack’s classmates react to his father?

11. How did his father’s visit affect the other family members?

12. Why was his father angry? What happened later?

13. How did Barack remember the time in later life?

14. Did his father match up to his image of him?

15. How did Barack spend the month with his father?

16. Did Barack ever meet his father again?

17. How did his father’s gifts help him?

18. What was the name of Ann’s other child?

19. Describe Ann’s, Barack’s and Maya’s life together in Hawaii.

20. How did Barack respond to the change in circumstances? What was Ann’s response? 

21. Why did Barack refuse to go back to Indonesia? 

22. On the basis of this chapter, describe Ann’s characteristics.

23. Do you think Ann was right to leave Barack and go back to Indonesia?

24. If Barack had joined his mother in Indonesia, how do you think it would have affected him?

25. Imagine that you are Barack Sr. Write a letter to Barack from Kenya, mentioning your visit and your hopes for him.

Flashback - the growing pains

The initial fears of not knowing where he belonged intensified as Barack grew older and understood the effect of race and skin color on social standing and popularity. Another factor that increased his confusion about identity was that he did not have any ‘black’ role model in his family. His father was too far away and the difference of continents could not be expressed in words. The letters from his father still arrived and though Barack responded to them immediately, he could not express his own confusion and need for guidance. On the other hand, Stanley and Madelyn allowed him to stay with them but made one rule for his stay - that he keep his problems to himself. Thus, he turned inwards looking for answers.

Through basketball, he reached out to new friends and though he tried to discuss his problems with them, he realized that the differences were too complicated to be explained. With his ‘black’ friends he discussed the issues of race, but while his friends freely generalized the ‘whites’ in their attitudes and ways, Barack would not know what to say because the images of his mother and grandparents would come before him. Though he realized that the term ‘nigger’ did not specify individuals, it seemed a term used by bigots, extremists, and racists. The anger and confusion he felt at being treated differently could not be generalized with the rest, because he knew that all ‘white folk’ were not bad nor would ‘all white folk try to do you in’. But at times, the attitudes just left him speechless.

Once when his basketball team lost the match to another team, he heard the assistant coach mumbling that they shouldn’t have lost the game to a bunch of niggers. The anger just boiled up inside Barack on hearing that insensitive remark and he shouted at him to shut up.  The coach’s response that ‘blacks and niggers are different’ stunned him. He responded with an apt response that ‘there are white folks and ignorant *m…. like you’. This incident was one of the many that baffled and mystified him. Like the time a lady in his apartment block refused to apologize for raising an alarm that he was following her when he entered the lift, or when a senior joked with him not to touch the notice as his black hands would soil the paper. These responses made him feel that the attitudes were so well entrenched in people’s beliefs that ‘white folk’ did not even realize that they were being mean.

Along with the attitudes were the responses he got that made Barack feel that he had been pegged in the hole named ‘black’. The time when his white basketball teammate called out a greeting, unconsciously copying the way blacks did it by saying, ‘Hey mah man! Wha’s happenin?’  Barack didn’t answer. He didn’t understand why he couldn’t be treated normally and not be discriminated against, positively or negatively, according to color. 

Once when he invited his white friends to come along with him to a black party, they agreed, but he saw that they were behaving awkwardly, huddling together, smiling a lot, dancing self-consciously and feeling totally out of place. Later they admitted to him that it made them realize how weird he must feel at school parties being the only black guy. The admission did not make Barack feel good, the anger burned inside him again. The question again smote him - how much difference does color make in a relationship?

One of the most painful episodes of his life occurred when he heard an argument between Madelyn and Stanley. Madelyn told him that Stanley was reluctant to drop her to the bank. She usually took the bus, but was now afraid since the previous day; someone had asked her for money and had been very aggressive. Madelyn said she was afraid and Barack offered to drop her, but Stanley told him the real reason - the man was black and that had frightened Madelyn even more. This remark unsettled Barack. 

These encounters left him groping for answers, and he realized that the world could be divided into white and non-white. The white men held all the power and they could decide whether they wanted to be good or bad, to praise or to humiliate. The others had no powers; they could only accept the treatment meted out to them. They played in the white man’s court according to the white man’s rules. If they decided to treat you well, it was not because of anything you did, but because he liked and knew the way you (the non-whites) spoke, dressed, read, and your ambitions and beliefs coincided with his plans for you. If you revolted against the treatment, displayed your anger and lashed out against your underprivileged existence, you were labeled a problem, a ‘nigger’. Barack thought even the hallmarks of black culture - the humor, the songs, the speech - seemed chosen by the whites to demarcate the blacks and keep the divide. They had nothing - no power, no voice, no opinion and no ambition beyond that what was granted.

It was during this time that he started reading up on Baldwin, Ellison, Hughes, Wright, and DuBois. Every night he wrestled with his demons and tried to look for some sign, some ray of hope in their writings, but each book, each document described to him the same anguish, helplessness and self-doubt that he felt. The intelligence and reasoning that these great men offered could not lessen these feelings. He found that even DuBois, Baldwin, and Langston sought to escape and withdraw from the segregated world by leaving for Africa, Europe or Harlem, but that flight would not bring an end to the anguish; and it left each man embittered and disillusioned. The books talked of the ‘blue-eyed devils and apocalypse’. In Malcolm X he found elements of what he was looking for. His insistence on self-creation and respect touched Barack and he agreed with some of the sentiments (not the religious ones) intoned by Malcolm X. But one line in the autobiography of Malcolm X shook him up, the wish that Malcolm X expressed to expunge the drop of white blood in his body, residing due to an act of violence. Barack realized that in his quest for self-respect, he too would be faced questions regarding his white blood, and made him wonder if he might one day have to sever ties with his mother and grandparents. The option seemed quite devastating, but Malcolm X further reiterated a hope that some day in the distant future, whites and blacks might live alongside each other as brothers.

The rampant confusion and need for direction within Barack led him to different paths during his last years of high school. He stopped corresponding with his father as he realized there was nothing that he could write and ask him, since their worlds were too far apart. He also packed up his books, tried out drugs, and hung around with people who knew no better. Barack remembers that time as his major moral failure, but back then it became a means of escape from the harsh realities of racism. The drugs stopped him from thinking, they kept the pain out and they blurred the distinction between black and white. It didn’t matter if one smoked in the spanking new car of your white classmate or in some dimly-lit dorm with your black brothers - there was no distinction of race. He started feeling that luck made the world go round – and that hard work, determination, attitude, etc. counted for nothing. Rather it was your luck that shaped your destiny and if you were not lucky, then there was nothing you could do that would change it.

When Ann heard of the arrest of one of his friends for the possession of drugs, she got worried and tried to question Barack on his dreams and ambitions. Barack used the tactic that had been successful with others - of looking reassuring and mouthing platitudes. It did not work on her and she told him that the way he was heading, he would turn out to be nothing more than a waster if he didn’t change his ways. The conversation made him feel guilty, and later Ann was unapologetic about it. According to her, guilt was a highly underrated motivator. In the end, he did graduate and join the Occidental College, LA.

Questions

1. Why did Barack feel he didn’t belong anywhere?

2. Do you think Stanley and Madelyn’s rule ‘to keep his problems to himself’ made him feel more insecure?

3. How did growing up with white grandparents affect Barack?

4. Why did Barack feel uncomfortable at times with his friends?

5. Describe the racist incidents in Barack’s youth.

6. Describe Barack’s feelings as he grew older.

7. Why did his white friend’s reaction at the party infuriate him? 

8. How did Madelyn hurt him? Do you justify Madelyn’s behavior?

9. Do you think race affects relationships?

10. Did the writings of African-American leaders help him?

11. Write a short summary on the ideas propounded by DuBois and Baldwin.

12. Which African-American leader affected Barack the most?

13. Who is the African-American leader you look up to? Why?

14. Which idea of Malcolm X shook him up? Why?

15. How did Barack deal with the growing questions in his life?

16. How did Ann use guilt to get him on the right track?

17. Do you think guilt helps people succeed and even fail? Explain and discuss.

Flashback - the growth of ideas

Amongst his grandfather’s many friends was Frank, an old black poet. It was to him that Barack went sometimes, when he wanted answers. Frank was a contemporary of Richard White and Langston Hughes and was celebrated in an anthology of black poetry. 

It was to him that Barack had gone when Madelyn had expressed her fears of the black man who had accosted her for money. Frank told him that Stanley and he grew up in the same town at the time when segregation was rampant. It was a time when if a black man and white man walked the same street, the black man would have to step off the sidewalk. Stanley didn’t like to talk of that time and remembered his black help as ‘a regular part of the family’. Frank said that he had not forgotten and that is why Stanley could come to Frank’s house, drink and sleep there but Frank was unable to do the same at Stanley’s house. He tried to tell Barack that Madelyn was right to be scared; she understood the black people’s reason for anger.

It was Frank again, who put things in perspective for him. He asked Barack what he planned to do after college. When Barack answered that he didn’t know, Frank told him that he needed to be vigilant and to know the real price of admission. 

“Understand something, boy. You’re not going to college to get educated. You’re going there to get trained. They’ll train you to want what you don’t need. They’ll train you to manipulate words so they don’t mean anything anymore. They’ll train you to forget what it is that you already know. They’ll train you so good, you’ll start believing what they tell you about equal opportunity and the American way and all that shit. They’ll give you a corner office and invite you to fancy dinners, and tell you you’re a credit to your race. Until you want to actually start running things, and then they’ll yank on your chain and let you know that you may be a well-trained, well-paid nigger, but you’re a nigger just the same.”

At Occidental, Barack met more black men and realized that for most of them, no matter how they complained, revolt was not an option. Most of them were tired of thinking about the issues of race and wanted nothing better than to graduate and find a well-paid job, like their white colleagues. But Barack was unable to let go, he couldn’t stop thinking ‘why?’ He realized that his initial years and his parents’ attitudes had shaped his ideology, he couldn’t let it go because his parents had already paid the price of escape unlike the others who grew up in Compton or Watts and whose families just wanted them to escape. Barack reasoned that he and people like him who had grown believing in change and their parents’ words that everyone is equal were unable to fathom what difference skin color made on perceptions. They just wanted their identity to be recognized from their work and attitude, and not by their skin color.  

Later, he realized the folly of the dreams of individuality. He noticed that people who claimed multiracial heritage, shunned being called black, shunned joining black organizations because they believed that they were individuals rather than members of a particular community were the ones who shunned only those groups and attitudes that would mark them out as black. They would willingly assimilate and identify with the majority white community. This blatant disregard for the minorities, treating them as if they were the ones in the wrong, leads to the end of identity. Barack felt the truth of Frank’s words and realized that college education for many was just a step towards assimilation and believing that everything is fine, that racism didn’t exist, that in the new world only aptitude mattered. They were hurt and bewildered when they were treated differently; when the police questioned them for walking a white neighborhood at night, when shop owners and cabbies looked past them, when people crossing the street clutched their handbags closer while they passed. They couldn’t understand why they were treated like their poor cousins back home when they were so different from them. 

Barack understood their confusion as that was what he felt too at times. And because he understood where they came from, he was frightened that he would end up like them, believing like them in the theory of equality while turning a blind eye to the problems of racism around him. He decided then to choose his friends with care. He chose more politically active black students, foreign students, Marxist professors, structural feminists, and punk-rock performance poets. They spent their time proving they were alienated from the rest, listening to punk-rock at extremely high decibels in the corridors, discussing neocolonialism, Franz Fanon, Eurocentrism, and patriarchy. The ideas they discussed and the views they shared made Barack feel loyal to the black movement and made his fears and confusions recede to the background. Though Barack tried to make up for his earlier confusion, he always felt something lacking, as if he was acting the part at times and was not as true to the values as his other friends.

Once, while he was deep in discussion with like-minded friends, another black guy, Tim, came to ask him for help on some term paper. Barack was embarrassed to be seen with him as Tim was the epitome of the assimilated black: he wore argyle sweaters and pressed jeans and planned to major in business, he had a white girlfriend and didn’t know any discontent. Later Barack tried to laugh off Tim, by saying that he should be called Tom not Tim. But it made his activist friends remind him that he should not make judgments on others. This slight rebuke, made Barack realize the lie he had been living, of believing that just because he talked like his friends who were activists he had become a part of them. He knew that his confusions still ran beneath the surface and something more than talk and attitude were needed to rid him of them.

Questions

1. Who was Frank?

2. Why did Barack feel he was different?

3. How did Frank explain Madelyn’s fears?

4. What was Frank’s assessment of college? Do you agree?

5. Do educational institutions, promote multiculturalism?

6. Did Barack agree with Frank? Why? What characteristics does it display?

7. What kind of friends did Barack choose? Why?

8. Do friends and their opinions affect you?

9. What do you feel made Barack act that way about Tim?

10. What did Barack realize after his friends rebuked him?

Flashback - The company of friends

The friends Barack made at Occidental College helped him shape his ideas. Marcus and Regina were two of his friends who showed him the way in his struggle to do away with his inherent confusion.

Marcus was tall and lean and everything that Barack was not. His grandfather had been a Garveyite, his mother had raised her kids alone while working as a nurse in St. Louis, and his older sister had been a founding member of the local Panther party. He possessed no confusion about his loyalties. Barack felt like his younger brother who had to prove himself to Marcus.

It was Marcus who led the discussions, who provided direction to Barack’s wandering thoughts. 

Garveyism

Marcus Mosiah Garvey Jr.  was a Black nationalist and Pan-Africanist. He founded the Universal Negro Improvement Association and African Communities League (UNIA-ACL).

Amongst the many caps that he wore were - publisher, journalist and  entrepreneur.

Garvey was unique in advancing a Pan-African philosophy to inspire a global mass movement focusing on Africa known as Garveyism.  The intention of the movement was for those of African ancestry to "redeem" Africa and for the European colonial powers to leave it. He wanted to unite the whole of the African diasporia and Africa as ‘one great racial hierarchy’.

Garvey thought that coming together was the only way that the blacks could improve their condition. His idea was that African-Americans should return to Africa formed the Colonist Movement. 

His essential ideas about Africa were stated in an editorial in the Negro World entitled “African Fundamentalism” where he wrote:

“Our union must know no clime, boundary, or nationality… let us hold together under all climes and in every country…”

Black Panther Party

The Black Panther Party was an African-American organization established to promote Black Power and self-defense through acts of social agitation. 

The party was founded in Oakland, California by Huey P. Newton and Bobby Seale on October 15, 1966 and was active till the1970s.

The Panthers practiced militant self-defense of minority communities against the U.S. government, and fought to establish revolutionary socialism through mass organizing and community based programs. 

The Panther party was one of the first organizations in U.S. history to militantly struggle for ethnic minority and working class emancipation - a party whose agenda was the revolutionary establishment of real economic, social, and political equality across gender and color lines.

By 1968, its membership reached 5,000, and its newspaper had grown to a circulation of 250,000.

The group created a Ten-Point Program-

1. We want power to determine the destiny of our black and oppressed communities' education that teaches us our true history and our role in the present-day society. 

2. We want completely free health care for all black and oppressed people. 

3. We want an immediate end to police brutality and murder of black people, other people of color, all oppressed people inside the United States. 

4. We want an immediate end to all wars of aggression. 

5. We want full employment for our people. 

6. We want an end to the robbery by the capitalists of our Black Community. 

7. We want decent housing, fit for the shelter of human beings. 

8. We want decent education for our people that exposes the true nature of this decadent American society. 

9. We want freedom for all black and oppressed people now held up in U.S. Federal, state, county, city, and military prisons and jails. We want trials by a jury of peers for all persons charged with so-called crimes under the laws of this country. 

10. We want land, bread, housing, education, clothing, justice, peace and people's community control of modern technology. As the party expanded and grew to national prominence, it became an icon of the counterculture of the 1960s. 

Later the Panther Party changed its ideology and condemned Black Nationalism as "black racism". They became more focused on socialism without racial exclusivity.

The Party helped to create a variety of community programs to alleviate poverty and improve health among communities deemed most needful of aid. While the party retained its all-black membership, it recognized that different minority communities (those it deemed oppressed by the American government) needed to organize around their own set of issues and encouraged alliances with such organizations.

Regina was a friend with whom Barack felt more comfortable. He didn’t feel the need to explain himself to Regina. They had met through Marcus and had started their friendship with a discussion on the ‘Heart of Darkness’ by Conrad. It was a part of Barack’s reading assignment and Marcus was horrified that he had picked up such a hate-filled book to read. Barack defended his reasoning to Regina and said that it gave him an insight into racist thinking - the idea that man was color-coded and the darker the coloring the more inferior the man - Conrad had painted Africa as the cesspool of the world, and blacks as the savages whose mere contact attracted contamination. Barack said that the book helped him understand how people learnt to hate differences. It helped him diagnose the disease of racism.

Regina’s childhood was reminiscent of the childhood of a majority of poor blacks. Her father had left her and her mother, they lived in a South Side six-flat that echoed the seasons - too cold in winter and so sweltering hot in summer that people went out by the lake to sleep. Her neighborhood consisted of taverns, pool halls and a church, and her evenings were filled with family - cousins and uncles and grandparents who filled her years with love and laughter. Hearing Regina describe her childhood filled with memories of family made Barack envy her. And when he told her that, she burst out laughing. She had found Barack’s childhood in Hawaii more enticing. It was then that he realized that everyone would find something to envy in the other. This realization lent strength to his voice and he spoke more clearly, enunciated the voice of the students more carefully because now he started leaving some of his insecurity behind.

It was during this time the divestment movement started in the college. The movement was a way of agitating against the apartheid government in South Africa and awakening the student community to the fact that the college administration was siding with the oppressors for profit. Barack became an integral part of the campaign. For the first time he felt his opinions mattered, that he could help make a difference. He enthusiastically started building opinion, meeting with African National Congress members on the campus, drafting and distributing pamphlets. He felt ready to reach out to people. The committee members decided on a strategy to catch the attention of the people and they planned that Barack would start the rally with a few opening remarks and then some white students, dressed in paramilitary uniform, would enter and make a show of pulling him away from the mike. It was supposed to send out a strong statement about the repression of the black voice.

As the day for the rally neared, Barack thought about the opening lines and the image of his father speaking to his class came to him. He remembered how his father’s words had charged the room, how the students and teachers had hung on to every word, and how they had come up to talk to his father later. He wanted his words to have the same effect. He thought that the right words would somehow change everything - from the lives of the ghetto kids in South Africa to his own insecurity and confusion.

This is what he said:

 “There’s a struggle going on,” 

“I say, there’s a struggle going on!”

 “It’s happening an ocean away. But it’s a struggle that touches each and every one of us. Whether we know it or not. whether we want it or not. A struggle that demands we choose sides. Not between black and white. Not between rich and poor. No - it’s a harder choice than that. It’s a choice between dignity and servitude. Between fairness and injustice. Between commitment and indifference. A choice between right and wrong…”

The crowd was entranced and ready for more, but then the white students dressed as the paramilitary carried him out. The rally continued with Marcus and Regina saying their bit, informing the students how the University was just dithering on the issue of divestment and using those tactics to gain time. Although he could see that the rally was a success and it had caught the attention of the students, Barack allowed self-doubt to take over. He started viewing the rally as an outsider and saw the trustees arriving for the meeting, paying scant attention to the rally, some students playing in the background, he started feeling that they were just actors acting out roles and this rally made no difference to anything. 

He was still in that mood when Regina complimented him on the speech. He shook off the compliment and sarcastically responded that he was not interested in preaching anymore. He added that what he said didn’t make an iota of difference anywhere, that it didn’t affect the life of even one kid growing up. On hearing his self-absorbed comments, Regina told him to stop attaching so much importance to himself and think of the people who needed his help, who were not interested in his ego and his irony, but who just needed his help. She pointed out to him that while people like him created a mess of things in their disregard for others, there were people like her grandmother and countless others who spent their lives cleaning up after people like him passed by.

Her strong words made Barack think again of his attitude and he realized that she was right. This was the same message that had been passed around so many times, that it had somehow lost its voice in the countless repetitions, but the message endured as the basic truth. The tenets of looking after others, cleaning up your own mess, putting yourself in the other’s shoes before passing judgment were the basis of all behavior. Barack realized that his self-absorption had made him forget the values instilled in his childhood, that in his aim to always remain alert for the traps made by the whites, he had discarded the values as ideas propagated by the whites to keep the blacks in place. But now hearing the same values from Regina, he understood their universality. As he reasoned with himself he comprehended the reason for his error - it was his old enemy: fear. It was fear that had made him push Corretta away, it was fear that had made him ridicule Tim,  it was fear that made him want to hide and give way to his insecurities, fear that made him feel an outsider and give way to despair. 

It was then that he decided to overcome his fears through determination and move consciously forward, ignoring the fears and working towards a world that he desired. He now realized that he might not be able to change everything but that the change could start from him - he could be the change.

Questions

1. Who were Barack’s friends at Occidental?

2. Describe Marcus.

3. Describe Regina.

4. How did Barack meet Regina?

5. How did Barack relate to Marcus?

6. Describe Garveyism.

7. Do you agree with its philosophy?

8. Who was Marcus Garvey?

9. What was the Black Panther Party?

10. When was it formed?

11. Describe the ideology of the Black Panther Party.

12. Write an essay on the Garvey Movement and the Black Panther Party, enumerating their differences and similarities.

13. Read the Heart of Darkness and critically examine it.

14. Describe Regina’s childhood.

15. Why did Regina burst out laughing? 

16. How did Barack get involved in the divestment movement?

17. What was the aim of the movement?

18. How did Barack help organize the movement?

19. What ‘act’ did they plan to put up? Was it a good idea? Why?

20. What were Barack’s thoughts before the speech?

21. What did he say? Did it make a difference?

22. Why did he feel disheartened later?

23. Was the divestment campaign a success?

24. What do you think of Regina’s outburst?

25. Do you feel campaigns and meetings by students help resolve international issues?

26. Did Regina’s outburst help Barack?

27. What did Regina make him realize?

28. Is it possible for one person to be the change? Give an example and discuss.

Flashback - it’s a new day in new york

As his graduation drew close, Barack heard of a transfer program between the Occidental and Columbia University. The idea of living in a great bustling city attracted him and he felt that there he would be able to become a part of the large black community.

The start, though, was not promising. Barack spent the first night out on the streets as nobody answered the door in the apartment he had sub-let. Later he managed to meet a friend from LA, Sadik. Sadik was a Pakistani, tall and well-built. He worked as a waiter and had stayed on in New York long after his visa had expired, becoming a part the illegal immigrant workforce.  Sadik thought Barack had come to the wrong place to try and help people. New York according to Sadik was a place where one elbowed out the person in front in order to survive, where jungle law prevailed and the success lasted as long as you could fight tooth and nail for every victory. But Barack persevered. He was intent on following through with his determination to be the change.

New York had an opposite affect on Barack. While the city offered every luxury and grew during that boom period to provide for every imaginable comfort, Barack looked the other way. In response to the city’s power to bedazzle and corrupt, he stopped taking drugs, ran three miles a day, fasted on Sundays, started studying again, and also kept a journal of reflections. 

According to Sadik, Barack had become a great bore. 

Barack chose the harder way as he was fearful of falling for the allure of the city. During his stay he noticed the murky underbelly of the glitz and glamour that the city hid. The racism, poverty, and hatred flowing beneath the calm waters of the city were more turbulent than any he had witnessed earlier either in Indonesia or LA. Barack felt that there was no middle ground. There were either the rich black professionals or the poor blacks working as construction workers, security guards and clerks. While looking for rented accommodation he found the respectable neighborhoods were all occupied and with waiting lists that stretched to ten years on the one side of the divide and the uninhabitable tenements occupied by gangs and drugs on the other side.

For Barack, this divide was personal. He just couldn’t understand it. The old New Yorkers though would say that this was normal, the city too huge, and its problems too grave for anyone to be in the middle. Even politics was not a solution, the discussion were sluggish, with no end in sight. Politics was no longer interested in finding a solution - it was merely another way to spend an evening. He realized too that he could try and live as he wanted only till the point he had no other responsibilities. Till the time he had children or valued his life too much to take the subway at night or till he needed his building to have some security - until then he could live as he wanted. Later he too would have to live on the other side, the side of the affluent with no contact with the murkier corners of the city. 

The city’s polarization created anger and discontent within him and when his mother and Maya came to visit him he displayed his wrath at the city. 

In New York, Ann and Maya spent their time sight seeing. Barack had just got a job clearing up a construction site, so he spent his days there, but when they met, he would invariably start discoursing on the problems of the city and the helplessness of the homeless. He even berated Maya for spending her time watching TV instead of reading the books he had brought her. 

He saw his pain and confusion reflected in Marcus who had left midway through his junior year in Occidental. Marcus was shaken up by a conversation with another student, who had asked him why the slave trade had continued for as long as it had, why the slaves had not rebelled, preferring death to servitude. Why hadn’t they responded with violence to the treatment that had been meted out to their family and friends?

While Barack responded to Marcus’ queries with the right answers, that there were thousands who jumped into shark-infested waters on their way to slave prisons, preferring painful death to slavery, or that slave rebellions broke out many times in the course of slavery, Marcus seemed unconvinced. Marcus became more distant and aloof and took to wearing African prints, became more expressive about his African pride and slowly he stopped being interested in his studies. He kept a beard,grew dreadlocks, and one day decided to leave everything in search for his roots.

Like his friends, Barack too searched for answers, but he looked to the future. He tried to see what he could do to make the world seem right again, but before he could do that, he received a phone call informing him of his father’s death in a car accident.

Questions

1. Why did Barack seek a transfer to Columbia University?

2. How did he spend his first day in New York? Why?

3. Who was Sadik?

4. How did Sadik help Barack?

5. What did Sadik think of Barack’s idea to be a part of a large community? Why?

6. Do you think Sadik was right? Explain.

7. What effect did New York have on Barack? Why?

8. What did Barack see of New York? How did it affect him?

9. Why did Barack take the economic divide in New York personally?

10. Describe the city of New York, as seen from Barack’s perspective.

11. What did Barack do on a personal level to combat the differences of the city? What did he realize?

12. How did Barack display his discontent with the city?

13. Why was he so abrupt with Maya?

14. What incident changed Marcus? Why?

15. How did Barack’s father die?

Flashback - Dreams For The Community

In the months that followed, the images of his father, his mother, Lolo, the poverty of Indonesia, his grandparents, revolved in his mind. He remembered the choices taken by Lolo, Marcus, Regina, and Ann. He remembered the images of the Civil Rights Movement captured in the grainy black and white videos - the images of SNCC workers trying to convince a family of sharecroppers to register to vote, of a county jail bursting with children and reverberating with their songs, of students rallying for a better tomorrow. He saw that the choices were important for they led the way to the next day, and Barack decided to work on becoming a community organizer.

He spoke to friends and expounded his ideas to anyone who would listen. Everyone listened and agreed, but carried on with their own world. Barack tried to contact every Civil Rights organization, every black elected official in the country, neighborhood councils, and tenant rights groups with a progressive agenda. But none wrote back, so he decided to work in a conventional field for a year and pay off his student loans.

He started work as a research assistant at Business International Corporation. The one year extended, he got promoted and also joined another company, New York Public Interest Research Group. During this time the dream existed, but its fires burned low. He lived the life of a regular white collar executive - sitting at his computer terminal, reading messages of stock prices and taking decisions on interest rate swaps. When he saw that he was the only black occupying the executive position in these organizations, he felt ashamed but the secretarial pool looked up to him. He was their beacon of hope and when he told them of his plans for community organization, he saw their smiles become fixed. Some of them tried to tell him to stop thinking of making a difference, that nobody would appreciate his efforts, least of all those people he wanted to try to help.

Slowly the one year became four years and the dream stayed on as something he wanted to do but nothing came of it - till one day he spoke to Auma. Auma was his half-sister, his father’s child from his first marriage and she was studying in Germany. They had spoken briefly many times and had tried to meet, but the paucity of funds made it impossible for both of them. One day Auma said she would come with friends to America. Both of them were very excited about meeting each other for the first time, but then Auma called up to say that her brother David had died in a motorcycle accident and she would be unable to come as she would immediately fly to Kenya.

The call made him realize the importance of family, of people in one’s life. The fundamental dream of working as a community organizer gained more force and he resigned from his job. 

He went for his first interview for a community organizer. He met the director of a prominent Civil Rights organization in the city. The director was a tall, handsome black man, dressed in a crisp white shirt, paisley tie, and red suspenders. His office was well furnished with a touch of opulence. The plush environment and the glib talk was not what Barack wanted. The director spoke of community organizing as arranging meetings between politicians, businessmen and government officials. They wanted young, educated blacks who would organize conferences and facilitate dialogue. Barack declined since he wanted something more real, dealing with people at grassroots level. 

Within six months Barack was broke and eating soup out of a can. He was disillusioned with the movement towards change as everywhere he looked, he found evidence of good intentions with nothing to show, every strategy seemed self-destroying. During this bleak time he got a call from Marty Kafman.

Marty had started an organizing drive in Chicago and was looking to hire a trainee. Marty had started organizing in the sixties with student protests, and ended up staying with it for fifteen years organizing farmers in Nebraska, blacks in Philadelphia, Mexicans in Chicago. Now he was trying to organize urban blacks and suburban whites to save manufacturing jobs in metropolitan Chicago. He needed somebody black to work with him. Marty’s work involved churches, unions and people. He offered to start Barack off at ten thousand dollars the first year, with a two thousand dollar travel allowance to buy a car; and said that the salary would go up if things worked out. 

Barack decided to move to Chicago as the director of the Developing Communities Project (DCP).

Questions

1. How did his father’s death affect Barack?

2. What prompted him to work as a community organizer?

3. What were his friends’ reactions to his dream?

4. Why did he shelve his dreams?

5. Where did Barack start working?

6. What was his reaction on learning that he was the only black in the executive position? Why?

7. How did the people in the secretarial pool react to him?

8. Why weren’t they happy when he told them his dream of working for the community? Do you think that they were right?

9. What do you dream of becoming? How will you achieve your dreams?

10. Who was Auma?

11. How did her call affect him? Why?

12. What was the consequence of his talk with Auma?

13. How did his dream of community organizing begin? 

14. How did his first meeting regarding community organizing go? Why did Barack not join?

15. How long did it take him to find himself a proper organization?

16. Who was Marty? What did he do?

17. What kind of work did Marty offer Barack?

18. Did Barack join him?

19. Barack’s journey to becoming a community organizer was paved with temptation and discouragement. How did he counter them?

20. Discuss the importance of dreams and of following your heart.

21. What are the qualities people require if they wish to work for their community?

Flashback - chicago and DCP

Developing Communities Project (DCP) was a church-based community organization originally comprising eight Catholic parishes (black and white) in Greater Roseland (Roseland, West Pullman, and Riverdale) on Chicago's far South Side.

According to its website:

 “DCP functions as an organized entity through which social justice missions of the church and its members is integrated with the technical skills and methods required to promote change via the public arena. Our operational methodology is focused upon leadership development, research and analysis of issues, and the creation of public forums or events for direct action on issues that are deemed important through a collective decision making process.”

 He worked there for three years from June 1985 to May 1988. During his three years as the DCP’s director, its staff grew from one to thirteen, and its annual budget grew from $70,000 to $400,000. His achievements included helping set up a job-training program, a college preparatory tutoring program, and a tenants' rights organization in Altgeld Gardens. These achievements didn’t come easy. Barack battled inherent distrust, intractable views, and politicization of common issues. These problems plagued the intitial attempts to help the community combat its own ills.

One of the disappointments came early, while Barack was learning how to work the community. As he talked to various families in order to know their problems better, he realized that security and safety were major concerns of the people. The streets were unsafe and shootings occurred in residential areas. Barack decided to take the lead in organizing. He met concerned parents who shared the same fears and felt frustrated over the lackadaisical police response. He decided to invite the District Commander to a neighborhood meeting so that the community could air its concerns, and planned to organize the publicity in a Baptist church where a boy had been shot by one of the gangs. When he met with the church, he met with disappointment. One of the priests managed to make the others refuse to help by arguing that the DCP had white member churches. This narrow view of problems plaguing the entire neighborhood hindered the support for the effort. It was then that Barack realized how politics used race-based arguments to capture opinion and turn it against communities. The end result was that due to the lack of publicity, many people did not turn up to talk to the District Commander when he came and the meeting was a disaster. 

This disastrous start made Barack realize that most people cling to their own views and refuse to look at broader issues, issues that affect everybody. People let their past affect their present decisions, they remain stuck in their own groove and so they are susceptible to people who rouse them in the name of their communities not realizing that they are using them to further their own political and materialistic goals. These findings unsettled him and he realized that he didn’t want to be like them but to reach out beyond the boundaries of race, class and community.

His next project was in the Altgeld Gardens. The Gardens, as they were known, were traversed by the Calumet river whose waters were so contaminated that the fishes that swam in those waters were strangely discolored, with cataract eyes and lumps behind their gills. In the east of the Gardens, was the Lake Calumet landfill, the largest in the Midwest; to the north, directly across the street, was the Metropolitan Sanitary District’s sewage treatment plant. The air was heavy with the rotting putrid smell which grew worse as summer came. The neighborhood always smelled of rot and even though the houses shut their doors and windows, the odor still invaded their life.

 The stench reflected the sense of disrepair all around, everything about the Gardens seemed in a perpetual state of disorder - ceilings crumbled, pipes burst, and toilets blocked up. In this shabby state, Barack tried to work out the differences and move towards a better community. 

As he worked with the people he realized that the problems ran deeper. He saw that the past intruded into the present and made acceptance of change more difficult. He saw why it was difficult for many of the blacks to leave the past of their segregation behind. It explained to him why most blacks preferred to live in black neighborhoods and why more blacks had not joined in the American dream and why they didn’t like to be treated like white people.

During his stay at the Gardens he worked on a project demanding a job intake and training center in the Far South Side - through MET. This time he organized his demands and the people effectively, so that at the time of the meeting with the MET representatives, the Gardens were effectively represented. The meeting went off smoothly and the MET representatives were surprised by the show of strength and they accomplished what they wanted.

During this time, as a community organizer Barack worked hard on developing communities, he spent his evenings with families of the neighborhood, listening to their stories and understanding their problems. He heard about successful children who had managed to move to better neighborhoods, about growing up in grinding poverty and giving up on education because it was too expensive, about a woman who worked hard to save her secretarial job after she was diagnosed with progressive blindness, about people who had watched their parents struggle with grinding poverty and many times losing the struggle of a dignified existence. These stories revealed to him the strength of spirit and made him acknowledge the unspoken forces that spoiled their efforts.

Questions

1. What was the DCP?

2. Where did it operate?

3. What are the DCP’s goals?

4. What were Barack’s achievements in the DCP?

5. What was Barack’s first disappointment at the DCP?

6. How do narrow-minded attitudes and beliefs counter our development? Have you ever come across such attitudes? 

7. Describe Altgeld Gardens. 

8. What were the problems at Altgeld Gardens?

9. How did Barack spend his days while working as a community organizer?

10. How was he affected by the stories that he heard?

Flashback - his father’s tale

Auma, Barack’s half-sister, came to visit Barack and through her he learnt more about his father. 

Auma and Roy were Obama Sr.’s children from his first wife, Kezia. After divorcing Ann, he married an American lady called Ruth and left for Kenya with her. In Kenya, he set up a new home with Ruth in Nairobi and called his two children to him. The laws of Kenya gave every right to the father and Auma’s mother also felt they would be better off with their father. 

In the beginning, Obama Sr. did very well for himself. He was working for an American oil company - Shell, and was well connected with the top people in the government. The vice-president, ministers and the top brass would visit him quite often. He had the status and the wealth associated with the exalted position he had acquired. During this time he fathered four more children, two by Ruth and two by his first wife. Later he left the oil company and took up a government job. 

The tensions within the various factions in Kenya grew during 1966-1967. Kenyatta, the President, was from the largest tribe, the Kikuyus. The Luos, (Obama Sr.’s tribe) the second largest tribe, began to complain that the Kikuyus were getting all the best jobs. 

The intrigue within the government grew as the vice-president Odinga (a Luo) complained that the government was becoming corrupt and had taken the place of the white colonials by buying up businesses and land that should rightfully have been redistributed to the people. Odinga tried to start his own party but was placed under house arrest as a Communist.

Another popular Luo minister, Tom M’boya, was killed by a Kikuyu gunman. Luos began to protest in the streets, and the police cracked down, killing people, creating suspicion and fear between the tribes.

Auma described how most of the people kept quiet and let the tensions escalate, while going about their daily business. But Obama Sr. couldn’t see his country break down due to suspicion and fear amongst its own people, and he tried to speak out. He tried to explain to people that tribalism and internal strife would leave the country weak with unqualified men occupying positions of importance. Though his friends tried to warn him against making such public remarks, he could not passively watch all that his countrymen had strived for being forsaken in favor of petty politics.

His attitude became more aggressive and when he was passed on for promotion he complained that the persons chosen were not well qualified to understand the job. As news of his dissatisfaction reached the President Kenyatta, he summoned him and told him that due to his attitude he would ensure that Obama Sr. got no job. 

With the President as his enemy, Obama Sr. found that the government did not want to take him on and foreign companies were also warned against hiring him.

The fall from grace was complete; the government even revoked his passport so that he couldn’t work for the African Development Bank in Addis Ababa. But he refused to tone down his comments against the government or ask for forgiveness. Some of his friends managed to get him a low-paying job with the Water Department. 

The menial job and the fall in status left him bitter and he turned towards alcohol. Auma told Barack how their father would now arrive home very late and very drunk. He would not speak to them other than to scold them and his fights with Ruth started. Ruth finally left with her two children. During that time he met with a serious accident. After he recovered from the accident, he had gone to visit Barack in Hawaii. 

After his return, he lost even the job in the Water Department and they shifted in with relatives for a while. Later the three of them - Obama Sr., Auma, and Roy - lived in a rundown section of the city, begging relatives for food. But even then their father would not let go his pride and would tell them not to forget that they were the children of Dr. Obama. Auma remembered times when he would donate to charity, even though they barely had any money themselves, just to keep up appearances.

Later Roy left and only Obama Sr. and Auma lived together. Times were very difficult, especially since he was drinking very heavily. Auma’s sole solace during that time was her school; it offered her a peaceful environment where she could leave her troubles behind. 

As Auma described her father’s struggles and stubbornness, Barack’s image of his father began to crumble. He realized that his father’s voice, telling him to work hard when he was ten, was always with him, exhorting him to do better. His mother’s ideal image of his father, of a man who took no shortcuts and who stood by his principles - had made Barack put all the attributes of Dr. Martin Luther King, Malcolm X, DuBois, and Mandela in his father. His father’s voice always resounded in his mind inspiring and rebuking him. He had always judged others and himself by that image and now that that image fell short of the real picture, Barack felt the weight of expectations fall off him.

Questions

1. What was Auma’s mother’s name?

2. Whom did Obama Sr. marry after divorcing Ann?

3. Why did he take Kezia’s children to live with him? Why didn’t Kezia complain? What does it tell you about Kenya’s laws and society?

4. How did Barack’s father fare in Kenya?

5. What went wrong? Why?

6. While staying with Ruth, he had two children by his first wife too. What does this tell you about the laws governing society in Kenya?

7. What happened in 1966-67 in Kenya?

8. Is tribalism equivalent to racism? Discuss.

9. Who was Odinga? What happened to him?

10. How did Obama Sr. react to the problems in his country?

11. How did his attitude affect his career and life?

12. Is it right to keep quiet and agree with things that are wrong in order to save your life and career, or should you be blunt and express your opinion. Discuss.

13. How did Obama Sr.’s career suffer due to his wrong political moves?

14. Who was the president of Kenya at that time?

15. Why did the government revoke his passport?

16. Why did he turn into an alcoholic? Does alcoholism help?

17. Why did Ruth leave Obama Sr.?

18. What were the circumstances in Kenya when Obama Sr. visited Barack?

19. How different was his father from the person Barack thought he was when he met him in Hawaii? 

20. How did Auma and Roy manage to live in Kenya?

21. Why did they donate to charity when they didn’t have enough money for themselves? What trait of Obama Sr. is reflected in this?

22. How did the story of his father’s life affect Barack?

23. What did Barack realize?

Flashback - Africa

Barack decided to learn more about the policies that shaped the United States and he was accepted by Harvard Law School.  As he went over the acceptance letter from Harvard, he remembered the time he had received another acceptance letter from Punahou and how his grandfather had been more excited than him on reading about the various activities provided by the school. 

As the time came for him to hand over his responsibilities at the DCP, Barack felt the tug of the community and promised himself that he would never forget his learning and use the knowledge of Harvard to work towards building communities. He also decided to visit Kenya and see for himself the place that had shaped his father’s dreams. His sister Auma was teaching in Kenya and when he spoke to her and heard about his family there, he wanted to know them better.

His visit to Kenya awakened him to the problems faced by an underdeveloped country. As he traveled through Nairobi, the capital of Kenya, he saw the effects of colonialism and modernity in the traditional Kenyan society. 

Kenya- a colonial history

Kenya has had a long colonial history - Arab, Portuguese, English and Germans occupied parts of it since 700 AD.

In the 700s, Arab seafarers established settlements along the coast and utilized their influence to further their business of slave trade.

The Portuguese took control of the area in the early 1500s. The Portuguese presence focused mainly on a coastal strip centred in Mombassa and was used to secure the sea routes linking Europe to Asia. The Portuguese naval vessels were able to use their presence to command high tariffs on items transported through the sea.

The land became a British protectorate in 1890 and a Crown colony in 1920, when it went by the name British East Africa. Nationalist stirrings began in the 1940s, and in 1952 the Mau Mau movement, made up of Kikuyu militants, rebelled against the government. The fighting lasted until 1956.

On Dec. 12, 1963, Kenya achieved full independence. Jomo Kenyatta, a nationalist leader during the independence struggle who had been jailed by the British, was its first President.

The colonial hangover still existed over Nairobi. As Barack traveled across the city with Auma, he noticed how the shopkeepers refused to attend to them and preferred white clients. Auma told him how in multi-level office buildings and hotels, unknown Africans were turned away unless they entered with their white counterparts. This reminded Barack of the treatment meted out to blacks in America and how America was still changing for the better as many people came forward to fight out discrimination cases and many times they were supported by their white friends as witnesses - these small voices were still striking out against the history and the system that had caused it.

In Kenya he visited his extended family - aunts, brothers and sisters he had earlier only heard about now became a part of his life. He rediscovered family ties and marveled at the feelings of family bonding. Most of all, for the first time in his life, people recognized him due to his father’s name.

He then went to his father’s village, Alego. In the village he learned more about his grandfather. His grandfather had been a very strict man and there were many tales that his relatives told him about his grandfather’s integrity and strength. His grandfather had been amongst the first in his family to learn the white man’s ways and language. At that time, no one wanted to deal with the English but his grandfather had, and for that he never saw eye to eye with his father and ultimately settled far from his family. He also worked as a cook for the Englishmen. As he learned their habits and ways he inculcated the same within his family. His home was very different from the rest of the village. He kept it spotless and insisted that everyone remove their shoes and wash their feet before entering. He also ate at a table unlike the villagers, and used proper cutlery. Barack realized that his grandfather’s individuality affected all of them. And in their own way, most of the people in his family had tried to make a difference by the things they did.

Questions

1. What did Barack promise himself before joining Harvard?

2. Describe Kenya’s colonial history.

3. When did Kenya gain independence?

4. How did colonialism still affect people in Kenya? Why do you think this happened?

5. How did Kenya affect Barack?

Flashback - Harvard and After

Barack entered Harvard Law School in late 1988. At Harvard, Barack again managed to beat stereotypes by becoming an editor of the Harvard Law Review at the end of his first year, and getting elected as president of the journal in his second year - the first black president of the Harvard Law Review. 

After graduating with a Juris Doctor (J.D.) magna cum laude from Harvard in 1991, he returned to Chicago to further work on communities.

In 1989, he was working as a summer associate. This job proved to be one of the most rewarding jobs in his career since it was there that he met Michelle. 

Michelle was working at a downtown law firm and assigned the role of advisor to Barack Obama. Later she said that she fell in love with him for the same reason many other people respect him - his connection with people. After refusing to go out with him for a month, she agreed to go to dinner and then to a movie, Do the Right Thing on their first date.

They were married on 18th October, 1992 by Rev. Jeremiah A. Wright Jr. at Trinity United Church of Christ in Chicago, Illinois. 

Barack’s election as the first black president of the Harvard Law Review gained national media attention and in an effort to recruit him to their faculty, the University of Chicago Law School provided Obama with a fellowship and an office to work on his book.

Barack directed Illinois' Project Vote from April to October 1992, a voter registration drive with a staff of ten, and seven hundred volunteers. Project Vote aimed to register African-Americans to vote and to show them the power of democracy. It achieved its goal of registering 150,000 of 400,000 unregistered African-Americans in the state, and led to Crain's Chicago Business naming Barack to its 1993 list of "40 under Forty" powers to be. 

During this time he was frequently asked by people disillusioned and cynical of politics - why? And he answered the ‘why’ with his optimistic theory that although he understood the skepticism of politics, politics also delivered. Politics though slandered and misused was also a tool used by the country’s founding fathers to display the idea that “we have a stake in one another, and that what binds us together is greater than what drives us apart, and that if enough people believe in the truth of that proposition and act on it, then we might not solve every problem, but we can get something meaningful done.”

Barack also served for twelve years as a Professor at the University of Chicago Law School, teaching Constitutional Law. He was first classified as a Lecturer from 1992 to 1996, and then as a Senior Lecturer from 1996 to 2004. He also joined Davis, Miner, Barnhill & Galland, a twelve-attorney law firm specializing in Civil Rights litigation and neighborhood economic development, where he was an associate for three years from 1993 to 1996, then as counsel from 1996 to 2004, with his law license becoming inactive in 2002. 

Barack was a founding member of the board of directors of Public Allies in 1992. Public Allies was set up to encourage leadership in communities across the country. Their mission was “to advance new leadership to strengthen communities, non-profits and civic participation.”

According to the Public Allies website:

“Obama has trained several classes of Allies in community organizing, spoken at Public Allies Chicago events, and helped Senator Durbin secure an appropriation from the Department of Justice that successfully helped us better recruit and retain young men of color for our Chicago program and learn practices we are applying nationally.”

He resigned from Public Allies in 1993, before his wife Michelle became the Founding Executive Director of Public Allies, Chicago.

 He served from 1994 to 2002 on the Board of Directors of the Woods Fund of Chicago, which in 1985 had been the first foundation to fund the Developing Communities Project, and also from 1994 to 2002. 

The Joyce Foundation was set up to support efforts to protect the natural environment of the Great Lakes, to reduce poverty and violence in the region, and to ensure that people have access to good schools, decent jobs, and a diverse and thriving culture. 

Barack served on the Board of Directors of the Chicago Annenberg Challenge from 1995 to 2002, as Founding President and Chairman of the Board of Directors from 1995 to 1999. He also served on the Board of Directors of the Chicago Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights Under Law, the Center for Neighborhood Technology, and the Lugenia Burns Hope Center.

Questions

1. When did Barack start at Harvard Law School?

2. How did Barack beat stereotypes at Harvard?

3. When did Barack graduate from Harvard?

4. What did he do after Harvard? What does that tell you about Barack?

5. Where did he meet Michelle?

6. Describe their first date.

7. When did they get married?

8. What did Barack feel about politics?

9. Do you agree with Barack’s views?

10. What is Public Allies?

11. How did Barack work for Public Allies?

12. Why did he resign from Public Allies?

13. When did he serve on the Joyce Foundation? 

14. What are the aims of the Joyce Foundation?

Flashback - the senator

In 2000, Barack decided to run for the Senate. The race turned into a big disappointment and the later events in 2001 made the issue of his name yet another hurdle in his dreams of joining the US Senate. 

America had survived the worst terrorist attacks on its soil, the destruction of the icons of American prosperity, and the man behind it was Osama bin Laden – a name strikingly similar to Barack’s, as a media consultant pointed out to him. 

Barack slowly started having doubts about doing more in politics. The realization that he was not getting any younger, and that younger politicians were taking away the higher offices while he stood on the outside and just dreamed of doing the things that they were already doing. He loved the politics of debate and the warmth of meeting new people, but he hated the begging bowl approach and the time spent away from family. Policy making seemed to be too far removed from the daily grind faced by the people. He was not sure if what he was doing was making any difference and his enthusiasm started waning.

Barack was elected to the Illinois Senate in 1996 as Senator from Illinois' 13th District, which then spanned Chicago South Side neighborhoods from Hyde Park-Kenwood South to South Shore and West to Chicago Lawn. In office, he had worked on a law increasing tax credits for low-income workers, negotiated welfare reform, and promoted increased subsidies for childcare. He had also gained bipartisan support for legislation reforming ethics and health care laws. Obama was re-elected to the Illinois Senate in 1998, defeating Republican Yesse Yehudah in the general election, and re-elected again in 2002. In 2001, as co-chairman of the bipartisan Joint Committee on Administrative Rules, Obama supported Republican Governor Ryan's payday loan regulations and predatory mortgage lending regulations aimed at averting home foreclosures.

But before his dreams lost their fire he decided to take one last plunge, and try for the US Senate again. Michelle’s reaction as he puts it: 

“Perhaps more out of pity than conviction -agreed to this one last race, though she also suggested that given the orderly life she preferred for our family, I shouldn’t necessarily count on her vote.”

So again he got on the campaign track. The current Senator was Peter Fitzgerald. He was respected for his integrity but was not very popular and the other opponents were a sitting State Comptroller, an extremely rich businessman, Chicago Mayor Richard Daley’s former chief of staff, and a black female healthcare professional. Barack set out once more to prove to himself that he could.

Barack started his campaign, called donors who didn’t respond, gave press conferences where no one turned up, and even signed up for the annual St. Patrick’s Day Parade. They were assigned the parade’s very last slot, so he walked by when there were just a few stragglers left watching the parade. But what made him get in touch with his dreams were the people he met. 

As he met people spanning race, color, and religion, he realized what it was that had drawn him to politics in the first place. As he heard the same hopes and dreams repeated across boundaries he realized that everybody was alike in their aspirations. They all wanted nothing more than the right to live with dignity, to be able to find work to ensure life, to be cared for when sick, to provide good education to their children, an environment free of crime, and to be able to live their old age with their dignity intact. Meeting the people, listening to their hopes and cribbing, Barack realized that this was why he loved politics - he loved the people and he wanted to do something for them, to bring about a change in their lives.

Obama was sworn in as a Senator on January 4, 2005. He was the fifth African-American Senator in U.S. history, and the third to have been popularly elected.

In July 2004, Obama wrote and delivered the keynote address at the 2004 Democratic National Convention in Boston, Massachusetts.  Drawing examples from U.S. history, he criticized heavily partisan views of the electorate and asked Americans to find unity in diversity, saying, "There is not a liberal America and a conservative America; there is the United States of America." Obama's speech was a highlight of the convention and confirmed his status as the Democratic Party's brightest new star. 

Questions

1. When did Barack decide to run for the Senate?

2. What happened in 2000?

3. How did his name become a liability?

4. What did Barack hate about politics? What did he love about politics?

5. When was Barack elected to the Illinois Senate?

6. What did he work on during this period?

7. Did Michelle want him to run for U.S. Senate?

8. Who was his competitor for the U.S. Senate?

9. When did Barack get elected in the U.S. Senate?

Keynote Address at the 2004 Democratic National Convention

On behalf of the great State of Illinois, crossroads of a nation, land of Lincoln, let me express my deep gratitude for the privilege of addressing this convention. Tonight is a particular honor for me because, let's face it, my presence on this stage is pretty unlikely. My father was a foreign student, born and raised in a small village in Kenya. He grew up herding goats, went to school in a tin-roof shack. His father, my grandfather, was a cook, a domestic servant.

But my grandfather had larger dreams for his son. Through hard work and perseverance, my father got a scholarship to study in a magical place - America - which stood as a beacon of freedom and opportunity to so many who had come before. While studying here, my father met my mother. She was born in a town on the other side of the world, in Kansas. Her father worked on oil rigs and farms through most of the Depression. The day after Pearl Harbor, he signed up for duty, joined Patton's army and marched across Europe. Back home, my grandmother raised their baby and went to work on a bomber assembly line. After the war, they studied on the GI Bill, bought a house through FHA, and moved west in search of opportunity.

And they, too, had big dreams for their daughter, a common dream, born of two continents. My parents shared not only an improbable love; they shared an abiding faith in the possibilities of this nation. They would give me an African name, Barack, or "blessed," believing that in a tolerant America your name is no barrier to success. They imagined me going to the best schools in the land, even though they weren't rich, because in a generous America you don't have to be rich to achieve your potential. They are both passed away now. Yet, I know that on this night, they look down on me with pride.

I stand here today, grateful for the diversity of my heritage, aware that my parents' dreams live on in my precious daughters. I stand here knowing that my story is part of the larger American story, that I owe a debt to all of those who came before me, and that, in no other country on earth, is my story even possible. Tonight, we gather to affirm the greatness of our nation, not because of the height of our skyscrapers, or the power of our military, or the size of our economy. Our pride is based on a very simple premise, summed up in a declaration made over two hundred years ago, "We hold these truths to he self-evident, that all men are created equal. That they are endowed by their Creator with certain inalienable rights. That among these are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness."

That is the true genius of America, a faith in the simple dreams of its people, the insistence on small miracles. That we can tuck in our children at night and know they are fed and clothed and safe from harm. That we can say what we think, write what we think, without hearing a sudden knock on the door. That we can have an idea and start our own business without paying a bribe or hiring somebody's son. That we can participate in the political process without fear of retribution, and that our votes will he counted - or at least, most of the time.

This year, in this election, we are called to reaffirm our values and commitments, to hold them against a hard reality and see how we are measuring up to the legacy of our forbearers, and the promise of future generations. And fellow Americans - Democrats, Republicans, and Independents - I say to you tonight: we have more work to do. More to do for the workers I met in Galesburg, Illinois, who are losing their union jobs at the Maytag plant that's moving to Mexico, and now are having to compete with their own children for jobs that pay seven bucks an hour. More to do for the father I met who was losing his job and choking back tears, wondering how he would pay $4,500 a month for the drugs his son needs without the health benefits he counted on. More to do for the young woman in East St. Louis, and thousands more like her, who has the grades, has the drive, has the will, but doesn't have the money to go to college.

Don't get me wrong. The people I meet in small towns and big cities, in diners and office parks, they don't expect the government to solve all their problems. They know they have to work hard to get ahead and they want to. Go into the collar counties around Chicago, and people will tell you they don't want their tax money wasted by a welfare agency or the Pentagon. Go into any inner city neighborhood, and folks will tell you that government alone can't teach kids to learn. They know that parents have to parent, that children can't achieve unless we raise their expectations and turn off the television sets and eradicate the slander that says a black youth with a book is acting white. No, people don't expect government to solve all their problems. But they sense, deep in their bones, that with just a change in priorities, we can make sure that every child in America has a decent shot at life, and that the doors of opportunity remain open to all. They know we can do better. And they want that choice.

In this election, we offer that choice. Our party has chosen a man to lead us who embodies the best this country has to offer. That man is John Kerry. John Kerry understands the ideals of community, faith, and sacrifice, because they've defined his life. From his heroic service in Vietnam to his years as prosecutor and lieutenant governor, through two decades in the United States Senate, he has devoted himself to this country. Again and again, we've seen him make tough choices when easier ones were available. His values and his record affirm what is best in us.

John Kerry believes in an America where hard work is rewarded. So instead of offering tax breaks to companies shipping jobs overseas, he'll offer them to companies creating jobs here at home. John Kerry believes in an America where all Americans can afford the same health coverage our politicians in Washington have for themselves. John Kerry believes in energy independence, so we aren't held hostage to the profits of oil companies or the sabotage of foreign oil fields. John Kerry believes in the constitutional freedoms that have made our country the envy of the world, and he will never sacrifice our basic liberties nor use faith as a wedge to divide us. And John Kerry believes that in a dangerous world, war must be an option, but it should never he the first option.

A while back, I met a young man named Shamus at the VFW Hall in East Moline, Illinois. He was a good-looking kid, six-two or six-three, clear-eyed, with an easy smile. He told me he'd joined the Marines and was heading to Iraq the following week. As I listened to him explain why he'd enlisted, his absolute faith in our country and its leaders, his devotion to duty and service, I thought this young man was all any of us might hope for in a child. But then I asked myself: Are we serving Shamus as well as he was serving us? I thought of more than 900 service men and women, sons and daughters, husbands and wives, friends and neighbors, who will not be returning to their hometowns. I thought of families I had met who were struggling to get by without a loved one's full income, or whose loved ones had returned with a limb missing or with nerves shattered, but who still lacked long-term health benefits because they were reservists. When we send our young men and women into harm's way, we have a solemn obligation not to fudge the numbers or shade the truth about why they're going, to care for their families while they're gone, to tend to the soldiers upon their return, and to never ever go to war without enough troops to win the war, secure the peace, and earn the respect of the world.

Now let me be clear. We have real enemies in the world. These enemies must be found. They must be pursued and they must be defeated. John Kerry knows this. And just as Lieutenant Kerry did not hesitate to risk his life to protect the men who served with him in Vietnam, President Kerry will not hesitate one moment to use our military might to keep America safe and secure. John Kerry believes in America. And he knows it's not enough for just some of us to prosper. For alongside our famous individualism, there's another ingredient in the American saga.

A belief that we are connected as one people. If there's a child on the South Side of Chicago who can't read, that matters to me, even if it's not my child. If there's a senior citizen somewhere who can't pay for her prescription and has to choose between medicine and the rent, that makes my life poorer, even if it's not my grandmother. If there's an Arab American family being rounded up without benefit of an attorney or due process, that threatens my civil liberties. It's that fundamental belief - I am my brother's keeper, I am my sister's keeper - that makes this country work. It's what allows us to pursue our individual dreams, yet still come together as a single American family. "E pluribus, unum." Out of many, one.

Yet even as we speak, there are those who are preparing to divide us, the spin masters and negative ad peddlers who embrace the politics of ‘anything goes’. Well, I say to them tonight, there's not a liberal America and a conservative America - there's the United States of America. There's not a black America and white America and Latino America and Asian America; there's the United States of America. The pundits like to slice-and-dice our country into Red States and Blue States; Red States for Republicans, Blue States for Democrats. But I've got news for them, too. We worship an awesome God in the Blue States, and we don't like federal agents poking around our libraries in the Red States. We coach Little League in the Blue States and have gay friends in the Red States. There are patriots who opposed the war in Iraq and patriots who supported it. We are one people, all of us pledging allegiance to the stars and stripes, all of us defending the United States of America.

In the end, that's what this election is about. Do we participate in a politics of cynicism or a politics of hope? John Kerry calls on us to hope. John Edwards calls on us to hope. I'm not talking about blind optimism here - the almost willful ignorance that thinks unemployment will go away if we just don't talk about it, or the health care crisis will solve itself if we just ignore it. No, I'm talking about something more substantial. It's the hope of slaves sitting around a fire singing freedom songs, the hope of immigrants setting out for distant shores, the hope of a young naval lieutenant bravely patrolling the Mekong Delta, the hope of a mill worker’s son who dares to defy the odds, the hope of a skinny kid with a funny name who believes that America has a place for him, too. The audacity of hope!

In the end, that is God's greatest gift to us, the bedrock of this nation, the belief in things not seen, the belief that there are better days ahead. I believe we can give our middle class relief and provide working families with a road to opportunity. I believe we can provide jobs to the jobless, homes to the homeless, and reclaim young people in cities across America from violence and despair. I believe that as we stand on the crossroads of history, we can make the right choices, and meet the challenges that face us. America!

Tonight, if you feel the same energy I do, the same urgency I do, the same passion I do, the same hopefulness I do - if we do what we must do, then I have no doubt that all across the country, from Florida to Oregon, from Washington to Maine, the people will rise up in November, and John Kerry will be sworn in as president, and John Edwards will be sworn in as vice president, and this country will reclaim its promise, and out of this long political darkness a brighter day will come. Thank you and God bless you.

Questions

1. What do you think of Barack’s speech?

2. What were the main points of his speech?

Flashback - The Nomination as Presidential candidate

The American Promise 

Acceptance Speech at the Democratic Convention

Mile High Stadium, Denver Colorado

August 28, 2008

To Chairman Dean and my great friend Dick Durbin, and to all my fellow citizens of this great nation,

With profound gratitude and great humility, I accept your nomination for the presidency of the United States. 

Let me express my thanks to the historic slate of candidates who accompanied me on this journey, and especially the one who traveled the farthest - a champion for working Americans and an inspiration to my daughters and to yours -- Hillary Rodham Clinton. To President Clinton, who last night made the case for change as only he can make it, to Ted Kennedy, who embodies the spirit of service, and to the next Vice President of the United States, Joe Biden, I thank you. I am grateful to finish this journey with one of the finest statesmen of our time, a man at ease with everyone from world leaders to the conductors on the Amtrak train he still takes home every night. 

To the love of my life, our next First Lady, Michelle Obama, and to Sasha and Malia - I love you so much, and I'm so proud of all of you. 

Four years ago, I stood before you and told you my story - of the brief union between a young man from Kenya and a young woman from Kansas who weren't well-off or well-known, but shared a belief that in America, their son could achieve whatever he put his mind to. 

It is that promise that has always set this country apart - that through hard work and sacrifice, each of us can pursue our individual dreams but still come together as one American family, to ensure that the next generation can pursue their dreams as well. 

That's why I stand here tonight. Because for two hundred and thirty two years, at each moment when that promise was in jeopardy, ordinary men and women - students and soldiers, farmers and teachers, nurses and janitors - found the courage to keep it alive. 

We meet at one of those defining moments - a moment when our nation is at war, our economy is in turmoil, and the American promise has been threatened once more. 

Tonight, more Americans are out of work and more are working harder for less. More of you have lost your homes and even more are watching your home values plummet. More of you have cars you can't afford to drive, credit card bills you can't afford to pay, and tuition that's beyond your reach. 

These challenges are not all of government's making. But the failure to respond is a direct result of a broken politics in Washington and the failed policies of George W. Bush. 

America, we are better than these last eight years. We are a better country than this. 

This country is more decent than one where a woman in Ohio, on the brink of retirement, finds herself one illness away from disaster after a lifetime of hard work. 

This country is more generous than one where a man in Indiana has to pack up the equipment he's worked on for twenty years and watch it shipped off to China, and then chokes up as he explains how he felt like a failure when he went home to tell his family the news. 

We are more compassionate than a government that lets veterans sleep on our streets and families slide into poverty, that sits on its hands while a major American city drowns before our eyes. 

Tonight, I say to the American people, to Democrats and Republicans and Independents across this great land - enough! This moment - this election - is our chance to keep, in the 21st century, the American promise alive. Because next week, in Minnesota, the same party that brought you two terms of George Bush and Dick Cheney will ask this country for a third. And we are here because we love this country too much to let the next four years look like the last eight. On November 4th, we must stand up and say: "Eight is enough." 

Now let there be no doubt. The Republican nominee, John McCain, has worn the uniform of our country with bravery and distinction, and for that we owe him our gratitude and respect. And next week, we'll also hear about those occasions when he's broken with his party as evidence that he can deliver the change that we need. 

But the record's clear: John McCain has voted with George Bush ninety percent of the time. Senator McCain likes to talk about judgment, but really, what does it say about your judgment when you think George Bush has been right more than ninety percent of the time? I don't know about you, but I'm not ready to take a ten percent chance on change. 

The truth is, on issue after issue that would make a difference in your lives - on health care and education and the economy - Senator McCain has been anything but independent. He said that our economy has made "great progress" under this President. He said that the fundamentals of the economy are strong. And when one of his chief advisors - the man who wrote his economic plan - was talking about the anxiety Americans are feeling, he said that we were just suffering from a "mental recession," and that we've become, and I quote, "a nation of whiners." 

A nation of whiners? Tell that to the proud auto workers at a Michigan plant who, after they found out it was closing, kept showing up every day and working as hard as ever, because they knew there were people who counted on the brakes that they made. Tell that to the military families who shoulder their burdens silently as they watch their loved ones leave for their third or fourth or fifth tour of duty. These are not whiners. They work hard and give back and keep going without complaint. These are the Americans that I know. 

Now, I don't believe that Senator McCain doesn't care what's going on in the lives of Americans. I just think he doesn't know. Why else would he define middle-class as someone making under five million dollars a year? How else could he propose hundreds of billions in tax breaks for big corporations and oil companies but not one penny of tax relief to more than one hundred million Americans? How else could he offer a health care plan that would actually tax people's benefits, or an education plan that would do nothing to help families pay for college, or a plan that would privatize Social Security and gamble your retirement? 

It's not because John McCain doesn't care. It's because John McCain doesn't get it. 

For over two decades, he's subscribed to that old, discredited Republican philosophy - give more and more to those with the most and hope that prosperity trickles down to everyone else. In Washington, they call this the Ownership Society, but what it really means is - you're on your own. Out of work? Tough luck. No health care? The market will fix it. Born into poverty? Pull yourself up by your own bootstraps - even if you don't have boots. You're on your own. 

Well, it's time for them to own their failure. It's time for us to change America. 

You see, we Democrats have a very different measure of what constitutes progress in this country. 

We measure progress by how many people can find a job that pays the mortgage, whether you can put a little extra money away at the end of each month so you can someday watch your child receive her college diploma. We measure progress in the 23 million new jobs that were created when Bill Clinton was President - when the average American family saw its income go up $7,500 instead of down $2,000 like it has under George Bush. 

We measure the strength of our economy not by the number of billionaires we have or the profits of the Fortune 500, but by whether someone with a good idea can take a risk and start a new business, or whether the waitress who lives on tips can take a day off to look after a sick kid without losing her job - an economy that honors the dignity of work. 

The fundamentals we use to measure economic strength are whether we are living up to that fundamental promise that has made this country great - a promise - that is the only reason I am standing here tonight. 

Because in the faces of those young veterans who come back from Iraq and Afghanistan, I see my grandfather, who signed up after Pearl Harbor, marched in Patton's Army, and was rewarded by a grateful nation with the chance to go to college on the GI Bill. 

In the face of that young student who sleeps just three hours before working the night shift, I think about my mom, who raised my sister and me on her own while she worked and earned her degree; who once turned to food stamps but was still able to send us to the best schools in the country with the help of student loans and scholarships. 

When I listen to another worker tell me that his factory has shut down, I remember all those men and women on the South Side of Chicago who I stood by and fought for two decades ago after the local steel plant closed. 

And when I hear a woman talk about the difficulties of starting her own business, I think about my grandmother, who worked her way up from the secretarial pool to middle-management, despite years of being passed over for promotions because she was a woman. She's the one who taught me about hard work. She's the one who put off buying a new car or a new dress for herself so that I could have a better life. She poured everything she had into me. And although she can no longer travel, I know that she's watching tonight, and that tonight is her night as well. 

I don't know what kind of lives John McCain thinks that celebrities lead, but this has been mine. These are my heroes. Theirs are the stories that shaped me. And it is on their behalf that I intend to win this election and keep our promise alive as President of the United States. 

What is that promise?

It's a promise that says each of us has the freedom to make of our own lives what we will, but that we also have the obligation to treat each other with dignity and respect. 

It's a promise that says the market should reward drive and innovation and generate growth, but that businesses should live up to their responsibilities to create American jobs, look out for American workers, and play by the rules of the road. 

Ours is a promise that says government cannot solve all our problems, but what it should do is that which we cannot do for ourselves - protect us from harm and provide every child a decent education, keep our water clean and our toys safe. invest in new schools and new roads and new science and technology. 

Our government should work for us, not against us. It should help us, not hurt us. It should ensure opportunity not just for those with the most money and influence, but for every American who's willing to work. 

That's the promise of America - the idea that we are responsible for ourselves, but that we also rise or fall as one nation, the fundamental belief that I am my brother's keeper, I am my sister's keeper. 

That's the promise we need to keep. That's the change we need right now. So let me spell out exactly what that change would mean if I am President. 

Change means a tax code that doesn't reward the lobbyists who wrote it, but the American workers and small businesses who deserve it. 

Unlike John McCain, I will stop giving tax breaks to corporations that ship jobs overseas, and I will start giving them to companies that create good jobs right here in America. 

I will eliminate capital gains taxes for the small businesses and the start-ups that will create the high-wage, high-tech jobs of tomorrow. 

I will cut taxes - cut taxes - for 95% of all working families. Because in an economy like this, the last thing we should do is raise taxes on the middle-class. 

And for the sake of our economy, our security, and the future of our planet, I will set a clear goal as President: in ten years, we will finally end our dependence on oil from the Middle East. 

Washington's been talking about our oil addiction for the last thirty years, and John McCain has been there for twenty-six of them. In that time, he's said no to higher fuel-efficiency standards for cars, no to investments in renewable energy, no to renewable fuels. And today, we import triple the amount of oil as the day that Senator McCain took office. 

Now is the time to end this addiction, and to understand that drilling is a stop-gap measure, not a long-term solution. Not even close. 

As President, I will tap our natural gas reserves, invest in clean coal technology, and find ways to safely harness nuclear power. I'll help our auto companies re-tool, so that the fuel-efficient cars of the future are built right here in America. I'll make it easier for the American people to afford these new cars. And I'll invest 150 billion dollars over the next decade in affordable, renewable sources of energy - wind power and solar power and the next generation of bio-fuels - an investment that will lead to new industries and five million new jobs that pay well and can't ever be outsourced. 

America, now is not the time for small plans.

Now is the time to finally meet our moral obligation to provide every child a world-class education, because it will take nothing less to compete in the global economy. Michelle and I are only here tonight because we were given a chance at an education. And I will not settle for an America where some kids don't have that chance. I'll invest in early childhood education. I'll recruit an army of new teachers, and pay them higher salaries and give them more support. And in exchange, I'll ask for higher standards and more accountability. And we will keep our promise to every young American - if you commit to serving your community or your country, we will make sure you can afford a college education. 

Now is the time to finally keep the promise of affordable, accessible health care for every single American. If you have health care, my plan will lower your premiums. If you don't, you'll be able to get the same kind of coverage that members of Congress give themselves. And as someone who watched my mother argue with insurance companies while she lay in bed dying of cancer, I will make certain those companies stop discriminating against those who are sick and need care the most. 

Now is the time to help families with paid sick days and better family leave, because nobody in America should have to choose between keeping their jobs and caring for a sick child or ailing parent. 

Now is the time to change our bankruptcy laws, so that your pensions are protected ahead of CEO bonuses; and the time to protect Social Security for future generations. 

And now is the time to keep the promise of equal pay for an equal day's work, because I want my daughters to have exactly the same opportunities as your sons. 

Now, many of these plans will cost money, which is why I've laid out how I'll pay for every dime - by closing corporate loopholes and tax havens that don't help America grow. But I will also go through the federal budget, line by line, eliminating programs that no longer work and making the ones we do need work better and cost less - because we cannot meet twenty-first century challenges with a twentieth century bureaucracy. 

And Democrats, we must also admit that fulfilling America's promise will require more than just money. It will require a renewed sense of responsibility from each of us to recover what John F. Kennedy called our "intellectual and moral strength." Yes, government must lead on energy independence, but each of us must do our part to make our homes and businesses more efficient. Yes, we must provide more ladders to success for young men who fall into lives of crime and despair. But we must also admit that programs alone can't replace parents, that government can't turn off the television and make a child do her homework, that fathers must take more responsibility for providing the love and guidance their children need. 

Individual responsibility and mutual responsibility - that's the essence of America's promise. 

And just as we keep our keep our promise to the next generation here at home, so must we keep America's promise abroad. If John McCain wants to have a debate about who has the temperament, and judgment, to serve as the next Commander-in-Chief, that's a debate I'm ready to have. 

For while Senator McCain was turning his sights to Iraq just days after 9/11, I stood up and opposed this war, knowing that it would distract us from the real threats we face. When John McCain said we could just "muddle through" in Afghanistan, I argued for more resources and more troops to finish the fight against the terrorists who actually attacked us on 9/11, and made clear that we must take out Osama bin Laden and his lieutenants if we have them in our sights. John McCain likes to say that he'll follow bin Laden to the Gates of Hell - but he won't even go to the cave where he lives. 

And today, as my call for a time frame to remove our troops from Iraq has been echoed by the Iraqi government and even the Bush Administration, even after we learned that Iraq has a $79 billion surplus while we're wallowing in deficits, John McCain stands alone in his stubborn refusal to end a misguided war. 

That's not the judgment we need. That won't keep America safe. We need a President who can face the threats of the future, not keep grasping at the ideas of the past. 

You don't defeat a terrorist network that operates in eighty countries by occupying Iraq. You don't protect Israel and deter Iran just by talking tough in Washington. You can't truly stand up for Georgia when you've strained our oldest alliances. If John McCain wants to follow George Bush with more tough talk and bad strategy, that is his choice - but it is not the change we need. 

We are the party of Roosevelt. We are the party of Kennedy. So don't tell me that Democrats won't defend this country. Don't tell me that Democrats won't keep us safe. The Bush-McCain foreign policy has squandered the legacy that generations of Americans - Democrats and Republicans - have built, and we are here to restore that legacy. 

As Commander-in-Chief, I will never hesitate to defend this nation, but I will only send our troops into harm's way with a clear mission and a sacred commitment to give them the equipment they need in battle and the care and benefits they deserve when they come home. 

I will end this war in Iraq responsibly, and finish the fight against al Qaeda and the Taliban in Afghanistan. I will rebuild our military to meet future conflicts. But I will also renew the tough, direct diplomacy that can prevent Iran from obtaining nuclear weapons and curb Russian aggression. I will build new partnerships to defeat the threats of the 21st century: terrorism and nuclear proliferation, poverty and genocide, climate change and disease. And I will restore our moral standing, so that America is once again that last, best hope for all who are called to the cause of freedom, who long for lives of peace, and who yearn for a better future. 

These are the policies I will pursue. And in the weeks ahead, I look forward to debating them with John McCain. 

But what I will not do is suggest that the Senator takes his positions for political purposes. Because one of the things that we have to change in our politics is the idea that people cannot disagree without challenging each other's character and patriotism. 

The times are too serious; the stakes are too high for this same partisan playbook. So let us agree that patriotism has no party. I love this country, and so do you, and so does John McCain. The men and women who serve in our battlefields may be Democrats and Republicans and Independents, but they have fought together and bled together and some died together under the same proud flag. They have not served a Red America or a Blue America - they have served the United States of America. 

So I've got news for you, John McCain. We all put our country first. 

America, our work will not be easy. The challenges we face require tough choices, and Democrats as well as Republicans will need to cast off the worn-out ideas and politics of the past. For part of what has been lost these past eight years can't just be measured by lost wages or bigger trade deficits. What has also been lost is our sense of common purpose - our sense of higher purpose. And that's what we have to restore. 

We may not agree on abortion, but surely we can agree on reducing the number of unwanted pregnancies in this country. The reality of gun ownership may be different for hunters in rural Ohio than for those plagued by gang-violence in Cleveland, but don't tell me we can't uphold the Second Amendment while keeping AK-47s out of the hands of criminals. I know there are differences on same-sex marriage, but surely we can agree that our gay and lesbian brothers and sisters deserve to visit the person they love in the hospital and to live lives free of discrimination. Passions fly on immigration, but I don't know anyone who benefits when a mother is separated from her infant child or an employer undercuts American wages by hiring illegal workers. This too is part of America's promise - the promise of a democracy where we can find the strength and grace to bridge divides and unite in common effort. 

I know there are those who dismiss such beliefs as happy talk. They claim that our insistence on something larger, something firmer and more honest in our public life is just a Trojan Horse for higher taxes and the abandonment of traditional values. And that's to be expected. Because if you don't have any fresh ideas, then you use stale tactics to scare the voters. If you don't have a record to run on, then you paint your opponent as someone people should run from. 

You make a big election about small things.

And you know what - it's worked before. Because it feeds into the cynicism we all have about government. When Washington doesn't work, all its promises seem empty. If your hopes have been dashed again and again, then it's best to stop hoping, and settle for what you already know. 

I get it. I realize that I am not the likeliest candidate for this office. I don't fit the typical pedigree, and I haven't spent my career in the halls of Washington. 

But I stand before you tonight because all across America something is stirring. What the nay-sayers don't understand is that this election has never been about me. It's been about you. 

For eighteen long months, you have stood up, one by one, and said enough to the politics of the past. You understand that in this election, the greatest risk we can take is to try the same old politics with the same old players and expect a different result. You have shown what history teaches us - that at defining moments like this one, the change we need doesn't come from Washington. Change comes to Washington. Change happens because the American people demand it - because they rise up and insist on new ideas and new leadership, a new politics for a new time. 

America, this is one of those moments.

I believe that as hard as it will be, the change we need is coming. Because I've seen it. Because I've lived it. I've seen it in Illinois, when we provided health care to more children and moved more families from welfare to work. I've seen it in Washington, when we worked across party lines to open up government and hold lobbyists more accountable, to give better care for our veterans and keep nuclear weapons out of terrorist hands. 

And I've seen it in this campaign. In the young people who voted for the first time, and in those who got involved again after a very long time. In the Republicans who never thought they'd pick up a Democratic ballot, but did. I've seen it in the workers who would rather cut their hours back a day than see their friends lose their jobs, in the soldiers who re-enlist after losing a limb, in the good neighbors who take a stranger in when a hurricane strikes and the floodwaters rise. 

This country of ours has more wealth than any nation, but that's not what makes us rich. We have the most powerful military on Earth, but that's not what makes us strong. Our universities and our culture are the envy of the world, but that's not what keeps the world coming to our shores. 

Instead, it is that American spirit - that American promise - that pushes us forward even when the path is uncertain, that binds us together in spite of our differences, that makes us fix our eye not on what is seen but what is unseen, that better place around the bend. 

That promise is our greatest inheritance. It's a promise I make to my daughters when I tuck them in at night, and a promise that you make to yours - a promise that has led immigrants to cross oceans and pioneers to travel west; a promise that led workers to picket lines, and women to reach for the ballot. 

And it is that promise that forty five years ago today, brought Americans from every corner of this land to stand together on a Mall in Washington, before Lincoln's Memorial, and hear a young preacher from Georgia speak of his dream. 

The men and women who gathered there could've heard many things. They could've heard words of anger and discord. They could've been told to succumb to the fear and frustration of so many dreams deferred. 

But what the people heard instead - people of every creed and color, from every walk of life - is that in America, our destiny is inextricably linked. That together, our dreams can be one. 

"We cannot walk alone," the preacher cried. "And as we walk, we must make the pledge that we shall always march ahead. We cannot turn back." 

America, we cannot turn back. Not with so much work to be done. Not with so many children to educate, and so many veterans to care for. Not with an economy to fix and cities to rebuild and farms to save. Not with so many families to protect and so many lives to mend. America, we cannot turn back. We cannot walk alone. At this moment, in this election, we must pledge once more to march into the future. Let us keep that promise - that American promise - and in the words of Scripture hold firmly, without wavering, to the hope that we confess. 

Thank you, and God Bless the United States of America. 

Questions

1. What do you think of Barack Obama’s speech?

2. What were the main points of his speech?

3. Do you think his policies will make a difference?
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If there is anyone out there who still doubts that America is a place where all things are possible, who still wonders if the dream of our founders is alive in our time, who still questions the power of our democracy, tonight is your answer.

It’s the answer told by lines that stretched around schools and churches in numbers this nation has never seen. by people who waited three hours and four hours, many for the very first time in their lives, because they believed that this time must be different. that their voice could be that difference.

It’s the answer spoken by young and old, rich and poor, Democrat and Republican, black, white, Latino, Asian, Native American, gay, straight, disabled and not disabled - Americans who sent a message to the world that we have never been a collection of Red States and Blue States: we are, and always will be, the United States of America.

It’s the answer that led those who have been told for so long by so many to be cynical, and fearful, and doubtful of what we can achieve to put their hands on the arc of history and bend it once more toward the hope of a better day.

It’s been a long time coming, but tonight, because of what we did on this day, in this election, at this defining moment, change has come to America.

I just received a very gracious call from Senator McCain. He fought long and hard in this campaign, and he’s fought even longer and harder for the country he loves. He has endured sacrifices for America that most of us cannot begin to imagine, and we are better off for the service rendered by this brave and selfless leader. I congratulate him and Governor Palin for all they have achieved, and I look forward to working with them to renew this nation’s promise in the months ahead.

I want to thank my partner in this journey, a man who campaigned from his heart and spoke for the men and women he grew up with on the streets of Scranton and rode with on that train home to Delaware, the Vice President-elect of the United States, Joe Biden.

I would not be standing here tonight without the unyielding support of my best friend for the last sixteen years, the rock of our family and the love of my life, our nation’s next First Lady, Michelle Obama. Sasha and Malia, I love you both so much, and you have earned the new puppy that’s coming with us to the White House. And while she’s no longer with us, I know my grandmother is watching, along with the family that made me who I am. I miss them tonight, and know that my debt to them is beyond measure.

To my campaign manager David Plouffe, my chief strategist David Axelrod, and the best campaign team ever assembled in the history of politics - you made this happen, and I am forever grateful for what you’ve sacrificed to get it done.

But above all, I will never forget who this victory truly belongs to - it belongs to you.

I was never the likeliest candidate for this office. We didn’t start with much money or many endorsements. Our campaign was not hatched in the halls of Washington - it began in the backyards of Des Moines and the living rooms of Concord and the front porches of Charleston.

It was built by working men and women who dug into what little savings they had to give five dollars and ten dollars and twenty dollars to this cause. It grew strength from the young people who rejected the myth of their generation’s apathy, who left their homes and their families for jobs that offered little pay and less sleep, from the not-so-young people who braved the bitter cold and scorching heat to knock on the doors of perfect strangers, from the millions of Americans who volunteered, and organized, and proved that more than two centuries later, a government of the people, by the people and for the people has not perished from this Earth. This is your victory. I know you didn’t do this just to win an election and I know you didn’t do it for me. You did it because you understand the enormity of the task that lies ahead. For even as we celebrate tonight, we know the challenges that tomorrow will bring are the greatest of our lifetime - two wars, a planet in peril, the worst financial crisis in a century. Even as we stand here tonight, we know there are brave Americans waking up in the deserts of Iraq and the mountains of Afghanistan to risk their lives for us. There are mothers and fathers who will lie awake after their children fall asleep and wonder how they’ll make the mortgage, or pay their doctor’s bills, or save enough for college. There is new energy to harness and new jobs to be created; new schools to build and threats to meet and alliances to repair.

The road ahead will be long. Our climb will be steep. We may not get there in one year or even one term, but America – I have never been more hopeful than I am tonight that we will get there. I promise you - we as a people will get there.

There will be setbacks and false starts. There are many who won’t agree with every decision or policy I make as President, and we know that government can’t solve every problem. But I will always be honest with you about the challenges we face. I will listen to you, especially when we disagree. And above all, I will ask you join in the work of remaking this nation the only way it’s been done in America for two-hundred and twenty-one years - block by block, brick by brick, calloused hand by calloused hand.

What began twenty-one months ago in the depths of winter must not end on this autumn night. This victory alone is not the change we seek - it is only the chance for us to make that change. And that cannot happen if we go back to the way things were. It cannot happen without you.

So let us summon a new spirit of patriotism, of service and responsibility where each of us resolves to pitch in and work harder and look after not only ourselves, but each other. Let us remember that if this financial crisis taught us anything, it’s that we cannot have a thriving Wall Street while Main Street suffers - in this country, we rise or fall as one nation, as one people.

Let us resist the temptation to fall back on the same partisanship and pettiness and immaturity that has poisoned our politics for so long. Let us remember that it was a man from this state who first carried the banner of the Republican Party to the White House - a party founded on the values of self-reliance, individual liberty, and national unity. Those are values we all share, and while the Democratic Party has won a great victory tonight, we do so with a measure of humility and determination to heal the divides that have held back our progress. As Lincoln said to a nation far more divided than ours, “We are not enemies, but friends…though passion may have strained it must not break our bonds of affection.” And to those Americans whose support I have yet to earn - I may not have won your vote, but I hear your voices, I need your help, and I will be your President too.

And to all those watching tonight from beyond our shores, from parliaments and palaces to those who are huddled around radios in the forgotten corners of our world - our stories are singular, but our destiny is shared, and a new dawn of American leadership is at hand. To those who would tear this world down - we will defeat you. To those who seek peace and security - we support you. And to all those who have wondered if America’s beacon still burns as bright - tonight we proved once more that the true strength of our nation comes not from our the might of our arms or the scale of our wealth, but from the enduring power of our ideals: democracy, liberty, opportunity, and unyielding hope.

For that is the true genius of America - that America can change. Our union can be perfected. And what we have already achieved gives us hope for what we can and must achieve tomorrow.

This election had many firsts and many stories that will be told for generations. But one that’s on my mind tonight is about a woman who cast her ballot in Atlanta. She’s a lot like the millions of others who stood in line to make their voice heard in this election except for one thing - Ann Nixon Cooper is 106 years old.

She was born just a generation past slavery, a time when there were no cars on the road or planes in the sky; when someone like her couldn’t vote for two reasons - because she was a woman and because of the color of her skin.

And tonight, I think about all that she’s seen throughout her century in America - the heartache and the hope, the struggle and the progress, the times we were told that we can’t, and the people who pressed on with that American creed: Yes we can.

At a time when women’s voices were silenced and their hopes dismissed, she lived to see them stand up and speak out and reach for the ballot. Yes, we can.

When there was despair in the dust bowl and depression across the land, she saw a nation conquer fear itself with a New Deal, new jobs and a new sense of common purpose. Yes, we can.

When the bombs fell on our harbor and tyranny threatened the world, she was there to witness a generation rise to greatness and a democracy was saved. Yes, we can.

She was there for the buses in Montgomery, the hoses in Birmingham, a bridge in Selma, and a preacher from Atlanta who told a people that “We Shall Overcome.” Yes, we can.

A man touched down on the moon, a wall came down in Berlin, a world was connected by our own science and imagination. And this year, in this election, she touched her finger to a screen, and cast her vote, because after 106 years in America, through the best of times and the darkest of hours, she knows how America can change. Yes, we can.

America, we have come so far. We have seen so much. But there is so much more to do. So tonight, let us ask ourselves – if our children should live to see the next century, if my daughters should be so lucky to live as long as Ann Nixon Cooper, what change will they see? What progress will we have made?

This is our chance to answer that call. This is our moment. This is our time - to put our people back to work and open doors of opportunity for our kids, to restore prosperity and promote the cause of peace, to reclaim the American Dream and reaffirm that fundamental truth - that out of many, we are one; that while we breathe, we hope, and where we are met with cynicism, and doubt, and those who tell us that we can’t, we will respond with that timeless creed that sums up the spirit of a people:

Yes, We Can. Thank you, God bless you, and may God Bless the United States of America.

Questions

1. What do you think of Barack’s speech?

2. What were the main points of his speech?

3. Discuss the historical importance of his victory.

The inaugural address

Delivered on 20 January, 2009, at Washington D.C.

My fellow citizens:

I stand here today humbled by the task before us, grateful for the trust you have bestowed, mindful of the sacrifices borne by our ancestors. I thank President Bush for his service to our nation, as well as the generosity and cooperation he has shown throughout this transition.

Forty-four Americans have now taken the presidential oath. The words have been spoken during rising tides of prosperity and the still waters of peace. Yet, every so often the oath is taken amidst gathering clouds and raging storms. At these moments, America has carried on not simply because of the skill or vision of those in high office, but because we the people have remained faithful to the ideals of our forebears, and true to our founding documents.

So it has been. So it must be with this generation of Americans.

That we are in the midst of crisis is now well understood. Our nation is at war, against a far-reaching network of violence and hatred. Our economy is badly weakened, a consequence of greed and irresponsibility on the part of some, but also our collective failure to make hard choices and prepare the nation for a new age. Homes have been lost, jobs shed, businesses shuttered. Our health care is too costly, our schools fail too many, and each day brings further evidence that the ways we use energy strengthen our adversaries and threaten our planet.

These are the indicators of crisis, subject to data and statistics. Less measurable but no less profound is a sapping of confidence across our land - a nagging fear that America's decline is inevitable, and that the next generation must lower its sights.

Today I say to you that the challenges we face are real. They are serious and they are many. They will not be met easily or in a short span of time. But know this, America - they will be met.

On this day, we gather because we have chosen hope over fear, unity of purpose over conflict and discord.

On this day, we come to proclaim an end to the petty grievances and false promises, the recriminations and worn out dogmas, that for far too long have strangled our politics.

We remain a young nation, but in the words of Scripture, the time has come to set aside childish things. The time has come to reaffirm our enduring spirit; to choose our better history, to carry forward that precious gift, that noble idea, passed on from generation to generation: the God-given promise that all are equal, all are free and all deserve a chance to pursue their full measure of happiness.

In reaffirming the greatness of our nation, we understand that greatness is never a given. It must be earned. Our journey has never been one of shortcuts or settling for less. It has not been the path for the faint-hearted - for those who prefer leisure over work, or seek only the pleasures of riches and fame. Rather, it has been the risk-takers, the doers, the makers of things - some celebrated but more often men and women obscure in their labor, who have carried us up the long, rugged path towards prosperity and freedom.

For us, they packed up their few worldly possessions and traveled across oceans in search of a new life.

For us, they toiled in sweatshops and settled the West; endured the lash of the whip and plowed the hard earth.

For us, they fought and died, in places like Concord and Gettysburg; Normandy and Khe Sanh.

Time and again these men and women struggled and sacrificed and worked till their hands were raw so that we might live a better life. They saw America as bigger than the sum of our individual ambitions, greater than all the differences of birth or wealth or faction.

This is the journey we continue today. We remain the most prosperous, powerful nation on Earth. Our workers are no less productive than when this crisis began. Our minds are no less inventive, our goods and services no less needed than they were last week or last month or last year. Our capacity remains undiminished. But our time of standing pat, of protecting narrow interests and putting off unpleasant decisions — that time has surely passed. Starting today, we must pick ourselves up, dust ourselves off, and begin again the work of remaking America.

For everywhere we look, there is work to be done. The state of the economy calls for action, bold and swift, and we will act - not only to create new jobs, but to lay a new foundation for growth. We will build the roads and bridges, the electric grids and digital lines that feed our commerce and bind us together. We will restore science to its rightful place, and wield technology's wonders to raise health care's quality and lower its cost. We will harness the sun and the winds and the soil to fuel our cars and run our factories. And we will transform our schools and colleges and universities to meet the demands of a new age. All this we can do. All this we will do. 

Now, there are some who question the scale of our ambitions - who suggest that our system cannot tolerate too many big plans. Their memories are short. For they have forgotten what this country has already done; what free men and women can achieve when imagination is joined to common purpose, and necessity to courage. 

What the cynics fail to understand is that the ground has shifted beneath them - that the stale political arguments that have consumed us for so long no longer apply. The question we ask today is not whether our government is too big or too small, but whether it works - whether it helps families find jobs at a decent wage, care they can afford, a retirement that is dignified. Where the answer is yes, we intend to move forward. Where the answer is no, programs will end. Those of us who manage the public's dollars will be held to account - to spend wisely, reform bad habits, and do our business in the light of day - because only then can we restore the vital trust between a people and their government. 

Nor is the question before us whether the market is a force for good or ill. Its power to generate wealth and expand freedom is unmatched, but this crisis has reminded us that without a watchful eye, the market can spin out of control - and that a nation cannot prosper long when it favors only the prosperous. The success of our economy has always depended not just on the size of our gross domestic product, but on the reach of our prosperity; on our ability to extend opportunity to every willing heart - not out of charity, but because it is the surest route to our common good. 

As for our common defense, we reject as false the choice between our safety and our ideals. Our founding fathers, our found fathers, faced with perils we can scarcely imagine, drafted a charter to assure the rule of law and the rights of man, a charter expanded by the blood of generations. Those ideals still light the world, and we will not give them up for expedience's sake. And so to all the other peoples and governments who are watching today, from the grandest capitals to the small village where my father was born: know that America is a friend of each nation and every man, woman, and child who seeks a future of peace and dignity, and that we are ready to lead once more. 

Recall that earlier generations faced down fascism and communism not just with missiles and tanks, but with sturdy alliances and enduring convictions. They understood that our power alone cannot protect us, nor does it entitle us to do as we please. Instead, they knew that our power grows through its prudent use,our security emanates from the justness of our cause, the force of our example, the tempering qualities of humility and restraint. 

We are the keepers of this legacy. Guided by these principles once more, we can meet those new threats that demand even greater effort - even greater cooperation and understanding between nations. We will begin to responsibly leave Iraq to its people, and forge a hard-earned peace in Afghanistan. With old friends and former foes, we will work tirelessly to lessen the nuclear threat, and roll back the specter of a warming planet. We will not apologize for our way of life, nor will we waver in its defense, and for those who seek to advance their aims by inducing terror and slaughtering innocents, we say to you now that our spirit is stronger and cannot be broken; you cannot outlast us, and we will defeat you. 

For we know that our patchwork heritage is a strength, not a weakness. We are a nation of Christians and Muslims, Jews and Hindus - and non-believers. We are shaped by every language and culture, drawn from every end of this Earth, and because we have tasted the bitter swill of civil war and segregation, and emerged from that dark chapter stronger and more united, we cannot help but believe that the old hatreds shall someday pass, that the lines of tribe shall soon dissolve, that as the world grows smaller, our common humanity shall reveal itself, and that America must play its role in ushering in a new era of peace. 

To the Muslim world, we seek a new way forward, based on mutual interest and mutual respect. To those leaders around the globe who seek to sow conflict, or blame their society's ills on the West - know that your people will judge you on what you can build, not what you destroy. To those who cling to power through corruption and deceit and the silencing of dissent, know that you are on the wrong side of history; but that we will extend a hand if you are willing to unclench your fist. 

To the people of poor nations, we pledge to work alongside you to make your farms flourish and let clean waters flow; to nourish starved bodies and feed hungry minds. And to those nations like ours that enjoy relative plenty, we say we can no longer afford indifference to the suffering outside our borders, nor can we consume the world's resources without regard to effect. For the world has changed, and we must change with it. 

As we consider the road that unfolds before us, we remember with humble gratitude those brave Americans who, at this very hour, patrol far-off deserts and distant mountains. They have something to tell us, just as the fallen heroes who lie in Arlington whisper through the ages. We honor them not only because they are guardians of our liberty, but because they embody the spirit of service; a willingness to find meaning in something greater than themselves. And yet, at this moment - a moment that will define a generation - it is precisely this spirit that must inhabit us all. 

For as much as government can do and must do, it is ultimately the faith and determination of the American people upon which this nation relies. It is the kindness to take in a stranger when the levees break, the selflessness of workers who would rather cut their hours than see a friend lose their job which sees us through our darkest hours. It is the firefighter's courage to storm a stairway filled with smoke, but also a parent's willingness to nurture a child, that finally decides our fate. 

Our challenges may be new. The instruments with which we meet them may be new. But those values upon which our success depends - hard work and honesty, courage and fair play, tolerance and curiosity, loyalty and patriotism - these things are old. These things are true. They have been the quiet force of progress throughout our history. What is demanded then is a return to these truths. What is required of us now is a new era of responsibility - a recognition, on the part of every American, that we have duties to ourselves, our nation, and the world, duties that we do not grudgingly accept but rather seize gladly, firm in the knowledge that there is nothing so satisfying to the spirit, so defining of our character, than giving our all to a difficult task. 

This is the price and the promise of citizenship. 

This is the source of our confidence - the knowledge that God calls on us to shape an uncertain destiny. 

This is the meaning of our liberty and our creed - why men and women and children of every race and every faith can join in celebration across this magnificent Mall, and why a man whose father less than sixty years ago might not have been served at a local restaurant can now stand before you to take a most sacred oath. 

So let us mark this day with remembrance, of who we are and how far we have traveled. In the year of America's birth, in the coldest of months, a small band of patriots huddled by dying campfires on the shores of an icy river. The capital was abandoned. The enemy was advancing. The snow was stained with blood. At a moment when the outcome of our revolution was most in doubt, the father of our nation ordered these words be read to the people: 

"Let it be told to the future world ... that in the depth of winter, when nothing but hope and virtue could survive...that the city and the country, alarmed at one common danger, came forth to meet (it)." 

America, in the face of our common dangers, in this winter of our hardship, let us remember these timeless words. With hope and virtue, let us brave once more the icy currents, and endure what storms may come. Let it be said by our children's children that when we were tested we refused to let this journey end, that we did not turn back nor did we falter; and with eyes fixed on the horizon and God's grace upon us, we carried forth that great gift of freedom and delivered it safely to future generations. 

Thank you. God bless you. And God bless the United States of America

Questions

1. What were the main points of Obama’s inaugural address?

2. Did you hear Obama deliver his speech? How did you feel?

Barack Hussein Obama- Time Line
	DATE OF BIRTH
	4 August 1961

	MOVED TO INDONESIA
	1968

	RETURNED TO HAWAII
	1971

	COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY
	1981

	GRADUATED FROM COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY
	1983

	MOVED TO CHICAGO TO WORK WITH DCP
	1985

	JOINED HARVARD LAW SCHOOL
	1988

	J.D. FROM HARVARD LAW SCHOOL
	1991

	MARRIED MICHELLE ROBINSON
	18 October 1992

	ELECTED TO ILLINOIS STATE SENATE
	1996

	RE-ELECTED
	1998 and 2002

	ELECTED TO U.S. SENATE
	2004

	NOMINATED AS DEMOCRATIC PRESIDENTIAL CANDIDATE
	3 June 2008

	ELECTED THE 44TH PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES
	4 November 2008


George W Bush
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2001-2009
George Walker Bush was born on July 6, 1946, in New Haven, Connecticut to George H W Bush and Barbara Bush. He served as the 43rd President of the United States.
George Bush’s childhood was spent in Midlands and Houston, Texas, where his father worked in the oil business. The family soon prospered and his father made his fortune in oil. George Bush was the eldest in his family which included five other siblings - Jeb, Robin, Neil, Marvin and Dorothy. Robin died of leukemia as a child.
George Bush was an athletic child and an average student. He attended an all-boys private high school in Andover, Massachusetts. At Andover he displayed a laid-back and frivolous attitude that was in total contrast to the school’s highly competitive nature.
George Bush attended Yale University from 1964 to 1968 and received a Bachelor's degree in History in 1968. At Yale, his people-friendly nature was at the fore as he became a friend of ‘preppies’ and public school graduates. In 1970 his application to the University Of Texas School Of Law was rejected, but in 1973 he was accepted at Harvard University, where he earned an MBA.
In 1977, George Bush met Laura Welch, a schoolteacher and librarian. They married on November 5 after a three month courtship. In 1981 Laura gave birth to twins, Jenna and Barbara. The family settled in Midland, Texas. 
Initially George Bush was not interested in a political career and worked in the oil industry. But in 1978 he decided to run for the House of Representatives from Texas' 19th congressional district. He lost the election by 6000 votes and returned to the oil industry. 
In 1988 his father, George H W Bush started his campaign for the U. S. presidency and George moved his family to Washington, D.C. He worked as a campaign adviser for his father and also served as liaison to the media. After his father’s successful campaign he returned to Texas. He also purchased a share in the Texas Rangers baseball franchise in April 1989, and served as managing general partner for five years.
In 1994, George Bush campaigned as governor of Texas. He won the elections after campaigning vigorously for welfare reform, tort reform, crime reduction, and education improvement. He also promised to sign a bill allowing Texans to obtain permits to carry concealed weapons. He signed the bill after becoming governor. 
In 1998, Bush won re-election with a 69 percent of the vote, becoming the first governor in Texas history to be elected to two consecutive four-year terms. His re-election built up attention on him and he decided to seek the Republican nomination for the presidency.

In June 1999, George Bush announced his candidacy for President of the United States. He overcame John McCain, Alan Keyes, Steve Forbes, Gary Bauer, Orrin Hatch, Elizabeth Dole, Dan Quayle, Pat Buchanan, Lamar Alexander, John Kasich and Robert C. Smith to become the presidential candidate. In the end, his major contender was McCain. His democratic contender was Al Gore.
The elections turned out to be controversial due to the Florida recount. On 9 December 2000, the U. S. Supreme Court reversed a Florida Supreme Court ruling ordering a third count. The Supreme Court stopped an ordered statewide hand recount as it said that the use of different standards among Florida's counties violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The machine recount made George Bush the winner of the Florida vote by a margin of 537 votes out of six million cast. 
George Bush also received 271 electoral votes to Gore's 266. However, he lost the popular vote by 543,895 votes. Thus he became one of three Presidents elected without receiving a plurality of the popular vote. 

His presidency witnessed the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and one of the worst natural disasters in US history, Hurricane Katrina. 
In response to the September 11 attacks, George Bush announced a war on terror and ordered an invasion of Afghanistan to throw out the Taliban regime which supported Osama Bin Laden. He also asserted that an "axis of evil" consisting of North Korea, Iran, and Iraq was "arming to threaten the peace of the world" and "posed a grave and growing danger".
He also oversaw the coalition of 20 willing nations to fight the war on terror and invaded Iraq on March 20, 2003.
His swift reaction to the attacks on America built up his popularity ratings and he was re-elected as President in 2004. He also won the popular vote - by 51% to 48% - and was comfortably ahead in the Electoral College. 

Though his second term was due to the ascendancy of his popularity, but he soon lost out due to the ongoing conflict in Iraq. 2007 also saw the start of a downturn in the US economy with the government takeover of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the collapse of Lehman Brothers in 2008. These events led to a steady decline in his popularity and he left office as one of the least popular presidents in US history.
QUESTIONS
1. When and where was George W Bush born?

2. Describe his childhood.

3. How did George Bush start his foray in politics? Was he successful in the beginning? 
4. Describe his immediate family.

5. Describe the major events in his political career. How did they help shape his policies?

6. What was the controversy during the 2000 elections? 

7. Who were his contenders during the 2000 elections?

8. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

9. How did September 11 affect his policies? Do you agree with the measures he took? Explain.

10. How do you rank George Bush as president? Why?

Bill clinton
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1993-2001

Bill Clinton, the 42nd President of the United States, was born William Jefferson Blythe III, on August 19, 1946 in Hope, Arkansas. His father died in an automobile accident three months before he was born. His mother Virginia Dell Cassidy went to New Orleans shortly after his birth to study nursing and young Bill was brought up by his maternal grandparents, Eldridge and Edith Cassidy, who owned and operated a small grocery store.

 In 1950, Virginia returned to Hope and married Roger Clinton. The family moved to Hot Springs, where Roger owned an automobile dealership. Bill later recounted that his step-father was an alcoholic and a gambler who often abused his mother and half-brother Roger.
As a student, Bill loved reading and had keen interest in music. He was a part of the school chorus and also played the tenor saxophone. He was also active as a student leader and by the time he was sixteen. he decided that public service was the vocation for him.
In later life, he distinguished two events that led him to choose public service. They were - a visit to the White House in 1963 to meet the president John F Kennedy as a Boys Nation senator, and Martin Luther King’s  I Have A Dream speech.
Bill Clinton excelled academically and due to his scholarships, he attended the Edmund A. Walsh School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University in Washington, D.C. In1968, he graduated as a Bachelor of Science in Foreign Service (B.S.F.S.). His early interest in politics led him to work as an intern for Arkansas Senator J. William Fulbright in 1967. He later won a Rhodes scholarship to University College, Oxford where he studied Government. His academic successes also included the Yale Law School where he obtained a Juris Doctor (J.D.) degree in 1973. It was at Yale that he met Hillary Rodham. They married in 1975.
In 1974, Bill Clinton made his first political attempt by aiming for the House of Representatives. He met with defeat, but in 1976 he became Arkansas’s Attorney General.
In 1978, Bill became the youngest governor in the country when he was elected as the Governor of Arkansas. 
He was re-elected as governor after being out of office for four years and for ten years after that kept his position. His policies helped Arkansas develop one of the best education systems in America. His personality and achievements made him a leading figure among the New Democrats and he also served as Chair of the National Governors Association from 1986 to 1987. Due to his youthful appearance he was often referred to as the Boy Governor.
He won the 1992 presidential elections and displaced the incumbent George H W Bush. In his inaugural address he famously declared:

Our democracy must be not only the envy of the world but the engine of our own renewal. There is nothing wrong with America that cannot be cured by what is right with America.
His presidential years coincided with one of the most favorable economic periods for the US. He was known for his Third Way policies that stressed technological development, education, and competitive mechanisms to pursue economic progress and governmental objectives.
He was re-elected to presidency in the 1997 elections and was the second democrat to win presidential re-election after Franklin Roosevelt. 
The second term saw the Lewinsky scandal. He was impeached for lying about his relationship with Monica Lewinsky in a sworn deposition in the Paula Jones lawsuit. This made him the second U.S. president to be impeached after Andrew Johnson.
Despite the scandals during his tenure, he left office with a high approval rating of 66%.

Questions
1. When and where was Bill Clinton born?

2. Describe his childhood. Do you think that he stands out as an example due to his childhood?

3. What events in his childhood decided his career for him? Do you think role models play an important role in a child’s life? Enumerate with examples.

4. How did Bill Clinton start his foray in politics? Was he successful in the beginning?

5. Describe the major events in his political career. 

6. When was Bill Clinton elected as President? Was he re-elected? 

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Bill Clinton as president? Why?

9. What were the scandals during his presidency?

George H W Bush
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1989-1993
George Herbert Walker Bush was the 41st President of the United States. He was born on June 12, 1924 to Senator Prescott Bush and Dorothy Walker Bush in Milton, Massachusetts. 
The family moved to Greenwich, Connecticut shortly after his birth and George attended school there. He displayed his leadership qualities from a tender age and held many leadership positions like president of the senior class, secretary of the student council, president of the community fund-raising group, a member of the editorial board of the school newspaper, and captain of both the varsity baseball and soccer teams.
George’s patriotism and zeal were amply displayed when, after the attack on Pearl Harbor in 1941, he decided to join the US Navy. He became a naval aviator at age 18 and was commissioned as an ensign in the U.S. Naval Reserve at Corpus Christi, Texas on June 9, 1943. He was just three days short of his 19th birthday.
He saw active service and on promotion to Lieutenant Junior he even piloted a Grumman TBM Avenger aircraft from VT-51 that attacked the Japanese installations on Chichijima. George’s aircraft was hit by flak and his engine caught on fire but he completed his attack and released bombs over his target, scoring several hits. He managed to fly several miles from the island and bail out of the aircraft. He was later rescued by the lifeguard submarine USS Finback. Through 1944, he flew 58 combat missions. He was awarded for his bravery by the Distinguished Flying Cross, three Air Medals, and the Presidential Unit Citation awarded to San Jacinto. George was honorably discharged in September 1945.
George Bush enrolled at Yale after his discharge and graduated with a Phi Beta Kappa from Yale in 1948 with a Bachelor's degree in economics. He married Barbara Pierce on January 6, 1945. They had six children - George Walker Bush, Pauline Robinson Bush, John Ellis "Jeb" Bush, Neil Mallon Bush, Marvin Pierce Bush, and Dorothy Bush Koch.
After completing his graduation, the family moved to Texas where he started work as a sales clerk with Dresser Industries. His father was on the Board of Brown Brothers Harriman which owned Dresser Industries. He later started the Bush-Overby Oil Development Company in 1951 and the Zapata Petroleum Corporation two years later. 
In 1954 he became president of the Zapata Offshore Company which was a subsidiary of the Zapata Corporation. He served as its president till 1964, and in time became a millionaire. George Bush now became interested in politics. 

His political career saw him don a number of prestigious positions. He served as the Chairman of the Republican Party for Harris County, Texas in 1964; he was elected in 1966 to a House of Representatives seat from the 7th District of Texas, and became the first Republican to represent Houston. He was elected to a second term in 1968. He was a strong supporter of Nixon, and in 1970, President Nixon convinced him to run for the Senate.  George Bush defeated conservative Robert J. Morris, but was in turn defeated by former Congressman Lloyd Bentsen.
In acknowledgement of Bush’s efforts and to make up for his loss of Congressional position due to his failed Senate attempt, Nixon appointed him Ambassador to the United Nations where he served for two years.
He defended Nixon during the Watergate scandal, and was made the chairman of the Republican National Committee in 1973. Though he was still loyal to Nixon, he had to distance himself as Nixon’s involvement in the scandal became apparent. As the chairman of the party, he had to formally ask for Nixon’s resignation. 
After Nixon’s resignation, Gerald Ford became the president and he appointed George Bush as the Chief of the US Liaison Office in the People's Republic of China. He spent fourteen months in China and his efforts were seen as beneficial for US-Chinese relations.
His next political appointment was as Director of Central Intelligence. He served as director from January  30, 1976 to January  20, 1977.  

George Bush had by then decided to try for the highest office in America and started his campaign in 1979 for the 1980 elections. He competed against Howard Baker, Bob Dole, John Anderson, Phil Crane, John Connally, and Ronald Reagan for the nomination as presidential candidate. In the end, the main contenders were Bush and Reagan. Despite winning the Iowa caucus he lost the nomination to Reagan. Reagan later selected him as his Vice Presidential nominee. Reagan won the elections and so Bush became the Vice President. 
Reagan was shot at on March 30, 1981 and Bush as second in command was in Texas. His aides advised him to proceed directly to the White House and to land in there in his helicopter. He refused their suggestion by stating that "only the president lands on the South Lawn." This remark showed his loyalty to Reagan, and on Reagan’s return, they shared a warmer relationship. 
The duo won re-elections in 1984 against Walter Mondale and Geraldine Ferraro. George Bush again decided to run for presidency, and in 1987 he entered the Republican primary for President of the United States. His contenders were Bob Dole, Jack Kemp, Pete DuPont, and Pat Robertson. He won the nomination and chose US Senator Dan Quayle as his running mate. 
Bush’s presidential campaign was famous for his phrase - Read my lips: no new taxes. He won the election and became the second serving Vice President to be elected President.
His presidency saw the fall of the Berlin Wall and the collapse of Soviet Union.  It was a time for change in the world power equations and Bush’s administration was largely able to deal with the change. The major setback in his presidency was his turnaround on his promise of not adding any new taxes. This betrayal of his election promise led to a major decline in his approval ratings and cost him his re-election.  

Questions

1. When and where was George H W Bush born?

2. Who were his parents?

3. What events display his patriotism?

4. Describe his life in the army.

5. What is his wife’s name?

6. What did he do after his discharge from the army?

7. How did George Bush start his foray in politics? Was he successful in the beginning?

8. Describe the major events in his political career. 

9. What qualities of George Bush endeared him to Reagan? Why?

10. When was George H W Bush elected as President? Was he re-elected? 

11. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

12. How do you rank George H W Bush as president? Why?

Ronald Reagan
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1981-1989
Ronald Wilson Reagan was the 40th President of the United States. He was born to John "Jack" Reagan and Nelle Wilson Reagan on February 6, 1911 in Tampico, Illinois. 
Ronald Reagan started his career in the entertainment industry in 1932 by becoming a sports announcer on the radio. He moved up as an announcer for the Chicago Cubs baseball games where he honed his specialty of narrating vivid accounts of games that the station received by wire. He later started starring in movies and by 1939 had starred in around 19 films. 
During World War II, Reagan enlisted as a private and was assigned to Troop B, 322nd Cavalry at Des Moines, Iowa. As he was nearsighted he was not allowed to serve overseas. He helped in the war efforts by working towards producing training films for the AAF.
In 1941 Reagan was elected to the Board of Directors of the Screen Actors Guild in 1941. After the war he became its vice president. In 1947 he was elected as its president, and remained president till 1952, and once more was chosen in 1959. His tenure as president saw major labor-management disputes, the Taft-Hartley Act, House Committee on Un-American Activities (HUAC) hearings and the Hollywood blacklist era. Reagan also hosted the host of General Electric Theater, a series of weekly television dramas that became very popular. He was also required to tour GE plants and give speeches. He wrote his own speeches and they often carried a politically conservative message. 

Reagan’s first wife was actress Jane Wyman whom he married on January 26, 1940. They had two children- Maureen and Christine and also adopted a third child, Michael. They divorced in 1949. In 1949, he met Nancy Davis and they were married on March 4, 1952.  Ronald Reagan had two children with Nancy - Patti and Ron.
Reagan was registered as a democrat but later his views became more republican and he formally switched to the Republican Party in 1962. In 1964 he gave his now famous Time for Choosing speech that outlined his ideals and launched his political career.
His iconic speech made him a nominee for governor’s role in California. In 1967 he became the governor of California by defeating two-term governor Edmund G. "Pat" Brown. In 1968 he tried for the nomination for US president but lost to Nixon. In 1970 he won re-election in the gubernatorial elections and later chose not to contest a third term.
In 1976 he tried again for the presidential nomination of the Republican Party but lost to Gerald Ford. He won the nomination in 1980 also the elections. He chose George H.W. Bush, to be his vice-president. 

In his first inaugural address on January 20, 1981, he addressed the country’s expressed his policies and stated:

Government is not the solution to our problems; government is the problem.
There was an assassination attempt on Reagan within three months of his presidency. The assassin John Hinckley Jr. missed Reagan’s heart by less than one inch, the bullet pierced Reagan’s left lung. The bullet was removed during surgery and Reagan recovered soon. 

Ronald Reagan’s policies that advocated a classical liberal and laissez-faire philosophy were labeled Reaganomics. His policies tried to stimulate the economy with large, across-the-board tax cuts. 
Reagan  enjoyed great approval ratings and was re-elected in 1985. 

His second presidency also saw the Iran-Contra scandal in 1986. The scandal showed how the proceeds from covert arms sales to Iran were used to fund the Contras in Nicaragua, which had been specifically outlawed by an act of Congress. The International Court of Justice ruled that the U.S. had violated international law in Nicaragua due to its obligations not to intervene in the affairs of other states.
His presidency also saw the beginning of a new Russia. In June 12, 1987, Reagan spoke at the Berlin Wall and asked Gorbachev to go further with his reforms. He said: 
“General Secretary Gorbachev, if you seek peace, if you seek prosperity for the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe, if you seek liberalization: Come here to this gate! Mr. Gorbachev, open this gate! Mr. Gorbachev, tear down this wall!”
Reagan left his office in 1989 amidst high popularity ratings.

Questions

1. When and where was Ronald Reagan born?

2. Who were his parents?

3. Was he interested in politics from the beginning? 

4. How did Reagan help the war efforts?

5. How did he start his political career?
6. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

7. How did he start his foray in politics? Was he successful in the beginning?

8. Describe the major events in his political career. 

9. Critically examine the speech that brought him national prominence. 

10. When was George H W Bush elected as President? Was he re-elected? 

11. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

12. How do you rank Ronald Reagan as president? Why?

Jimmy Carter
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1977-1981
Jimmy Carter was the 39th President of the United States. He was born on October 1, 1924 in Plains, Georgia.  He was the oldest child of James Earl Carter and Bessie Lillian Gordy and had three younger siblings - William, Gloria and Ruth. 
Jimmy Carter was a gifted student who excelled not only academically but in sports as well. From an early age he was deeply interested in Christianity, he said that a sermon  "If you were arrested for being a Christian, would there be enough evidence to convict you?" affected him deeply and he always looked up to its teachings. He served as a Sunday school teacher for most of his life. 
He married Rosalynn Smith in 1946. They had four children: John William Carter, James Earl Carter III, Donnel Jeffrey Carter, and Amy Lynn Carter. 

Jimmy Carter started his career in the Navy and served on surface ships and on diesel-electric submarines in the Atlantic and Pacific fleets. He also applied for the U.S. Navy's nuclear submarine program run by then Captain Hyman G. Rickover, whom he admired. In 1953, Carter was a part of the group of American and Canadian servicemen who took part in cleaning up Canada’s Chalk River Laboratories reactor after a nuclear meltdown. Jimmy Carter loved his work in the navy and aspired to become Chief of Naval Operations, but after his father’s death in 1953 he had to leave the Navy after six years of service.
Jimmy Carter now took over his family business in Plains and was involved in peanut farming. He became a successful peanut farmer. He then turned his attention to politics. As a prominent businessman with political ambitions he served on various local boards, governing such entities as the schools, hospitals, and libraries, among others.  In 1962, he was elected to the Georgia Senate and served two terms there.  In 1966 he tried to run for the Governor of Georgia, and stood third. It was considered by many as a considerable success for a little known senator. After his defeat he went back to farming and planned his next campaign. In 1971 he became the Governor of Georgia. In his inaugural speech he became the first governor to in the Deep South to publicly declare that ‘the time of racial segregation was over, and that racial discrimination had no place in the future of the state’. 

In 1976, he entered the presidential democratic primaries. He was not considered to have a good chance as he had name recognition of only two percent, but he became the surprise winner. Many attributed his success to his distance from Washington D.C. that made the public feel secure after, Nixon’s Watergate scandal. He chose Senator Walter F. Mondale as his running mate. On his victory he became the first contender from the Deep South to be elected President since the 1848 election.

During his tenure he battled inflation and recession and the energy crisis along with the Mid-East conflicts. In 1981 he lost his re-election to Ronald Reagan and returned to his peanut farm. He has also worked all over the world addressing humanitarian issues and has written numerous books. He is amongst the most loved ex-presidents of the US. 
Questions

1. When and where was Jimmy Carter born?

2. Describe his childhood. 

3. Was he interested in politics from the beginning? 

4. Describe his career in the Navy.

5. Why did he leave the Navy? What did he do later?

6. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

7. How did Carter start his foray in politics? Describe the major events in his political career. 

8. What reason was attributed to his success in the presidential elections? Why?

9. When was Carter elected as President? 

10. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

11. How do you rank Jimmy Carter as President? Why?

Gerald Ford
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1974-1977
Gerald Ford was the 38th President of the United States. He was born Leslie Lynch King, Jr. on July 14, 1913, in Omaha, Nebraska. His parents were Leslie Lynch King, Sr., and Dorothy Ayer Gardner. His father was physically abusive and according to him, a few days after his birth his father threatened to kill Dorothy, the infant Gerald and his nursemaid. Hence, sixteen days after Gerald’s birth, Dorothy walked out of an abusive marriage and sought divorce. She gained full custody of their son and moved in with her parents in Grand Rapids, Michigan.
Dorothy married Gerald Rudolff Ford on February 1, 1916. Gerald was a salesman in a family-owned paint and varnish company, where he later became president. They formally changed their son’s name to Gerald Rudolff Ford, Jr. on December 3, 1935. Dorothy and Gerald Rudolff Ford had three children - Thomas, Richard and James. Dorothy didn’t tell her son about his biological father till he was 17. A little later, Leslie king Sr. met him and they maintained sporadic contact. 
As a child, Gerald was deeply interested in The Boy Scouts of America, and attained that program's highest rank, Eagle Scout. He later received the Distinguished Eagle Scout Award in May 1970 and Silver Buffalo Award from the Boy Scouts of America. Gerald Ford described the Eagle Scout honor as the biggest achievement in his life, surpassing the presidency. Gerald Ford was also a star athlete in his school and captain of his football team. During his undergraduate years at the University of Michigan, Ford played center and linebacker for the school’s football team. He was a star and in the team, the assistant coach noted that they felt Jerry was one guy who would stay and fight a losing match. In 1935 he was part of the 1935 Collegiate All-Star football team, and he played against the Chicago Bears in an exhibition game at Soldier Field. 

After his graduation in 1935, he became a coach at Yale and applied to its law school. Each team was offering him a contract of $200 a game, but he wanted a legal education. In 1938 he was admitted to Yale Law School. Ford earned his LL.B. degree in 1941.  After graduating he opened a law practice in Grand Rapids with his friend, Philip Buchen but due to the attack on Pearl Harbor he left his fledgling practice and enlisted in the Navy.
In the Navy, he became an instructor and taught elementary seamanship, ordnance, gunnery, first aid and military drill, and also coached the recruits in swimming, boxing and football. He became a Lieutenant in March 1943. He also applied for sea duty and served as the assistant navigator, athletic officer, and antiaircraft battery officer on board the Monterey. He served on the ship till December 1944. Later he was sent to the Athletic Department of the Navy Pre-Flight School at Saint Mary's College of California, where he was assigned to the Athletic department until April 1945. He was on the staff of the Naval Reserve Training Command, Naval Air Station, Glenview, Illinois as the Staff Physical and Military Training Officer till 1946. On October 3, 1945 he was promoted to Lieutenant Commander and resigned from the US Navy on June 28, 1946. 

For his naval service, Gerald Ford received the Asiatic-Pacific Campaign Medal with nine engagement stars for various operations and the Philippine Liberation Medal with two bronze stars as well as the American Campaign and World War II Victory medals.
On October 15, 1948, Ford married Elizabeth Bloomer Warren, a department store fashion consultant. Elizabeth was a divorcée and had been a John Robert Powers fashion model and a dancer in the auxiliary troupe of the Martha Graham Dance Company. They had four children- Michael, John, Steven, and Susan.
Gerald Ford ascribed his war experience to his world view and said "I came back a converted internationalist".  Ford was a member of the House of Representatives for twenty-four years, holding the Grand Rapids congressional district seat from 1949 to 1973. In 1961, he received a special award as a "Congressman's Congressman" that praised his committee work on military budgets.
In 1963 Gerald Ford was appointed by President Lyndon B. Johnson to the Warren Commission which was set up to investigate the assassination of President John F. Kennedy. Ford’s job was to prepare a biography of Lee Harvey Oswald, the accused assassin. 
In 1965, Gerald was elected as the Minority Leader by the Republican members of the House and kept his position for eight years. On October 10, 1973 Gerald Ford became the Vice President when the Vice President Spiro Agnew had to resign on charges of tax evasion and money laundering. This was the first time the vice-presidential vacancy provision of the 25th Amendment was implemented. 
The Watergate scandal broke out before Gerald Ford moved into his vice presidential residence. President Nixon resigned on August 9, 1974 and Gerald Ford assumed the presidency. During his presidency he survived two assassination attempts and saw America through one of its worst economic scenarios. 
Questions

1. When and where was Gerald Ford born?

2. Describe his childhood. 

3. What were his feelings towards the Boy Scout Movement? 

4. What qualities did he exhibit in sports? 

5. Why did he leave his new practice?

6. Describe his life in the Navy.

7. Why did he receive the Asiatic-Pacific Campaign Medal?

8.   What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

9   Describe the events in his political career.

10 What reason was attributed to his success in the presidential elections? Why?

11   Why was Ford appointed as President? 

12 Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you   feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

13 How do you rank Gerald Ford as president? Why?

Richard Nixon
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1969-1974
Richard Nixon was the 37th President of the United States. He was born on January 9, 1913 in Yorba Linda, California.
Richard Nixon’s parents were Francis A. Nixon and Hannah Milhous Nixon. His early childhood was marked by his mother’s Quaker beliefs that echoed the conservative ideas of that time like refraining from drinking, dancing, and swearing. Richard Nixon had four siblings - Harold, Donald, Arthur, and Ed. Two of his brothers died before he was 21 and his family's ranch failed in 1922. After these hardships, the family moved to Whittier, California, where his father opened a grocery store.
Richard was a good student and even received scholarships to Harvard University and to Yale University, but due to financial constraints he enrolled at Whittier College, a local Quaker school. He was well known at his college due to his formidable debating skills and was elected student body president. He worked at his store, while at college and helped his father in the business. He graduated in 1934 as second in his class and went on to Duke University School of Law, on a full scholarship. He graduated third in his class in June 1937. 
Nixon started his career as a lawyer in 1937, in California. He joined Wingert and Bewley and worked on commercial litigation for local petroleum companies as well as on wills and other corporate matters but avoided divorce cases.  In 1938, he opened his own branch of the law office in La Habra, California. He topped up his phenomenal growth in the firm by becoming a full partner in 1939.
In 1938 Nixon met his future wife Thelma “Pat” Ryan when he was cast in the Whittier Community Players production of The Dark Tower. Pat played the female lead in the production. Initially Pat was not interested in Richard, but his dedicated wooing made her consent. They married on June 21, 1940. 
During World War II Richard Nixon was eligible for an exemption from military service, due to his job working for the Office of Price Administration and as he was  a Quaker with Quaker parents, but he joined the United States Navy in August 1942. While he was ae

ssigned as the naval passenger control officer for the South Pacific Combat Air Transport Command, he requested more challenging duties and was given command of cargo handling units. In October 1945, he attained the rank of lieutenant commander. Richard Nixon left his commission in 1946 and received two service stars and two letters of commendation.
Nixon started his political career in 1946 and won a seat in the United States House of Representatives, representing southern California's 12th Congressional district.  Nixon’s investigation on the House Un-American Activities Committee (HUAC) broke the impasse of the Alger Hiss spy case and gained him national attention. He was re-elected in 1948. 
In 1950 Nixon defeated Democratic Representative Helen Gahagan Douglas in a historic landslide to win a seat in the United States Senate. He now became a strong opponent of communism and described communism as "the threat." 

In 1952, Nixon’s strong anti-communist stance made him the running mate for Republican Party nominee General Dwight D. Eisenhower; he was barely 39 years old. Eisenhower and Nixon defeated their opponents Illinois Governor Adlai Stevenson and Alabama Senator John Sparkman by seven million votes.
Along with being one of the few Vice-Presidents who won the attention of the media, Nixon was also the first Vice President to step in temporarily and unofficially to run the government. Nixon also conducted National Security meetings in the President's absence and also intervened to make procedural rulings on filibusters in order to assure the passage of Eisenhower's 1957 civil rights bill in his capacity as President of the Senate. This bill created the United States Commission on Civil Rights and protected voting rights.
In 1960, Nixon launched his campaign for President of the United States. His Democratic challenger was John F. Kennedy. Nixon lost the election and returned to California. Nixon again entered the political arena in 1962 and challenged the incumbent Pat Brown for Governor of California. He lost the election and was widely believed to be at the end of his political career. He seconded this opinion by stating to the media "You won't have Nixon to kick around anymore because, gentlemen, this is my last press conference”

Later Nixon moved with his family to New York City, where he became a senior partner in the leading law firm Nixon, Mudge, Rose, Guthrie & Alexander. 
In 1967 he decided once again to try for the office of the president of the United States on February 1, 1968. During the campaign he described himself as a figure of stability during a period of national unrest and upheaval and appealed to the "Silent Majority". The Silent Majority was the phrase used to describe socially conservative Americans who disliked the hippie counterculture and the anti-war demonstrators. He won the election and was sworn in on January 20, 1969. He was re-elected for his second term. The Watergate scandal broke out during his second term. The scandal cost him his second term and the disgrace of impeachment. As he lost political support during the scandal, he resigned on August 9, 1974. Nixon never admitted to criminal wrongdoing, although he accepted that he had made errors in his judgment. 

Questions

1. When and where was Richard Nixon born?

2. Describe his childhood hardships. 

3. What qualities did he exhibit by joining the Navy?

4. Describe his life in the Navy. 
5. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. Describe the events in his political career.

7. What were his contributions as Vice President?

8. How do you think Nixon’s statement "You won't have Nixon to kick around anymore because, gentlemen, this is my last press conference” describes his relationship with the press? What did he plan to do after retiring from politics?

9. How did he re-enter politics?

10. What were the scandals during his tenure as President?

11. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

12. How do you rank Nixon as a president? Why?

Lyndon B JOHNSON
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1963-1969
Lyndon Baines Johnson was the 36th President of the United States. He was born on August 27, 1908 near Stonewall, Texas. His parents were Samuel Ealy Johnson, Jr. and Rebekah Baines. They had three girls and two boys: Lyndon, Sam, Rebekah, Josefa, and Lucia. 

As a child he is believed to have been extremely talkative and was a good student. He was elected president of his eleventh grade class. He graduated from Johnson City High School in 1924 and worked for some time as an elevator operator in downtown San Bernardino, California. In 1926, Lyndon joined the Southwest Texas State Teachers' College. He was a keen debater and was also responsible for editing the school newspaper. One of the major influences in his life was when he taught children at the Welhausen School in Cotulla, and in Pearsall High School in Pearsall, Texas. There he realized that many of these children could never realize their dreams to enter college. It was then, that he later said that he vowed to make education accessible to all.  

In 1930, Johnson campaigned for Texas State Senator Welly Hopkins in his run for Congress. Hopkins later recommended his work and he was appointed as Congressman Richard M. Kleberg’s legislative secretary. His political star rose and he was elected speaker of the "Little Congress," a group of Congressional aides. As part of that group he met many influential Congressmen, newspapermen and lobbyists and also became a surrogate son to Sam Rayburn.

In 1934 he married Claudia Alta Taylor "Lady Bird". They had two daughters, Lynda Bird, and Luci Baines. The following year, he was appointed head of the Texas National Youth Administration. He was known as a tough boss who demanded more from his juniors and put in more efforts himself.  

In 1937, Lyndon Johnson won a special election for Texas's 10th congressional district. He served in the House till January 1949.  During this time he won favor with President Roosevelt due to his knowledge of internal politics in Texas. He was also appointed to the Naval Affairs Committee. 

In 1941, Johnson asked for combat assignments in war but was asked to inspect the shipyard facilities in Texas and on the West Coast. Later, at President Roosevelt’s behest he became head of a three-man survey team of the Southwest Pacific.

In 1948, Johnson again ran for the Senate and won. His political handling of issues and colleagues won him headlines and also national attention. In 1951, he was chosen as Senate Majority Whip and served from 1951 to 1953. His adept handling of issues led him to being chosen as the minority leader by fellow Democrats. This position also showed his leadership as he became the least senior Senator ever elected to this position, and one of the least senior party leaders in the history of the Senate. In the 1954 election, Johnson was re-elected to the Senate, and this time with a Democrat majority he became a majority leader. 

In the 1960 Presidential elections, he was chosen by JFK as his running mate. They won the elections and he became the Vice President. On November 22, 1963, John F Kennedy was killed by an assassin. Two hours and eight minutes later, Johnson was sworn in as President on Air Force One in Dallas at Love Field Airport. Johnson later won the Presidential elections of 1964 and was re-elected. One of the important bills passed during his presidency was the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

Questions

1. When and where was Lyndon Johnson born?

2. Describe the major influences on his life.

3.   Describe his political career.

4.   What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5 Describe the events in his political career.

6 How did he become President?

7 Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8 How do you rank Lyndon B Johnson as president? Why?

John F Kennedy
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1961-1963
John Fitzgerald Kennedy was the 35th President of the United States. He was born on May 29, 1917 in Brookline, Massachusetts. His parents were Joseph P. Kennedy, Sr, and Rose Fitzgerald. 

John Kennedy was born into a rich and prominent family. His mother was the daughter of John "Honey Fitz" Fitzgerald, the city's mayor and a three-term member of Congress. John attended private schools and was a good student along with possessing leadership qualities. In 1935 Kennedy enrolled at Princeton University. He spent only six months there before being hospitalized for possible leukemia. In September 1936, he enrolled as a freshman at Harvard College. His father had been appointed U.S. Ambassador to the Court of St. James by President Roosevelt and in 1939 John toured Europe, the Soviet Union, the Balkans and the Middle East and gained extensive information for his Harvard senior honors thesis. In 1940, John completed his thesis and published it as a book on the advice of his father. The book ‘Why England Slept’ became a bestseller. 
During World War II, John Kennedy volunteered in the US Army, but was rejected due to his bad back. Later, the US Navy accepted him due to his father’s influence. In 1943, his boat, the PT-109, was taking part in a night patrol near New Georgia in the Solomon Islands and colluded with the Japanese destroyer Amagiri. Though he fell overboard and injured himself, he showed exemplary bravery in swimming along with a wounded soldier to the nearest island. He later swam to another island and managed to get his crew ashore. For his bravery, endurance and leadership he received Navy and Marine Corps Medal and also the Purple Heart, Asiatic-Pacific Campaign Medal and the World War II Victory Medal. He was honorably discharged in early 1945.  

John Kennedy was not interested in politics, and his family too hoped his elder brother Joseph would take on the political ambitions of the family. But Joseph died during the war, so John decided to take on his mantle. In 1946, John ran for mayor of Boston and won by a large margin.  He kept that position for six years. In 1952, he was successful in his campaign to join the US Senate.
John Kennedy met his future wife Jacqueline Lee Bouvier at a dinner party and the two married on September 12, 1953. They suffered many personal tragedies in their life together as Jacqueline had a miscarriage in 1955 and a stillbirth in 1956 and their son, Patrick Bouvier Kennedy, died in August 1963. Only two of their children survived infancy, Caroline and John F Kennedy Jr. 

During his life Kennedy underwent several spinal operations and he was in critical danger so often that he received the Roman Catholic Church's last rites four times during his life. His illness often kept him away from the Senate. Many years after his death, it was revealed to the public that in 1947, John Kennedy had been diagnosed by Sir Daniel Davis at The London Clinic with Addison's disease, a rare endocrine disorder. 
In 1956, John Kennedy published ‘Profiles in Courage’, a book describing in detail how some U.S. Senators had risked their careers by standing by their personal beliefs. He received the Pulitzer Prize for Biography in 1957 for his well documented book. 
On January 2, 1960, John Kennedy formally declared his intent to for the President of the United States and gave his famous New Frontier speech where he said:
We stand at the edge of a New Frontier - the frontier of unfulfilled hopes and dreams, a frontier of unknown opportunities and beliefs in peril. Beyond that frontier are uncharted areas of science and space, unsolved problems of peace and war, unconquered problems of ignorance and prejudice, unanswered questions of poverty and surplus.
John’s main opponent was Lyndon Johnson. John won the nomination and decided to take Lyndon Johnson as his running mate. He won the presidential elections and became the 35th President of the United States.
During his presidency he had to withstand crises like the Bay of Pigs fiasco and the Cuban missile crisis. He also started the Peace Corps which allowed Americans to volunteer to help underdeveloped nations in areas such as education, farming, health care and construction. He was also a strong supporter of America’s space program.
John F Kennedy was assassinated in Dallas, Texas, on November 22, 1963, while on a political trip to Texas. Lyndon Johnson became the President on his death.
Questions

1. When and where was John Kennedy born?

2. Describe his family and life as a student.

3.   Why was he awarded for his bravery?

4.   What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5 What were the books written by Kennedy? Give a brief description.
6 Critically examine his New frontier speech, what ideas did he expound in that speech?

7 Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8 When was Kennedy assassinated?

9 How do you rank John F Kennedy as president? Why?

Dwight D. Eisenhower
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1953–1961

Dwight David Eisenhower was the 34th President of the United States. He was born David Dwight Eisenhower in Denison, Texas, on October 14, 1890. His parents were David Jacob Eisenhower and Ida Elizabeth Stover. In 1911, he joined the Westpoint Military Academy and graduated in 1915.  While at the academy he reversed the order of his name and also received the nickname ‘Ike’. 

Eisenhower married Mamie Geneva Doud on July 1, 1916 and they had two sons Doud Dwight Eisenhower and John Sheldon Doud Eisenhower. Doud died at the age of three. 
During World War I he became a temporary (Bvt.) Lieutenant Colonel in the National Army. After the war he became an executive officer to General Fox Conner in the Panama Canal Zone, and served there until 1924. He held many staff positions and was promoted to Brigadier General on October 3, 1941. When WW II broke out he was assigned to the General Staff in Washington. In 1942 he was appointed the Deputy Chief in charge of Pacific Defenses under the Chief of War Plans Division, General Leonard T. Gerow, and later succeeded Gerow as Chief of the War Plans Division. Later, he was appointed Assistant Chief of Staff in charge of Operations Division under Chief of Staff General George C. Marshall. 

In 1942, Eisenhower was appointed as the Commanding General, European Theater of Operations (ETOUSA) and also the Supreme Commander Allied Force of the North African Theater of Operations (NATOUSA) through the new operational Headquarters A(E)FHQ. His administrative and organizational qualities came to the forefront and in 1943 his authority was extended to AFHQ across the Mediterranean basin to include the British 8th Army. In late 1943 he became the Supreme Allied Commander in Europe and in January 1944, he was officially designated as the Supreme Allied Commander of the Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF), serving in a dual role until the end of hostilities in Europe in May 1945. On December 20, 1944, he was promoted to the rank of General. 

After WW II, Eisenhower was appointed Military Governor of the U.S. Occupation Zone. During this time, the shocking discovery of the death camps was made and Eisenhower took the final decision in reclassifying German prisoners of war (POWs) in U.S. custody as Disarmed Enemy Forces (DEFs). This act, deprived them of the protection of the Geneva convention. In 1948, Eisenhower was appointed as the President of Columbia University, but he had to leave that post for a short while, when he became the Supreme Commander of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), May 31, 1952. He later, resumed the university presidency, and held the post until January 1953.

In 1952 he declared his candidacy for the presidential elections and won the nomination against Senator Robert Taft. He won the presidential elections and chose Richard Nixon as his Vice President. During his presidency, Eisenhower preached a doctrine of dynamic conservatism. Eisenhower won his second term in 1956.  

Eisenhower articulated the Eisenhower Doctrine while in office. The doctrine allowed the United States to use its armed force to counteract any imminent or actual aggression to the United States and also provide aid to countries that stand by its stance against Communism. Eisenhower’s presidency oversaw the Korean War and the escalation of the Cold War through the production of nuclear weapons.
Questions

1.   When and where was Eisenhower born?

2.   Describe his army career during World War II.

3.   Research Eisenhower’s role as Military Governor of the US Occupied Zone.
4.  Do you think Eisenhower’s decision to reclassify the German Prisoners’ of War was right?

5.   What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6.   Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7.   How do you rank Eisenhower as president? Why?

Harry S Truman
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1945–1953

Harry S Truman was the 33rd US President. He was born on May 8, 1884 in Lamar, Missouri. His parents were John Anderson Truman and Martha Ellen Young Truman. His father was a farmer and livestock dealer, and later the family moved to the town of Independence. The ‘S’ in his name did not stand for anything, but was chosen by his parents to please both his grandfathers - Anderson Shippe Truman and Solomon Young. Harry was the eldest amongst his siblings who included John Vivian and Mary Jane Truman.

Harry was interested in music, reading, and history as a child. He graduated from high school in 1901. After graduation, he first worked as a timekeeper on the Santa Fe Railroad. He had barely any money and couldn’t afford accommodation so he lived in "hobo camps" near the rail lines. Later he held some clerical positions. In 1906 he returned to his father’s farm and worked there till 1917, when he joined the US army. During WW I his leadership qualities became apparent and he rose to the rank of Colonel in the Army Reserves. 
Before joining the army he had courted Bess Wallace and though she had refused to marry him, he persisted and asked her again after the war. She now accepted and they were married on June 28, 1919. They had one child Mary Margaret.
Truman started his own haberdashery with his army friend Edward Jacobson. Though the store enjoyed initial success, it went bankrupt during the recession of 1921. Truman worked hard to pay off the debts.   In 1922, he was elected as a judge of the County Court of the eastern district of Jackson County. In 1926, he was elected the presiding judge for the court, and was reelected in 1930. That same year he also coordinated the "Ten Year Plan" that transformed Jackson County and the Kansas City skyline with new public works projects. During 1933 he became Missouri's director for the Federal Re-Employment program. Most of these political positions were due to the influence of his army friend, Lieutenant James M. Pendergast, who was the nephew of Thomas Joseph (T.J.) Pendergast, a Kansas City politician. 
In 1934, Pendergast's again supported Harry Truman as the candidate for the U.S. Senate election for Missouri. Truman defeated the incumbent Republican, Roscoe C. Patterson, and became a US Senator. 
In 1940 he won re-election to the Senate seat. This was his first victory without the backing of Pendergast who had been sentenced in 1939 for non-payment of federal taxes between 1927 and 1937 and a fraudulent insurance scam. This victory marked his success as a politician. 
Truman later worked on the Truman Committee to investigate the military wastefulness by exposing fraud and mismanagement. The committee helped the government save at least $15 billion. The work of the committee also brought national attention to Harry Truman. 
Harry Truman was selected as Franklin Roosevelt's vice presidential candidate in 1944. This was an important post as the people close to Roosevelt realized that Roosevelt’s health was rapidly declining and there was every chance that the vice president would become the next president of the United States.   The incumbent Vice President, Harry Truman was considered by many to be ‘too liberal’. Roosevelt and Truman went on to win the election and he served for three months as the Vice President. On April 12, 1945, Roosevelt died and Truman became the President. 
Shortly after taking the oath of office, Truman said to reporters:

"Boys, if you ever pray, pray for me now. I don't know if you fellas ever had a load of hay fall on you, but when they told me what happened yesterday, I felt like the moon, the stars, and all the planets had fallen on me." 

As President Roosevelt had not included Truman in any of the decisions or policies, Truman entered office with absolutely no knowledge of what was going on. He kept all the members of FDR's cabinet and was open to their advice, with one stipulation - he would be the one making decisions, and they were to support him. Truman signed on the bombings of Nagasaki and Hiroshima which led to the death of millions of Japanese and also to the end of WW II. After the war Truman had to handle contentious economic issues, the beginning of the Cold War and the creation of the state of Israel. He won re-election in 1949 despite great odds as many didn’t believe that he would win. During his second term he also survived an assassination bid by Puerto Rican nationalists Griselio Torresola and Oscar Collazo on November 1, 1950. Truman is widely recognized as one of the best US presidents.
Questions

1. When and where was Truman born?
2. Describe his childhood.

3. What was his first job?
4. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?
5. Describe his political career.
6. How was his re-election in 1940 to the Senate different from his earlier victories?
7. What was his success in the Truman Committee?
8. Why was he chosen to be Vice President?

9. What do you think of Truman’s decision to use the atomic bomb? Elaborate.

10. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

11. How do you rank Truman as president? Why?

Franklin Delano Roosevelt
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1933-1945
Franklin Delano Roosevelt was the 32nd President. He was born on January 30, 1882 in the Hudson Valley town of Hyde Park, New York. His parents were James Roosevelt, and Sara. The Roosevelts were a rich family and young Franklin grew up learning German and French and travelling frequently to Europe. His father was 54 when Franklin was born and was not close to him, but his mother Sara doted on him. 
Franklin studied at Harvard and was a member of the Alpha Delta Phi fraternity. During his time at Harvard his fifth cousin, Theodore Roosevelt became president. Franklin looked up to Theodore as a role model. In 1902, he met Theodore’s niece, Eleanor Roosevelt. The two had very different demeanors; while Franklin was charismatic, handsome and socially active; Eleanor was shy and disliked social life. Franklin and Eleanor married on March 17, 1905 despite his mother’s disapproval. They had six children of which five survived – Anna Eleanor, James, Elliott, Franklin Delano, Jr. and John Aspinwall.

In 1907 Franklin passed the New York State Bar exam and joined the prestigious Wall Street firm of Carter Ledyard & Milburn the following year. 
In 1910, Roosevelt was successful in joining the New York State Senate from the district around Hyde Park in Dutchess County.  He was re-elected for a second term in 1912, but he resigned from the Senate in 1913 and became Assistant Secretary for the Navy. In July 1920, Roosevelt resigned as Assistant Secretary of the Navy. That same year the 1920 Democratic National Convention chose Roosevelt as the candidate for Vice President of the United States. He was chosen as the running mate to Governor James M. Cox of Ohio. They were defeated and Roosevelt returned to his legal practice.  

In August 1921, Franklin Roosevelt contracted an illness that rendered him paralyzed below the waist. He heroically fought the debilitating effects his whole life and refused to believe he was the lesser for it.  He never appeared in public in a wheelchair (though privately he used it.) He even taught himself to walk a short distance by fitting his hips and legs with iron braces and supporting himself with a cane. In public he was supported on one side by an aide or one of his sons.

In 1928 Roosevelt became Governor of New York. He was re-elected in 1930. He was chosen as Democratic Party nominee for the presidential elections of 1932. America was going through its worst economic upheaval or the ‘Great Depression’ at that time and Roosevelt promised a New Deal to strengthen the economy.
Roosevelt won the Presidential elections and joined office at a time when unemployment ravaged Americans, prices had fallen by 60% badly affecting farmers, and industrial production was less than half of that in 1929. As banks closed across the country and the homeless wandered the streets, Roosevelt started his policies of "relief, recovery and reform." He gave talks on the radio to inform the public on the steps being taken and to reduce a sense of panic. These talks came to be known as the ‘fireside chats’.
In 1936 Roosevelt won a landslide re-election on the basis of his policies and work during the first term. Despite the unwritten rule of a maximum two terms, Roosevelt’s popularity as President made the Democrats nominate him again and he won the third term. The attacks on Pearl Harbor occurred during his third term, and America joined the World War II. Though severely unwell, Roosevelt was elected for his fourth term.  Doctors had already declared that Roosevelt would die within six months of cerebral hemorrhage so the Democrats had to choose a running mate who would take on his mantle. Harry Truman was chosen as Roosevelt’s Vice President.
Franklin Roosevelt died on April 12, 1945. He had been a President for 12 years and had seen his country through the worst economic crisis’s and also World War II.
Questions

1. When and where was FDR born?

2. Describe his childhood.

3. How did he fare in his first political election?

4. What characteristic of FDR is apparent in his battle with his debilitating ailment?
5. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?
6. Describe his political career.
7. How did he combat The Great Depression?

8. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

9. How do you rank FDR as president? Why?

Herbert Hoover
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1929-1933
Herbert Hoover was the 31st President of the United States. He was born on August 10, 1874 in West Branch, Iowa. His parents, Jesse and Hulda Hoover were Quakers.  Jesse Hoover was a blacksmith and farm implement store owner. His parents died in his childhood - his father died in 1880, and his mother in 1884. For some time he stayed with his grandmother and then with other relatives. Hoover never attended high school but rather studied at night school and learned bookkeeping, typing, and math.
Herbert Hoover was in the first batch of students at Stanford University and graduated in 1895 with a degree in geology. After graduating, he joined a London-based mining company The Bewick, Moreing & Co. and left for Australia. He served as a geologist/mining engineer, leading a major program of expansion for the Sons of Gwalia gold mine at Gwalia, Western Australia. He later went to China with his wife Lou Henry whom he had married in 1899. The Hoovers had two children - Herbert Clark and Allan Henry.

Hoover became a partner in Bewick, Moreing & Co. in 1901. He was a notable mine manager and was applauded for a technological innovation of the froth flotation process to treat and recover the zinc. He later founded the Zinc Corporation. Hoover became an independent mining consultant in 1908. His lectures on mining formed the basis of the ‘Principles of Mining’ which was published in 1909. He and his wife also translated the 1556 mining classic De re metallica from Latin in 1912. 

His political career began during the World War I when he helped organize the return of 120,000 American tourists and businessmen to the US from Europe. He also worked with the Committee for Relief in Belgium, CRB and helped manage an $11-million-a-month budget. The budget was used to distribute food to war victims. His work for the cause of war victims made him an international hero. 
In 1917, he was appointed as the head of the American Food Administration. Hoover charted out a plan to save food for the soldiers and encouraged the people to help the nation fight the food problem by avoiding certain foods on certain days - for example meatless Mondays, wheat less Wednesdays, and "when in doubt, eat potatoes." He continued with his humanitarian efforts after the war too and controversially provided food aid to the post-war German people as well as famine-stricken Bolshevist Russia in 1921. He refused to look at their origins but decided to give help despite political differences as he said: “Twenty million people are starving. Whatever their politics, they shall be fed!" 

In 1921, Hoover became the Secretary of Commerce. The Department of Commerce had been formed only eight years earlier, but under Hover it became an important Department as he created many sub-departments and committees, overseeing and regulating everything from manufacturing statistics, the census, and radio to air travel. Hoover also made the commerce department friendlier towards businesses and helped create government and business partnerships. Hoover was one of the first government officials to promote international trade and even promoted the fledgling US film industry. 
Herbert Hover was the leading Republican candidate during the 1928 presidential elections. He won the elections and used the presidency to promote progressiveness and volunteerism. But his policies could not help stem the growth of the Great Depression and by 1932 unemployment had reached 24.9%.  
Questions

1. When and where was Hoover born?

2. Describe his childhood.

3. What did he do after graduating from Stanford University?

4. Describe his career as a geologist.

5. How did he start his political career?

6. What did he do as the head if the American Food Administration?

7. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

8. How did Hoover change the Department of Commerce?

9. When was Hoover elected as the President?

10. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

11. How do you rank Hoover as president? Why?

Calvin Coolidge
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1923-1929

John Calvin Coolidge, Jr.  was the 30th President of the United States. He was born in Plymouth, Windsor County, Vermont, on July 4, 1872.  His parents were John Calvin Coolidge and Victoria Josephine Moor. His father was a farmer and his mother died in 1885. Coolidge graduated from Amherst College and became an apprentice with the local law firm of Hammond & Field. In 1897 he was admitted to the bar and later started his own practice.  
Calvin Coolidge married Grace Anna Goodhue in 1905 and they had two children- John Coolidge and Calvin Coolidge, Jr.  

Calvin Coolidge decided to join politics and in 1897 he was selected as member of the Republican City Committee. Coolidge became a City Solicitor in 1900 and was re-elected in 1901. Coolidge won a seat in the state House of Representatives in 1906. He was re-elected in 1907. In 1908 he became the mayor of Northampton. Coolidge became a State Senator in 1912 and worked on a committee to negotiate the "Bread and Roses" strike by the workers of the American Woolen Company in Lawrence, Massachusetts. He won re-election in 1913. On his win he delivered a speech ‘Have Faith in Massachusetts’. The speech embodied his beliefs for the government. He said:
"Do the day's work. If it be to protect the rights of the weak, whoever objects, do it. If it is to help a powerful corporation, do that. Expect to be called a stand-patter, but do not be a stand-patter. Expect to be called a demagogue, but do not be a demagogue. Do not hesitate to be called as revolutionary as science. Do not hesitate to be as reactionary as the multiplication table. Do not expect to build up the weak by pulling down the strong. Do not hurry to legislate. Give administration a chance to catch up with legislation." 
In 1914 Coolidge became the President of the Senate. After his term he entered the primary election for lieutenant governor. Coolidge won the elections by more than 50,000 votes. He was re-elected in 1916 and 1917. Coolidge ran for governor of Massachusetts in 1918 and won. 
During his term as governor, the policemen of the Boston Police Department planned to set up a union and received a charter from the American Federation of Labor. Initially Coolidge did not intervene in the matter, but when the policemen went on strike due to the arrest of the union leaders and the mayor had to call in guards from the Massachusetts National Guard, Coolidge became furious and sent a public telegram to the leader of the AFL,   Samuel Gompers, stating:
"Your assertion that the Commissioner was wrong cannot justify the wrong of leaving the city unguarded. That furnished the opportunity; the criminal element furnished the action. There is no right to strike against the public safety by anyone, anywhere, any time.  ... I am equally determined to defend the sovereignty of Massachusetts and to maintain the authority and jurisdiction over her public officers where it has been placed by the Constitution and laws of her people." 

He took tough action against the rebelling policemen and refused to take them back. This event got him national attention at a time when Americans were scared at the spread of communism. He was reelected in 1919. His political ideas won many followers and during the 1920 presidential elections he was chosen as the running mate to Warren Harding. They won the elections and Coolidge became the Vice President. 
On August 2, 1923, President Harding died while on a speaking tour in California and Calvin Coolidge became the president. He continued with Harding’s chosen cabinet. He ran for second term in 1924. Coolidge lost his son Calvin Jr. the same year and with that loss became more solemn and withdrawn. Coolidge won the re-election. 

Coolidge was known as Silent Cal due to his solemnity. He was also one of the few politicians who never maligned any opponents or created scandals for the sake of publicity.
Questions

1. When and where was Coolidge born?

2. Describe his childhood.

3. Describe his career as a politician.

4. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5. Critically examine his ‘Have Faith in Massachusetts’ speech. What ideology does his speech exhibit?

6. Describe the events with the Boston Police Department.

7. How did he become President?

8. Why was he called Silent Cal? 

9. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

10. How do you rank Coolidge as president? Why?

Warren G Harding
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1921-1923
Warren G. Harding was the 29th President of the United States. He was born on November 2, 1865, near Marion, Ohio. His parents were Dr. George Tryon Harding, Sr. and Phoebe Elizabeth Harding. His father taught at a rural school and his mother was a midwife, she later obtained a medical license. He was their eldest child and had seven siblings. 
His father later bought ‘The Argus’, a weekly newspaper in Caledonia, Ohio, and the family moved there. Warren Harding learned the newspaper trade by working at The Argus. After his graduation, he purchased a city paper, The Marion Daily, along with two of his friends. He managed to revamp the paper and made it one of the most popular papers in the county, but it took a toll on his health and he suffered from exhaustion when he was barely 24. 
On July 8, 1891, Harding married Florence Kling DeWolfe, the daughter, Amos Hall Kling. Amos was a strident opponent of Harding and his newspaper. Florence Kling DeWolfe was a divorcée and she had a child from her previous marriage. Her father was against the marriage and did not speak to them for eight years. 
In 1899, Harding was elected to the Ohio State Senate and served four years in the position. He was also the Lieutenant Governor of Ohio, from 1903 to 1905. In 1914 he was elected to the United States Senate, he retained that position till his presidency in 1921.
In 1920, Harding won the Republican Party nomination. He promised a “Return to Normalcy" during his campaign, calling for an end to the era of the Great War. It was the first campaign that was fully covered by the press and used celebrities like Hollywood and Broadway stars to increase publicity. Harding won the election and received 60% of the national vote. 
In June 1923, Harding decided to make his policies and ideas more accessible to the common man and went on cross-country mission to meet people from all walks of life. The tour was called “Voyage of Understanding”. He caught pneumonia during this trip and died on August 2, 1923. 

Harding was succeeded by Vice President Calvin Coolidge. 
Questions

1.   When and where was Harding born?

2.   What was the name of the paper that he published?

3.   Describe his career as a politician.

4.   What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5.   What did a ‘Return to Normalcy’ signify? 

6.   When did he become President?

7.   Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8.   How do you rank Harding as a president? Why?

9,   How did he die? Who succeeded him?

Woodrow Wilson
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1913-1921
Woodrow Wilson was the 26th President of the United States. He was born in Staunton, Virginia on December 28, 1856. His parents were Reverend Dr. Joseph Ruggles Wilson and Jessie Janet Woodrow. He was the third of their four children. His father was one of the founders of the Southern Presbyterian Church in the United States (PCUS).  

Wilson had learning difficulties and was determined to teach himself to read and write. He was successful in his endeavor and graduated from Princeton in 1879. He was interested in debating and also organized a Liberal Debating Society at Princeton. 
In 1883 he received a Ph.D. in political science from the Johns Hopkins University. He married Ellen Louise Axson, in 1885 and they had three daughters - Margaret, Jessie, and Eleanor R. Wilson.
In January 1882, Wilson decided to start his first law practice in Atlanta and passed the Georgia Bar examination. Wilson had hoped to join law as a stepping stone to politics, but he soon felt that he needed to know more about the government, so in 1883, he applied to the Johns Hopkins University for a Ph.D. in history and political science. He completed his Ph. D. in 1886.
Wilson drew excessively on his knowledge of the government to articulate his thoughts on governance. He felt that the excessive number of checks in American governance contributed to its problems. Wilson said that this made it difficult to pinpoint accountability. He said:
...how is the schoolmaster, the nation, to know which boy needs the whipping? ... Power and strict accountability for its use are the essential constituents of good government.... It is, therefore, manifestly a radical defect in our federal system that it parcels out power and confuses responsibility as it does. 

He wrote his views in the ‘Congressional Governance’ his best known political work. His work caught the attention of Grover Cleveland who was the President. Wilson also served on the faculties of Bryn Mawr College and Wesleyan University. He later joined the Princeton faculty as professor of jurisprudence and political economy in 1890. In 1902 Wilson became the president of Princeton. 
Wilson started his political career in 1910. He ran for Governor of New Jersey and won against the Republican candidate Vivian M. Lewis.  While in office he established state primaries taking the party bosses out of the presidential election process in the state. Woodrow Wilson won the presidential elections of 1913. 
Wilson’s policies as president had a deep impact on world politics. His principles of self-determination, democratic government, collective security, international law, and a league of nations won international favor. 
Wilson won re-election in 1917 and that same year America entered World War I. In 1918 he stated the famous Fourteen Points that articulated the aims of the war. These points became the basis of the Treaty of Versailles. They were:

1. Abolition of secret treaties 

2. Freedom of the seas 

3. Free Trade 

4. Disarmament 

5. Adjustment of colonial claims (decolonization and national self-determination) 

6. Russia to be assured independent development and international withdrawal from occupied Russian territory 

7. Restoration of Belgium to antebellum national status 

8. Alsace-Lorraine returned to France from Germany 

9. Italian borders redrawn on lines of nationality 

10. Autonomous development of Austria-Hungary as a nation, as the Austro-Hungarian Empire dissolved 

11. Romania, Serbia, Montenegro, and other Balkan states to be granted integrity, have their territories de-occupied, and Serbia to be given access to the Adriatic Sea 

12. Sovereignty for the Turkish people of the Ottoman Empire as the Empire dissolved, autonomous development for other nationalities within the former Empire 

13. Establishment of an independent Poland with access to the sea 

14. General association of the nations – a multilateral international association of nations to enforce the peace 
Woodrow Wilson was amongst the few leaders whose views influenced international politics.
Questions

1. When and where was Woodrow Wilson born?

2. Describe his childhood and the difficulties he overcame.

3. Critically examine Woodrow Wilson’s views on governance.

4. Describe his career as a politician.

5. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. Enumerate the Fourteen Points of Woodrow Wilson.

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Woodrow Wilson as a president? Why?

William Howard Taft

[image: image18.jpg]-/

William H. Taft 1





1909-1913

William Howard Taft was the 27th President of the United States. He was born on September 15, 1857, in Cincinnati, Ohio. His parents were Alphonso Taft and Louisa Torrey. His father was a prominent Republican and served as Secretary of War under President Ulysses S. Grant while his mother was a graduate of Mount Holyoke College.
In 1874, Taft attended Woodward High School. In 1878, Taft graduated from Yale and joined the Cincinnati Law School. He graduated in 1880. He later joined the Ohio Bar and became the Assistant Prosecutor of Hamilton County, Ohio. In 1882, he was appointed local Collector of Internal Revenue. 
Taft married Helen Herron in 1886. They had three children - Robert Taft, Helen Taft Manning, and Charles Phelps Taft II. 
His law career rose as he was appointed as a judge of the Ohio Superior Court in 1887 and as Solicitor General of the United States in 1890. He joined the Senate in 1892. He was also the first dean and a professor of constitutional law at the University of Cincinnati. 
His political career started when he was offered the post of chairman of a commission to organize a civilian government in the Philippines. Taft reluctantly took up the position as he was more interested in law than politics. He was the civilian Governor-General of the Philippines from 1901 to 1903. His stay in the Philippines was a great success and the Filipinos loved him; he even declined a seat on the Supreme Court (his long term dream) as the Filipino groups begged him to stay. 
In 1904, Taft became the Secretary of War. Taft still wanted to be Chief Justice and was not interested in becoming President, but in 1908 Roosevelt pushed through his nomination for president. It was his first election and he won it. 

Taft had a deep and abiding belief in the law but he was not as good a politician   as his predecessors. He was not responsive to the media and concentrated on his work rather than giving sound bytes. He was interested in the formulation of treaties that helped the cause of world peace and in 1910 and 1911; he secured the ratification of arbitration treaties with Britain and France. These endeavors made him known as an advocate of world peace. But his relationship with his former mentor Theodore Roosevelt soured during his Presidency and in 1912 Roosevelt launched The Progressive Party to counter Taft’s nomination as the Republican candidate.
Questions

1. When and where was Taft born?

2. Describe Taft’s family and childhood.

3. Describe his career as a politician.

4. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5. Research the relationship between Taft and Theodore Roosevelt before and after his Presidency.

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Taft as president? Why?

Theodore Roosevelt
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1901-1909
Theodore Roosevelt was the 26th President of the United States. He was born on October 27, 1858, in New York City. His parents were Theodore Roosevelt, Sr. and Mittie Bulloch. 

The Roosevelts were a wealthy family with strong political affiliations. He had three siblings - Anna, Elliott, and Corinne. Theodore was a mischievous though sickly child. He was very interested in zoology as a child and had even taught himself taxidermy at a young age. His father was an inspiration for him and even when he became the president, he first thought how his father would react to a particular situation and then act accordingly. He later said of his father:
"My father, Theodore Roosevelt, was the best man I ever knew. He combined strength and courage with gentleness, tenderness, and great unselfishness. He would not tolerate in us children selfishness or cruelty, idleness, cowardice, or untruthfulness."

Theodore’s father encouraged him to take up physical exercises to strengthen his weak body and this developed into his lifelong fascination with boxing.  He matriculated from Harvard College in 1876. He had a photographic memory that he put to good use, memorizing details. After graduation, He was advised to find a desk job and lead a sedentary life as he suffered from a heart ailment. Roosevelt characteristically chose the harder path and decided to pursue a more strenuous life. He ran for a position for the New York Assembly in 1881 and started his political career. 
During his stay at Harvard, he had researched for a book on the Naval War of 1812. The book was published after his graduation and became an instant success and established Roosevelt’s credentials as a historian. He later wrote more books like the biographies Thomas Hart Benton and Gouverneur Morris and a four-volume history of the frontier called The Winning of the West.
Roosevelt was highly disillusioned by party politics in the 1884 Republican National Convention when he lost to the Stalwart faction. Following the defeat, he retired to his ranch in the wild Badlands of the Dakota Territory. In 1886, Roosevelt ran for governor of New York City, but came in third. 
Roosevelt married Alice Hathaway Lee on 13 February 1880. She died two days after their daughter Alice’s birth on February 14, 1884. Roosevelt was heartbroken, and refused to ever again mention her name. He never called his daughter by her first name either, but rather called her Baby Lee.  In 1886 he married again. Edith Kermit Carow was his childhood sweetheart and they had five children: Theodore Jr., Kermit, Ethel Carow, Archibald Bulloch "Archie", and Quentin.
In the 1888 presidential election, Roosevelt campaigned for Benjamin Harrison on winning, President Harrison appointed Roosevelt to the United States Civil Service Commission. He held that post till 1895. In 1895, Roosevelt was appointed president of the board of New York City Police Commissioners.  He worked hard towards implementing police reforms and worked with the commissioners of police to establish new disciplinary rules, create a bicycle squad, and to standardize the use of pistols by officers. He also ensured the induction of new recruits based on physical and mental qualifications and not on political affiliation.  He personally took interest in ensuring that officers were on duty and checked them at odd times. In 1897, President William McKinley appointed Roosevelt to the post of Assistant Secretary of the Navy. 

Upon the Declaration of the Spanish-American War, Roosevelt resigned from the Navy Department and formed the First U.S. Volunteer Cavalry Regiment. They were called the "Rough Riders." He held the rank of Lieutenant Colonel and was promoted to Colonel and given command of the Regiment.
In 1898 Roosevelt was elected governor of New York. His exemplary work in rooting out corruption made him the choice for running mate of McKinley in the 1900 presidential election. They won the election and Roosevelt became Vice President. 
On September 6, 1901, President McKinley was shot by Leon Czolgosz and died eight days later; Roosevelt succeeded him to the presidency. He was re-elected in the 1904 elections and decided not to go in for the third term.
Roosevelt’s presidency saw the transfer of regulation to the federal government and he also worked against the power of trusts. Towards that end he issued 44 lawsuits against major corporations and was called the "trust-buster".

Questions

1. When and where was Theodore Roosevelt born?

2. Describe his family and childhood. Whom did he look up to?

3. Describe his career as a politician.

4. What was his first wife’s name? How did she die? Whom did he marry later?

5. Who were the Rough Riders?

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Roosevelt as president? Why?

William McKinley
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1897-1901
William McKinley was the 25th President of the United States. He was born in Niles, Ohio, on January 29, 1843. His parents were William and Nancy (Allison) McKinley.  He was the seventh of their nine children.

In June 1861, at the start of the American Civil War, he enlisted in the Union Army. William joined as a private in the Twenty-third Regiment, Ohio Volunteer Infantry. His bravery in battle won him the rank of a commissary sergeant. At the end of the war he was a Captain and brevet major. 
Following the war, McKinley joined the Albany Law School in Albany, New York and was admitted to the bar in 1867. He started practicing law in Canton, and also worked as a prosecuting attorney of Stark County till 1871. He became active in politics in 1869 and started campaigning for his regiment commander, Rutherford Hayes, for governor of Ohio. 
In 1871 he married Ida Saxton. They had two children who didn’t survive their childhood.  

Rutherford B. Hayes supported McKinley in his attempt to join the United States House of Representatives for Ohio. McKinley served in the House from 1877 to 1882; and from 1885 to 1891. His implementation of the McKinley Tariff in 1890 raised rates to the highest in history. This led to the loss of his seat.  
In 1891, McKinley became the governor of Ohio and was re-elected in 1893.  McKinley also tried to get nominated as a Republican presidential candidate in 1892 but lost and campaigned for the re-election of President Benjamin Harrison. 
In 1895, he headed a charity drive for severely impoverished miners in Hocking Valley and donated much from his own funds. The charity drive raised enough money to feed, clothe, and supply more than 10,000 people. Earlier too he had shown his generosity in defending striking miners in 1876 and not charging a penny for his services.
In 1896 he again campaigned for nomination as the Republican Party’s presidential candidate. McKinley campaigned, promising to promote industry and banking and guaranteeing prosperity for every group.  McKinley won the nomination. He won the presidential elections of 1897. His presidency saw a revival of business, agriculture and general prosperity. 

McKinley was re-elected in 1900. 
McKinley was assassinated on September 6, 1901 at the Pan-American Exposition by Leon Frank Czolgosz. The first bullet grazed the president's shoulder and the second went through his stomach, pancreas, and kidney, and finally lodged in the muscles of his back. Though wounded, McKinley called out saying "Boys! Don't let them hurt him!” 
Though the doctors were able to extract one bullet, they couldn’t locate the second one and did not use the X-ray machine as they did not know its side effects (the machine had recently been developed). McKinley succumbed to his injuries and died eight days later. Theodore Roosevelt, the vice president, succeeded him to the presidency.
Questions

1. When and where was McKinley born?

2. Describe his journey to politics.

3. What is his wife’s name? When did they get married?

4. Describe his career as a politician.

5. When was he elected as President?
6. When was he assassinated and by whom? 

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank McKinley as president? Why?

Grover Cleveland
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1885-1889

1893-1897

Grover Cleveland was the 22nd and 24th President of the United States.  He was born on March 18, 1837, the fifth of nine children - five sons and four daughters of Richard Falley Cleveland and Ann Neal Cleveland. Cleveland's father was a Presbyterian minister.  
The family moved to Fayetteville, New York, in 1841 and later to Holland Patent, New York. His father died in 1853 and Cleveland left school and helped to support his family. His brother got a job at the New York Institute for the Blind and found him a place as an assistant teacher. Cleveland taught there for a year.  The following year he went to Buffalo, New York, where his uncle, Lewis W. Allen lived. Allen offered him a job arranging his livestock herdbooks. Through his uncle who was an important man in Buffalo, he met many influential men in Buffalo and joined the law firm of Rogers, Bowen, and Rogers as a clerk. He was admitted to the bar in 1859. In 1862 he started his own practice and in 1863, he was appointed assistant district attorney of Erie County. 

During the American Civil War, Cleveland hired a Polish immigrant George Benninsky, to serve in his place in the war. This was allowed in the Conscription Act of 1863. He worked hard as a lawyer and continued to support his mother and sister. His determination and hard work won him many clients and he became rich, though he maintained his simple lifestyle of before.
In 1865, Cleveland had tried his hand at politics by running for District Attorney, he lost the campaign. In 1870 he won the Democratic nomination for sheriff of Erie County and took office on January 1, 1871. After his term as sheriff ended he returned to his private practice and opened a firm with his friends Lyman K. Bass and Wilson S. Bissell. The firm soon grew in stature and became one of the top law firms in Buffalo. Cleveland’s reputation as a man of integrity and honesty also grew during this period. As the government of Buffalo grew corrupt and the Republican Party fielded openly disreputable men in their battle for mayor, the Democratic Party approached him to run for mayor. Cleveland agreed with a stipulation that the rest of the candidates be equally honest and trustworthy. The party accepted and Cleveland won the elections. 
As the mayor Cleveland acted on his honest image and fought against the prevalent ways of catering to the interests of the party machines. He also refused to tolerate the practice of awarding contracts to the highest bidder instead of the lowest due to political mismanagement and greed. His honesty and integrity saw his reputation grow amongst the people of Erie County and beyond.
His reputation made him a choice for the nomination for the seat of the Governor of New York. Though he was not the first choice, he won the party nomination and won the general election. 
As governor, Cleveland continued working in his honest manner and won many supporters especially in the Theodore Roosevelt who was then a member of the Assembly.
During the 1884 Presidential elections, Cleveland won the Democratic nomination. The campaign was highly controversial with the Democrats casting aspersions on the credibility of the Republican nominee and his past dealings, while the Republicans claimed that Cleveland had fathered an illegitimate child in Buffalo. Cleveland resorted to telling the truth and admitted that he paid for child support for the child. His policy of telling the truth paid up and he was elected as President. 
After joining office, Cleveland characteristically decided to view the nominations for party positions on merit and not on political affiliations. 
Cleveland was the first President to get married in the White House. On June 2, 1886, Cleveland married Frances in the Blue Room in the White House. She was the daughter of his long time friend Oscar Folsom, and after his death Cleveland had become the executor of his estate and had supervised Frances' upbringing. Frances became the youngest First Lady at twenty one years of age. They had five children: Ruth, Esther, Marion, Richard Folsom, and Francis Grover.
In 1888 Cleveland lost his re-election and returned to private life. The Democratic Party nominated him for the 1892 Presidential elections. Cleveland won the elections and returned to the White House.
During his second term, the Panic of 1893 struck the stock market, and he faced an acute economic depression. The panic was escalated due to the shortage of gold that resulted from the free coinage of silver. Cleveland called Congress into session and worked to repeal the provisions of the Sherman Silver Purchase Act. 
Cleveland was one of the few presidents whose reputation of honesty and integrity survived the muddy battles of politics.

Questions

1. When and where was Cleveland born?

2. Describe the struggles in his life.

3. Why didn’t he join the Civil War? What do you think of his decision?

4. Describe his career as a politician.

5. When did he get married? Who was his wife?

6. When was he elected as President? How was his second term different from other President’s?

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Cleveland as a president? Why?

Benjamin Harrison
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1889-1893
Benjamin Harrison was the 23rd President of the United States. He was born on August 20, 1833, in North Bend, Hamilton County, Ohio. He was the second of eight children of John Scott Harrison and Elizabeth Ramsey Irwin. His family was one of the oldest in Virginia. Though they were not wealthy, they were politically active. His grandfather, William Henry Harrison, was the ninth President of the United States.
Harrison's joined the Farmer's College near Cincinnati, Ohio in 1847 and in 1850; he was transferred to Miami University in Oxford, Ohio.  After graduation, he decided to take up the study of law and joined the offices of Storer & Gwynne. 
On October 20, 1853, he married Caroline Lavinia Scott. They had two children, Russell Benjamin and Mary.
In 1854 after receiving an inheritance of $800 he moved to Indianapolis, Indiana. There he joined the bar and started working at the office of John H. Ray. He also became a crier for the Federal Court in Indianapolis. His duties as a crier required him to pass through the streets declaring announcements from the court.
He started his political career in 1856 and won the election to become Indianapolis City Attorney. Harrison started his law partnership in 1858 with William Wallace and was the Republican candidate for the position of reporter of the Indiana Supreme Court in 1860. 
In 1862 Harrison was concerned about the shortage of men fighting for the Union Army. He started to recruit an army and raised a regiment by recruiting throughout northern Indiana. Harrison declined the offer to head the regiment due to his military inexperience and became a Second Lieutenant. He rose in the ranks due to his work and reached the position of a Brigadier General. He left the army on June 8, 1865.
In 1864, Harrison was re-elected reporter of the Supreme Court of Indiana and served four more years. He also defended the government in a civil claim by Lambdin P. Milligan, whose wartime conviction for treason had been reversed by the Supreme Court. The government ended up paying minimal damages due to his tactful advocacy. This success brought him under the notice of senior Republicans. 
 In 1872, Harrison ran for the Republican nomination for governor of Indiana, but he faced defeat and returned to his private practice. In 1876, though he won the nomination, but he lost the election.  
In 1879, President Hayes appointed Harrison to the Mississippi River Commission. The commission worked towards creating internal improvements on the Mississippi. In 1880, he won a seat to Senate, he was also offered a cabinet position by the president James Garfield, but he refused the position and decided to start his tenure in the Senate. Harrison served in the Senate from 1881, to 1887. 

James G. Blaine of Maine was the initial Republican favorite for the 1888 presidential election but he refused to enter the fray. Harrison was initially not a favorite, but the others soon fell behind and he became the clear favorite. He became the President in 1888.
His administration was known for its economic legislation, including the McKinley Tariff and the Sherman Antitrust Act.  He lost the re-election in 1892.
Questions

1. When and where was Harrison born?

2. How did he contribute to the Union Army?

3. What was his duty as a town crier?

4. Describe his career as a politician.

5. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Harrison as president? Why?

Chester Alan Arthur
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1881-1885
Chester Alan Arthur was the 21st President of the United States. He was born on October 5, 1829 and was the son of Irish born preacher William Arthur and Vermont born Malvina Stone Arthur. There are conflicting reports on his place of birth. During the presidential elections efforts were made to find his place of birth. There were reports that he was born in Ireland and arrived in America when he was fourteen, and another report suggested that he was born in Canada. If these reports were true, then Arthur would have been constitutionally debarred from contesting elections as he was not a natural born citizen. The official records state that he was born in Fairfield in Franklin County, Vermont. During the 1870’s Arthur changed his year of birth to 1830.

Arthur’s childhood was spent in Perry, New York. He went to prep school at the academy in Union Village, and then to the Lyceum. In 1845, Arthur attended Union College. At the college he studied the traditional classics. He received his Master's degree in 1851.

Arthur became principal of North Pownal Academy in North Pownal, Vermont in 1849. He was admitted to the bar in 1854. He served as acting quartermaster general during the Civil War. His actions won him the position of Inspector General. He left the army after the war with the rank of a Brigadier General in 1862. 
Arthur married Ellen Lewis Herndon on October 25, 1859. They had three children - William Lewis Herndon Arthur, Chester Alan Arthur II, and Ellen Hansbrough Herndon. William died when he was two years old of a brain disease. Arthur’s wife, Ellen, died of pneumonia on January 12, 1880. Arthur was distraught at her death and swore never to marry again. 
Arthur resumed his private practice after the war and was appointed as Collector of the Port of New York from 1871 to 1878. Though he was an honest man and displayed his integrity in his actions, yet at times he sided with powerful party insiders and retained employees due to their party affiliations rather than their merit. He sided with the Stalwarts faction of the Republican Party.
During the 1881 presidential elections, the Republican National Convention asked many Stalwarts if they would accept to become the running mate to presidential nominee James A. Garfield, a long time Congressman and General in the Civil War. Garfield belonged to the moderate faction and so the Stalwarts were loath to accept, but Arthur did, saying "This is a higher honor than I have ever dreamt of attaining. I shall accept!” The Stalwarts reluctantly supported him and Garfield-Arthur won the elections. 

Garfield and Arthur didn’t share a good relationship, especially as the Stalwarts demanded that Garfield appoint their faction members to key roles and Arthur seconded these demands. On July 2, 1881, President Garfield was shot in the back by Charles J. Guiteau, who shouted: "I am a Stalwart of the Stalwarts... Arthur is president now!" Arthur was shocked and saddened by this drastic turn of events. When Garfield succumbed to his wounds on September 19, Arthur took over the presidency.
The death of President Garfield at the hands of a member of his own faction made Arthur aware of the problems of cronyism and faction. On becoming President he decided to go his own way rather than be guided by faction politics. Even though he tried to stop the members of Garfield’s cabinet from leaving till the Congress convened in December, all but one of President Garfield’s appointees resigned and were replaced by members of the Stalwart faction.
President Arthur decided to revamp the civil services and passed the Pendleton Act, which established a bipartisan Civil Service Commission. The reform disallowed political assessments against officeholders and also made certain government positions obtainable only through competitive written examinations. This single action made him renowned as the ‘Father of Civil Service.’
President Arthur also had a stained glass window as a memorial to his beloved "Nell” installed in St. John's Episcopal Church. He could view the window from his office and even had the church light it at night so that he could see it.  The memorial remains to this day.

While he was President, Arthur learnt that he was suffering from Bright's disease, a fatal kidney disease and did not have long to live, hence he did not aggressively campaign for his re-election.  

Questions

1. When and where was Arthur born?

2. Describe his career as a politician.

3. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

4. How did he keep the memory of his wife alive as President?

5. Who were the Stalwarts?

6. How did Arthur become President? 

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Arthur as a president? Why?

James A Garfield
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March 4, 1881 – September 19, 1881
James Garfield was the 20th President of the United States. He was born on November 19, 1831 in a log cabin in Orange Township, now Moreland Hills, Ohio. His parents were Abram Garfield and Eliza Ballou. Abram Garfield died in 1833, and James was brought up by his mother and sisters. 
James was a good student and attended the Western Reserve Eclectic Institute in Hiram, Ohio in 1851. In 1854 he was transferred to Williams College in Williamstown, Massachusetts.  He graduated from there in 1856. 
James Garfield became a preacher at Franklin Circle Christian Church in 1857, but he soon realized that it was not for him and left it after one year. Later, he taught classical languages at the Eclectic Institute.
 On November 11, 1858, Garfield married Lucretia Rudolph. They had seven children Eliza, Harry, James, Mary, Irvin, Abram, and Edward Garfield. One son, James R. Garfield, followed him into politics and became Secretary of the Interior under President Theodore Roosevelt. 
In 1860 Garfield was admitted to the Ohio bar and also became politically active. He was elected an Ohio state senator in 1859 and remained in that post till 1861.
During the Civil War, Garfield joined the Union Army, and was assigned to command the 42nd Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He was promoted due to his bravery and valor to the rank of brigadier general. In 1863 he became the Chief of Staff for William S. Rosecrans, commander of the Army of the Cumberland. During that time he was elected by the Republicans to the United States House of Representatives for Ohio's 19th Congressional District in the 38th Congress. He resigned his commission on December 5, 1863 with the rank of a major general and took his seat in Congress. He was re-elected till 1878. 

In 1880, Garfield was chosen to fill the seat of Democratic U.S. Senator Allen Granberry Thurman for the term beginning on March 4, 1881. Before he could join that, the Republican National Convention was convened and there was a deadlock between the two presidential candidates, Grant and Blaine. Garfield emerged as the compromise choice and was nominated as the Republican presidential candidate. Garfield won the Presidential elections and he became the first and only sitting member of the House of Representatives to be elected President. 

His presidential time was spent initially to sort out the squabbles between the party members on who would get the plum position. On July 2, 1881 he was shot by Charles J. Guiteau, who was disheartened due to his failure to secure a federal post. On his arrest Guiteau said, "I am a Stalwart of the Stalwarts! I did it and I want to be arrested! Arthur is President now!"
 President Garfield died on September 19, 1881 and Arthur became president on his death.
Questions

1. When and where was Garfield born?

2. Describe his childhood and early struggles.

3. Describe his career as a politician.

4. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5. How did Garfield become President? 

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Garfield as president? Why?

Rutherford B Hayes
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1877-1881

Rutherford Hayes was the 19th President of the United States. He was born in Delaware, Ohio, on October 4, 1822. His parents were Rutherford Hayes and Sophia Birchard. His father died ten weeks before his birth. 

Hayes graduated from Kenyon College in Gambier, Ohio in August 1842. He was an outstanding student and graduated from Harvard Law School in January 1845. He was admitted to the bar on May 10, 1845, and started his own private practice.   

On December 30, 1852, Hayes married Lucy Ware Webb. They had eight children - Birchard Austin, James Webb Cook, Rutherford Platt, Joseph Thompson, George Crook, Fanny, Scott Russell, and Manning Force Hayes.
In 1858 he was appointed as Cincinnati city solicitor by the city council.  During the Civil War, he was appointed a major in the Twenty-third Ohio Regiment. He served as regimental judge-advocate and later as a Lieutenant Colonel. His competency won him the rank of a Colonel and received command of his original regiment. He was wounded four times in the war.  He was promoted to Brigadier General in 1864 and brevetted Major General. 

While Hayes was serving in the army, he received the Republican nomination to Congress from Cincinnati in 1864. Hayes said "I have other business just now. Any man who would leave the army at this time to electioneer for Congress ought to be scalped." Despite his patriotic refusal, he was elected to the Thirty-ninth and the Fortieth Congresses and served there till 1867. In 1867 he was nominated for Governor of Ohio. Hayes won the election and served as governor from 1868 to 1872. In 1875 he ran for governor again and served as governor from 1876 to 1877. 

Hayes reputation for honesty won him the presidency in 1876. The public wanted more honest governance after the corruption and scandals of the Ulysees government and Hayes fit the bill. Hayes, though, did not win easily. His Democratic contender Tilden was short by one vote only - he had 184 and needed 185 while Hayes had 165, with 20 votes representing the four states which were contested. Three of the contested states were under military occupation.  
Congress set up the bi-partisan Electoral Commission to investigate and decide upon the actual winner. The commission consisted of 15 members and 8 to 7 voted for Hayes.

Hayes was the only president to be elected by a commission. He did not go in for reelection as he had promised not to do so in his inaugural address. 

Questions

1. When and where was Hayes born?

2. Describe his actions in the army.

3. Describe his career as a politician.

4. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5. How was he elected to the Presidency?

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Hayes as president? Why?

Ulysses S Grant
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1869–1877
Ulysses S Grant was the 18th President of United States. He was born on April 27, 1822 in Point Pleasant, Clermont County, Ohio.  He was the eldest of the six children of Jesse Root Grant and Hannah Simpson Grant. He was named Hiram Ulysses Grant.
In 1839, Grant entered the United States Military Academy at West Point, New York. It was during his nomination at West Point that his sponsor, U.S. Congressman Thomas L. Hamer erroneously named him "Ulysses S. Grant of Ohio"(the S was for his mother’s name). As the school administration refused to accept any name other than the one in the nomination form, Grant adopted the new name, as he didn’t like the acronym, HUG, of his earlier name. During his time at the academy, he became known for his fearless and expert horsemanship. 

During the Mexican–American War of 1846–1848, Lieutenant Grant served under Generals Zachary Taylor and Winfield Scott. Grant was twice brevetted for bravery. Later in his memoirs he recalled the war as unjust and said "I was bitterly opposed to the measure, and to this day, regard the war, which resulted, as one of the most unjust ever waged by a stronger against a weaker nation".
On August 22, 1848, Grant married Julia Boggs Dent. She was the cousin of Confederate General James Longstreet. They had four children: Frederick Dent Grant, Ulysses S. Grant, Jr., Ellen Wrenshall Grant, and Jesse Root Grant.

In 1854, Grant was promoted to captain, and assigned to command Company F, 4th Infantry, at Fort Humboldt, California. He tried his hand at business to ventures during this time to earn extra income, but they failed. Grant resigned from the Army in July 31, 1854, without offering any explanations. 

He tried his hand at everything he could think of during his civilian years. He worked on a family farm from 1854 to 1858 and used the slaves provided by his father-in-law.  The farm failed and later in desperation he asked his father for a job. His father made him an assistant in his leather shop in Galena, Illinois. 

During the Civil War, Grant helped recruit a company of volunteers and accompanied it to Illinois. At Illinois, Grant was offered a position to recruit and train volunteers. He accepted and did his work diligently. His hard work and efficiency won him the rank of a colonel in the Illinois militia and gave him command of undisciplined and rebellious 21st Illinois Infantry in June 1861. By August his skills as a leader of men brought him to the notice of Major General John C. Frémont who made him command the critical District of Southeast Missouri.

Grant became a well known General and his war exploits and grim determination won him the approval of many leaders, including Lincoln. Lincoln once said of Grant "Grant is my man and I am his, the rest of the War."

On March 12, 1864, Grant became general-in-chief of all the armies of the United States.

After the war, on July 25, 1866, Congress authorized the newly created rank of General of the Army of the United States and Grant was appointed as such by President Andrew Johnson the same day.

During the Reconstruction, General Grant was opposed to President Johnson’s moderate policies towards the South. Johnson also tried to use Grant to defeat the Radical Republicans by making Grant the Secretary of War, Grant refused his offer and this act made him a hero in the eyes of the Radicals who chose him as the Republican presidential candidate at the Republican National Convention in 1868. He easily won the nomination and the election. Grant won reelection too.

His presidency during the period of Reconstruction saw the suppression of the Ku Klux Klan and provided protection to the Unionists and freedmen in the South. 

Questions

1. When and where was Grant born?

2. How did he get his name?

3. Why did he oppose the Mexican-American war?

4. Describe his life after resigning in 1854.

5. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. Research his contributions to the American Civil War.

7. What were the events leading to his Presidency?

8. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

9. How do you rank Grant as president? Why?

Andrew Johnson
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1865-1869

Andrew Johnson was the 17th President. He was born on December 29, 1808, in Raleigh, North Carolina. His parents were Jacob Johnson and Mary McDonough. His family was poor and when his father died in 1811, Johnson's mother took in work spinning and weaving to support her family and later remarried. Johnson was apprenticed to a tailor when he was 10 or 14 years old. Though he did not have a formal education, he taught himself how to read and write.
When he was around 16, Johnson ran away from his apprenticeship and went to Greeneville, Tennessee. There he met up with his brother and found work as a tailor. Johnson married Eliza McCardle in 1827. They had five children: Martha, Charles, Mary, Robert, and Andrew Jr. 
Johnson worked hard to improve his learning and participated in debates. He also organized a workingman's party and was elected alderman in 1829. In 1833 he was appointed mayor and in 1835 he was elected to the Tennessee House of Representatives.  

Johnson was interested in politics and saw in it a way to protect the common man’s interest. He joined Andrew Jackson's states' rights Democratic Party and became a spokesman for the yeomen farmers and mountaineers.  In 1839 Johnson was elected to the Tennessee Senate, and in 1843 he became the first Democrat to win election as the U.S. Representative from Tennessee's 1st congressional district. He remained a State representative till 1853. He was elected governor of Tennessee in 1853. In 1857, he was elected as a Democrat to the United States Senate. He remained in that post till 1862. 
Johnson did not want Tennessee to secede to the Confederacy and toured the state before the decision, exhorting people to oppose the act which he saw as unconstitutional. During the secession he was the only Senator from the seceded states to continue participation in Congress and when asked he said “Damn the negroes, I am fighting those traitorous aristocrats, their masters."
Lincoln appointed Johnson military governor of occupied Tennessee in March 1862 with the rank of Brigadier General. Johnson worked hard to secure the Unionist cause and worked towards eradicating pro-Confederate views. He was also one of the few men of his time who believed in black suffrage. His loyalty to the Unionist cause made him an apt choice for Vice President and Lincoln chose him as his Vice President in 1865. 

On April 14, 1865, Abraham Lincoln was shot and mortally wounded by John Wilkes Booth. Johnson was sworn in as President of the United States on April 15, 1865.
On becoming President, Johnson changed his former stringent stand of traitors and adopted a more lenient approach and pardoned many Confederate leaders and ex-Confederates to maintain their control of Southern state governments, Southern lands, and black people.
Johnson survived two impeachments - one in November, 1867 and the other in March 1868.  Johnson is ranked amongst the worst presidents in U.S. history due to his veto of civil rights bills and attempts to placate the Confederates.  

Questions

1. When and where was Johnson born?

2. Describe his early struggles.

3. Why did he enter politics?

4. Describe his political career.

5. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. How did he contribute to the Unionist cause?

7. How did he become President?

8. Research his contributions to the American Civil War.

9. What were the events leading to his Presidency?

10. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

11. How do you rank Johnson as president? Why?

Abraham Lincoln
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1861-1865

Abraham Lincoln was the 16th President of the United States. He was born on February 12, 1809, to Thomas Lincoln and Nancy Hanks. His parents were poor and uneducated farmers who lived in a one-room log cabin on the 348-acre Sinking Spring Farm, in southeast Hardin County, Kentucky. The family lost their land in 1816 and moved to Perry County, Indiana. When Lincoln was nine, his mother died and a little later his father married Sarah Bush Johnston. Lincoln was close to her. The family finally settled in Coles County, Illinois. When he was twenty-two, Lincoln moved out on his own.  
Lincoln had managed to educate himself and was fond of reading. On November 4, 1842 Lincoln married Mary Todd. Mary was the daughter of a prominent slave-owning family from Kentucky. The couple had four sons, of whom only one, Robert Todd Lincoln, survived into adulthood.  
In 1832 he started his political career by campaigning for the Illinois General Assembly as a member of the Whig Party. He lost the election.  In 1834 he won election to the state legislature and, also started to teach himself law. In 1837 he was admitted to the bar and started his practice with John T. Stuart. His law practiced prospered due to his growing reputation as a formidable lawyer. In 1841 Lincoln entered the law practice with William Herndon.

He served as a representative from Sangamon County in the Illinois House of Representatives for four terms and was nominated as a leader of the Illinois Whig party. In 1846 Lincoln was elected to one term in the U.S. House of Representatives. As he was a key supporter of Zachary Taylor's candidacy for the 1848 Whig Presidential nomination, Taylor offered him the governorship of Oregon Territory. He declined the offer and returned to his law practice.
In 1854 he gave one of his most influential speeches.  In the speech he enumerated the moral, political and economic arguments against slavery. He spoke out against the Kansas-Nebraska Act and said:
The Act has a declared indifference, but as I must think, covert real zeal for the spread of slavery, I cannot but hate it. I hate it because of the monstrous injustice of slavery itself. I hate it because it deprives our republican example of its just influence in the world — enables the enemies of free institutions, with plausibility, to taunt us as hypocrites — causes the real friends of freedom to doubt our sincerity, and especially because it forces so many really good men amongst ourselves into an open war with the very fundamental principles of civil liberty — criticizing the Declaration of Independence, and insisting that there is no right principle of action but self-interest.
Lincoln was instrumental in forming the new Republican Party. At the Republican convention in 1856, Lincoln became the party's candidate for Vice-President. When in 1857-58, Douglas broke with President Buchanan, it lead to a fight for control of the Democratic Party at that time Lincoln  made his famous speech and quoted the scriptures saying "'A house divided against itself cannot stand.'(Mark 3:25) I believe this government cannot endure permanently half slave and half free. I do not expect the Union to be dissolved — I do not expect the house to fall — but I do expect it will cease to be divided. It will become all one thing, or all the other." 
Lincoln was chosen as the Republican candidate for the 1860 election. He won the election. Secessionists were sounding an alarm all over the country and Lincoln’s win added to their fervor. In his inaugural address Lincoln made a final attempt to reunite the states and prevent the looming war by Lincoln supporting the pending Corwin Amendment to the Constitution. This amendment which protected slavery in those states in which it already existed, appealed to the critical Border States.  

His tenure saw the outbreak of the Civil War and finally the defeat of the secessionist Confederate States of America. He led to the abolition of slavery and issued the Emancipation Proclamation in 1863. He also promoted the passage of the Thirteenth Amendment to the Constitution. 
Lincoln was assassinated on April 14, 1865. He was the first US President to be assassinated.
Questions

1. When and where was Lincoln born?

2. Describe his early struggles.

3. Describe his political career.

4. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

5. Research the Kansas-Nebraska Act? What do you think of Lincoln’s opinion of the Act?

6. Why was the new Republican Party formed?

7. Research his contributions to the American Civil War.

8. When was Lincoln assassinated?
9. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

10. How do you rank Lincoln as president? Why?

James Buchanan
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1857-1861

James Buchanan was the 15th President of the United States. He was born in a log cabin at Cove Gap, near Mercersburg, Franklin County, Pennsylvania, on April 23, 1791. His parents were James Buchanan and Elizabeth Speer. He was the second of their ten children. 

Buchanan graduated with honors from Dickinson College in Carlisle, Pennsylvania on September 7, 1809. Later he moved to Lancaster, Pennsylvania. He was admitted to the bar in 1812. 

 In 1814, Buchanan began his political career in the Pennsylvania House of Representatives. In 1821, he was elected to the 17th United States Congress and to the four succeeding Congresses till 1831. He was chairman of the U.S. House Committee on the Judiciary (21st Congress). From 1832 to 1834, Buchanan was appointed as ambassador to Russia.

In 1819, Buchanan was engaged to Ann Caroline Coleman, but rumors soon started hinting the Buchanan’s numerous business related travels were actually not what they seemed. Ann broke off her engagement on hearing these rumors and died soon after. Her family blamed Buchanan and didn’t allow him to attend her burial, but Buchanan preserved her letters and vowed never to marry again.

He joined the Democrat and represented the party in the United States Senate in 1834. He was re-elected in 1837 and 1843 and resigned in 1845. Buchanan was appointed Secretary of State in the Cabinet of President James K. Polk from 1845 to 1849. He also served as minister to the Court of St. James's (Britain) from 1853 to 1856, and helped draft the Ostend Manifesto. The Ostend Manifesto proposed the purchase of Cuba from Spain in order to extend slavery. This position also saved him from being in America during the Kansas-Nebraska debate and thus he maintained his neutrality. This helped him become the favored nominee of the Democrat party for the presidential election. He won the election of 1856 and became President.
Buchanan is now considered as one of the worst US President’s as he did nothing to control the growing divide in the country over slavery. He countered that secession was illegal but going to war to stop it was illegal too. 
Questions

1. When and where was Buchanan born?

2. Why did Ann Caroline Coleman die?

3. Describe Buchanan’s political career.

4. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

5. How do you rank Buchanan as president? Why?

Franklin Pierce
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1853-1857

Franklin Pierce was the 14th President of the United States. He was born in a log cabin in Hillsborough, New Hampshire on November 23, 1804.  His parents were Benjamin Pierce and Anna B. Kendrick. His father was a frontier farmer who became a Revolutionary War soldier, a state militia general, and a two-time Democratic-Republican governor of New Hampshire. He was the fifth of eight children.
Franklin Pierce attended the Francestown Academy in 1820. Later that year, he joined Bowdoin College in Brunswick, Maine. At the college he learnt to express himself well and joined the literary, political, and debating clubs. Though not a very good student, he relied on his hard work and diligence to come third in his graduation in 1824. He studied law and was admitted to the bar in 1827. The same year he started his law practice.
Pierce became interested in politics after his graduation and rose to a central position in the Democratic Party of New Hampshire. He also became a member of the Concord Regency leadership group. In 1828 he was elected to the lower house of the New Hampshire General Court, the New Hampshire House of Representatives. He became a Speaker in 1832 and was also elected as a Democrat to the 23rd and 24th Congresses. He was the youngest U.S. Representative at the time. Pierce also served in the state legislature of New Hampshire.

On November 19, 1834, Pierce married Jane Means Appleton. The marriage was not a happy one because she was his exact opposite - extremely shy, deeply religious, and pro-temperance. She didn’t like his political career and wanted him to resign his Senate seat. They had three children, all of whom died in childhood. 

From 1837 to 1842, Pierce served as a Democrat to the United States Senate.  He resigned in 1842 and went back to his private practice. He also served as the United States Attorney for the District of New Hampshire from 1845 to 1847. 

In 1847, Pierce enlisted in the volunteer services for the Mexican-American War and became a colonel. Later, he was appointed brigadier general of the volunteers and was told to command a brigade of reinforcements marching on to Mexico City. He was seriously wounded during battle. Though he was a political appointee, he had all the required skills of a military commander. In 1850 he returned to his private practice and was pointed President of the New Hampshire state constitutional convention.
The Democratic National Convention of 1852 did not seriously consider Pierce for the presidential nomination and concentrated on Stephen A. Douglas, William L. Marcy, James Buchanan and Lewis Cass. The four candidates were equally strong and the elections reached a deadlock, then Pierce’s name was mentioned to break the deadlock. He won the nomination as he was generally liked and did not have any strong views on slavery. Pierce’s non-committal views on slavery helped him win the elections as his Republican opponent’s strong anti-slavery views lost him crucial votes in the South. 
Pierce’s presidency began on a gloomy note as in January 1853, his family was caught in a derailed coach and his 11-year-old son Benjamin was crushed to death. His wife, Jane, forever critical of his political ambitions saw in it the evidence of divine punishment and further distanced herself from her husband. 
Pierce was the first President who chose to "affirm" his oath of office rather than swear it. He placed his hand on a law book rather than on a Bible while taking oath. 

The Kansas-Nebraska Act and Ostend Manifesto during his presidency brought upon him a deluge of critical opinion and he was not re-nominated by the party for reelection. 

Questions

1. When and where was Pierce born?

2. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

3. Describe his political career.

4. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

5. How did his political ambitions affect his marriage? Why?

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Pierce as president? Why?

Millard Fillmore
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1850-1853

Millard Fillmore was the 13th President of the United States. He was born in a log cabin in Cayuga County in the Finger Lakes region of New York State on January 7, 1800. His parents were Nathaniel Fillmore and Phoebe Millard. He was the second of their nine children. When he was fourteen he was apprenticed to a cruel and brutal cloth maker in Sparta, New York. He ran away four months and again joined another cloth maker as an apprentice. Fillmore struggled to educate himself during his childhood and attended the New Hope Academy for six months in 1819. That same year, he became a clerk to a judge and started his study of law. 
On February 5, 1826, Fillmore married Abigail Powers. They had two children - Millard Powers Fillmore and Mary Abigail Fillmore. Fillmore later moved to Buffalo, New York. He was admitted to the bar in 1823 and started his law practice. In 1834, he formed a law partnership, Fillmore and Hall with his friend Nathan K. Hall. He prospered as the firm became one of western New York's most prestigious firms. 
Fillmore was interested in education and he realized that there were a paucity of institutions imparting quality education, so in 1846, he founded the private University of Buffalo. It is now the public State University of New York at Buffalo (SUNY Buffalo), the largest school in the New York State University system.

In 1828, Fillmore was elected to the New York State Assembly. He was later elected as a Whig to the 23rd Congress in 1832. He served in the same capacity till 1835. He was re-elected to the 25th, 26th, and 27th Congress. He was opposed the entrance of Texas as a slave territory. In 1844 he lost his campaign for Governor of New York in 1844. In 1848, he became the first New York State Comptroller elected by general ballot, and he revised New York's banking system. The future National Banking System was based on his revised model.

At the Whig national convention in 1848, Fillimore was chosen as the vice presidential candidate. His choice was based on the fact that he was from a non-slave state and would help balance the opinion against the presidential nominee, Gen. Zachary Taylor, whose nomination had raised the hackles of the supporters of Henry Clay. Fillmore had a lenient view on slavery and saw it as a way of appeasing the South. He said: "God knows that I detest slavery, but it is an existing evil... and we must endure it and give it such protection as is guaranteed by the Constitution." The Taylor-Fillmore combination won the elections.
President Taylor died on July 9, 1850 due to severe gastroenteritis and Fillmore became the President. Fillmore changed the cabinet and the new members favored the Compromise of 1850.
He was not nominated for the presidential elections of 1852.
Questions

1. When and where was Fillmore born?

2. Describe the initial hardships he faced.

3. How did Fillmore rise in his life? 
4. Enumerate the characteristics that stand out in Fillmore.

5. What was his wife’s name? When did they get married?

6. Describe his political career.

7. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

8. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

9. How do you rank Fillmore as a president? Why?

Zachary Taylor
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1849-1850
Zachary Taylor was the 12th President of the United States. He was born on November 24, 1784. He was born on a farm in Orange County, Virginia. His father was Richard Taylor, a prominent planter. His family was wealthy and in later years his father owned 10,000 acres, town lots in Louisville, and twenty-six slaves.
Taylor was a poor student and didn’t bother much with his education since there were no schools on the Kentucky frontier where he grew up. 
On May 3, 1808, Taylor joined the U.S. Army, and received a commission as a first lieutenant of the Seventh Infantry Regiment. He later became the commander of Fort Knox and served in that position till 1814. During the War of 1812, he was successful in defending Fort Harrison in Indiana Territory, from an attack by Native Americans.  He resigned from the army in 1814, but re-entered it after he was commissioned as a major a year later. He became a full colonel in 1832. Taylor led the 1st Infantry Regiment in the Black Hawk War of 1832. In 1837, he defeated the Seminole Indians and was promoted to brigadier general. On his promotion Taylor was given command of all American troops in Florida. He became the commander of the southern division of the United States Army in 1841.
In 1845, Taylor was given command of American troops on the Rio Grande River. In 1846 the Battles of Palo Alto and of Monterrey in the Mexican- American War ensued. His success in the Battle of Buena Vista in February 1847 made him a hero. 
Taylor was nominated as the Presidential candidate for the Whigs in the elections of 1848. He did not support the idea of expanding slavery into the western areas of the United States and was a firm nationalist. Further, he did not favor secession. Taylor’s wartime victories had made him a military legend for the American population and “Old Rough and Ready" political clubs were formed which supporting Taylor for President. Taylor defeated Lewis Cass, the Democratic candidate, and Martin Van Buren, the Free Soil candidate and became President. 
Taylor could not enjoy his presidency for long and died on July 4, 1850 of acute gastroenteritis. 
As president, Taylor urged settlers in New Mexico and California to bypass the territorial stage and draft constitutions for statehood. This set the tone for the compromise of 1850.
Questions

1. When and where was Taylor born?

2. Describe his successes in the army.

3. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

4. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

5. How do you rank Taylor as president? Why?

James K Polk
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1845-1849
James K Polk was the eleventh president of the United States. He was born in a log farmhouse in Pineville, North Carolina on November 2, 1795.  His parents were Samuel Polk and Jane Polk. Samuel Polk was a slaveholder, successful farmer and surveyor.  In 1806 the family moved to Duck River area, Middle Tennessee, and soon became one of the leading families there. Samuel Polk became one of the leading planters in that area, and a county judge. 
Polk was a sickly child and it affected his schooling as well as his health later in life. Due to his illnesses he started his education only when he turned 18. Polk later joined the University of North Carolina as a second-semester sophomore. There, he joined the Dialectic Society, and learned how to become an orator. Polk graduated in May 1818 at the top of his class.
After graduation, Polk studied law under renowned Nashville trial attorney Felix Grundy. During that time he also served as clerk of the Tennessee State Senate. Polk was admitted to the bar in 1820, and started his private practice in Columbia, Tennessee.  
In 1822 he ran a successful campaign for the state legislature. He was called "Napoleon of the Stump” due to his impressive oratory. 
He married Sarah Childress, on January 1, 1824. They had no children and worked as a team, with Sarah who actively campaigned with him and even advised him on policy matters. In 1824 Polk was elected into the House of Representatives. 

Polk was a firm supporter of Jacksonian democracy and favored gold and silver over paper money. His preference of agricultural interests over industrial ones and distrust of banks won him the sobriquet of   "Young Hickory,” When his mentor Jackson defeated Adams in the presidential election of 1828, Polk rose in prominence and became the leader of the pro-Administration faction in Congress. 

In December 1835, Polk became the Speaker of the House and held the post during the 24th and 25th Congresses. As Speaker, he attempted to make the House discussions more orderly and maintained the gag rule against abolitionist petitions against slavery. He too did not react to the personal attacks made by the other politicians. In 1838, Polk ran for Governor of Tennessee and succeeded.

Polk did not stand for nomination as the presidential candidate during the 1844 elections, but rather hoped for the Vice Presidential seat. The primary candidate was Van Buren but he lost support as he opposed the annexation of the Republic of Texas which, after declaring independence from Mexico in 1836, had asked to join the United States. Polk became the "dark horse" candidate and won the nomination. Polk is said to have famously responded to his nomination by saying:
"It has been well observed that the office of President of the United States should neither be sought nor declined. I have never sought it, nor should I feel at liberty to decline it, if conferred upon me by the voluntary suffrages of my fellow citizens."
Polk promised to serve only one term if elected. He won the 1844 elections and the popular vote by a margin of about 39,000 out of 2.6 million.
Polk is said to have clearly marked out four goals for his administration:

1. The re-establishment of the Independent Treasury System. 

2. The reduction of tariffs. 

3. Acquisition of some or all of the Oregon Country. 

4. The acquisition of California and New Mexico from Mexico. 

He accomplished all his goals as President and did not seek re-election as promised.
Questions

1. When and where was Polk born?

2. Enumerate his political career.

3. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

4. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

5. How do you rank Polk as president? Why?

John Tyler
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1841-1845

John Tyler was the 10th President of the United States. He was born on March 29, 1790 in Charles City County, Virginia. Tyler's parents were John Tyler, Sr. and Mary Armistead Tyler. His family was one of the elite families in the county and he received a very good education. Tyler’s father was a friend of Thomas Jefferson. He owned a tobacco plantation of over a thousand acres serviced by dozens of slaves, and also worked as a judge at the U.S. Circuit Court at Richmond, Virginia. Mary Tyler died from a stroke in 1797. John graduated from the College of William and Mary in 1807.

John Tyler studied law under his father and was admitted to the bar in 1809. He was a member of the Virginia House of Delegates in 1811, and in 1816 became a member of the council of state. From 1816 to 1821 he served in the House of Representatives. John Tyler suffered from ill health for most of his life. In 1820 he refused to be re-nominated to the Congress and chose instead to become a member of the Virginia House of Delegates from Charles City County. In 1823 he was elected to be the Governor of Virginia. In 1829 and 1830, he served as a member of the Virginia state constitutional convention.

John Tyler was married twice and had fifteen legitimate children. His first wife was Letitia Christian Tyler, with whom he had eight children - Mary, Robert, John, Letitia, Elizabeth, Anne Contesse, Alice, and Tazewell. Letitia died in September 1842. His second wife was Julia Gardiner Tyler, with whom he had seven children - David, John Alexander, Julia, Lachlan, Lyon, Robert, and Pearl. 

In 1827, he was elected to the Senate and re-elected in 1833. During this time he served as President pro tempore of the Senate during the 23rd Congress.  In 1838, Tyler served as a member of the Virginia House of Delegates from Williamsburg and was elected Speaker of the House in 1839.

In 1840, the Whig party offered him the vice-presidential nomination and he decided to become their member. He became the running mate to William Henry Harrison. The Whigs won the election, and Tyler became vice-president on March 4, 1841.

Tyler was kept out of the loop by Harrison and he returned to Virginia shortly after the inauguration. Harrison died on April 4, 1841, and according to law, Tyler became the President. This caused a lot of strain within the party as Harrison had been a Whig and Tyler had been a career Democrat. The opposition suggested that Tyler assume a role as an acting caretaker.  Tyler took the presidential oath of office on April 6, 1841, and became the first U.S. vice president to assume the office of President upon the death of his predecessor.

The confusion caused due to his ascension to presidency made him an outsider and no political party accepted him. This feeling was accentuated by Whig Henry Clay who wanted to become the power behind Harrison’s throne, and on his death decided to use his influence over Tyler. Clay continued calling Tyler Vice President but Tyler set him right and asserted that he had the full powers of the President.  He retorted to Clay: "Go you now, Mr. Clay, to your end of the avenue, where stands the Capitol, and there perform your duty to the country as you shall think proper. So help me God, I shall do mine at this end of it as I shall think proper."
Tyler did not toe the Whig party line and twice he vetoed the party’s legislation due to these actions he was expelled from the Whig Party only a few months after taking office, and became known as "the man without a party." The entire cabinet of Harrison with the exception of the Secretary of State resigned in September.  

Tyler’s claim to the presidency and his refusal to be influenced by party politics strengthened the office of the President.
Questions

1. When and where was Tyler born?

2. Describe his family.

3. Enumerate his political career.

4. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

5. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

6. How do you rank Tyler as a president? Why?

William Henry Harrison
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March 4, 1841 – April 4, 1841

William Henry Harrison was the 9th President of the United States. He was born into a prominent political family on the Berkeley Plantation in Charles City County, Virginia, on February 9, 1773. His parents were Benjamin Harrison V and Elizabeth Bassett. Benjamin Harrison V was a Virginia planter and a delegate to the Continental Congress who signed the Declaration of Independence and was governor of Virginia.  
In 1787, Harrison entered the Presbyterian Hampden-Sydney College and studied Latin and basic French. He later studied medicine in Richmond. Harrison entered the University of Pennsylvania in 1790 and continued his study of medicine, but he was not interested in it. In 1791 his father died and he had no funds for his schooling.  His father’s friend, Governor Henry Lee of Virginia, advised him to join the army to deal with his financial crisis. At age 18, he joined the army and was assigned to the Northwest Indian War. 
General Wayne took command of the western army in 1792. Wayne became Harrison’s idol and from him he learnt how to successfully command an army on the American frontier. In 1793, his mother died and he inherited a portion of the family's estate, including about three thousand acres of land and several slaves. He sold the land to his brother.

In 1795 Harrison met Anna Symmes. He asked her father Judge John Cleves Symmes for permission to marry. The judge refused as he felt that Harrison would not be able to provide for Anna. Harrison and Anna eloped and got married on November 25, 1795. Judge Symmes then sold them 160 acres of land in North Bend in order to provide for them. They had 10 children - six sons and four daughters. 

In 1797 Harrison resigned from the army and started his political career by campaigning for a post in the Northwest Territorial government. He was appointed to the position of Secretary of the Northwest Territory and he also acted as governor due to the frequent absences of Governor Arthur St. Clair. Harrison’s popularity increased as he championed for the north-westerners' primary concern - land prices. In 1799, Harrison was elected in the 6th United States Congress, serving till 1800. During this time he promoted the passage of the Harrison Land Act. The Act allowed the average settler to purchase land in the Northwest Territory as the land could be sold in small tracts. 

President John Adams nominated Harrison to become governor of the new territory of Indiana. Harrison was caught off guard and agreed to accept the position when the Jeffersonians promised him that he would not be removed from office after they gained power in the upcoming elections. In1801 he moved to Vincennes, the capital of the new territory. In 1803 President Thomas Jefferson granted Harrison authority to negotiate and conclude treaties with the Indians and gain titles for land that would eventually mark Indiana’s rise to statehood. In 1803 Harrison lobbied Congress to repeal Article 6 of the Northwest Ordinance to permit slavery in the Indiana Territory. On the basis of his persistent lobbying, Congress suspended the article for ten years, and the territories covered by the ordinance were granted the right to decide for themselves whether to permit slavery. Harrison also had the territorial legislature authorize indenturing and then he attempted legalize slavery legalized in 1805 and 1807. His attempts caused discontent and in 1809, when the abolitionist party came to power, the plans for slavery were put aside. 
In 1810, Tecumseh, the Indian leader, traveled to Vincennes with about 400 armed warriors, where he confronted Harrison and demanded that the Treaty of Fort Wayne be rescinded. Harrison refused and the party left peacefully but Harrison asked for Secretary of War’s authority to march against the nascent confederation. At the Secretary’s nod Harrison moved north with an army of over 1,000 in an attempt to intimidate the Shawnee into making peace. The show of force failed and the tribes launched a surprise attack on Harrison's army. It was called the Battle of Tippecanoe. Harrison ultimately won his famous victory at Prophetstown, Indiana and was celebrated as a national hero, despite the fact that his troops had greatly outnumbered the attackers and had suffered many more casualties.
During the war with the British in 1812 there were many skirmishes with the Native Americans in the Old Northwest, and Harrison remained in command of the army in Indiana. After the loss of Detroit, Harrison was offered the rank of brigadier general. He refused, and then President James Madison removed Winchester and made Harrison the commander on September 17, 1812. In 1813, he won victories in Indiana and Ohio and recaptured Detroit, before invading Canada. Harrison also defeated the British at the Battle of the Thames, in which Tecumseh was killed.  Now, the Secretary of War divided Harrison's army and assigned him to a backwater post and gave control of the front to one of Harrison's subordinates. Harrison resigned from the army and his resignation was accepted in 1814.
After the war, Congress investigated Harrison's resignation and decided in his favor. Harrison was then awarded a gold medal for his services to the nation during the War of 1812. Harrison was later appointed as a commissioner to negotiate two treaties with the Indians tribes in the northwest. He managed to negotiate the treaties to America’s advantage. Both treaties were advantageous to the United States and gained a large tract of land in the west for settlement.
In 1816, Harrison was elected to the U.S. House of Representatives. He was then elected to the Ohio State Senate in 1819. In 1824 he was elected to the U.S. Senate, where he served until May 20, 1828. That same year he was appointed as minister plenipotentiary to Gran Colombia and resigned his Senate seat. He found Columbia under the dictatorship of Simón Bolívar and was greatly saddened. He wrote to Bolivar, stating "...the strongest of all governments is that which is most free." Bolívar responded in kind by saying "The United States ... seem destined by Providence to plague America with torments in the name of freedom." In 1829 he returned to the United States and settled down at his farm.
Harrison was the Northern Whig candidate for president in 1836. Harrison lost the nomination to Van Buren, who eventually became the president. In 1840 he again faced Van Buren. The Whig party now unified behind Harrison and he was chosen. Harrison won a landslide Electoral College victory and became President.  

Harrison delivered what is known as the longest inaugural address that lasted two hours on a cold and wet day.  After the address, on March 4, 1841, he rode through the streets in the inaugural parade. On March 26, Harrison became ill with a cold and died on April 4, 1841, of right lower lobe pneumonia, jaundice, and overwhelming septicemia. He enjoyed the shortest term in office.  

Questions

1. When and where was Harrison born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. What was his wife’s name? Describe the circumstances surrounding their marriage.

4. Summarize his political career.

5. What do you think of his decisions as governor of Indiana?

6. Describe the events leading to his Presidency.

7. How do you rank Harrison as president? Why?

Martin Van Buren
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1837-1841

Martin Van Buren was the 8th President of the United States. He was born in the village of Kinderhook, New York on December 5, 1782. His parents were Abraham Van Buren and Maria Van Buren. Abraham was a farmer and popular tavern-master. 
Van Buren was educated at common schools and at Kinderhook Academy. In 1796, he started studying law. In 1803, he was admitted to the bar and started a successful private practice that lasted for 25 years.

On February 21, 1807, he married Hannah Hoes, a maternal cousin. They had four children - Abraham, John, Martin and Smith Thompson. Hannah died in 1819, before her husband became President. 
Since Van Buren had been active in politics since 1799, when he attended a party convention in Troy, New York, and worked to secure the Congressional nomination for John Van Ness. In 1812, he became a member of the New York State Senate and supported the War of 1812.  In 1817 Van Buren created the first political machine encompassing all of New York, the Bucktails. The leaders of this political machine were known as the Albany Regency. He was the leading figure in the Albany Regency. They, along with the Tammany Hall group, played a major role in the development of the "spoils system". 
In February 1821, Martin Van Buren was elected to the United States Senate. He was one of those astute few who recognized Andrew Jackson as a presidential candidate. In February 1827, he was re-elected to the Senate by a large majority. His support of Jackson became more vocal and he became one of the recognized managers of the Jackson campaign. Van Buren tried to unify the party behind Jackson and was one of the first to create a grassroots style of by organizing volunteers at the local level. The campaign involved planting hickory trees in allusion to Jackson's nickname, "Old Hickory" and handing out hickory sticks at rallies. In 1828, Van Buren was elected governor of New York.
In 1829, President Jackson appointed Van Buren as Secretary of State, and he resigned the governorship. Van Buren sided with Jackson in the controversy with the Bank of the United States and became the prominent candidate for the vice-presidency. In April 1831, Van Buren resigned from his post of Secretary of State and in August 1831, he was appointed minister to the Court of St. James (United Kingdom), and he arrived in London in September. During the 1832 Democratic National Convention, he was nominated for vice-president on the Jackson ticket. They won the elections in a landslide victory.

Van Buren was unanimously nominated by the 1835 Democratic National Convention as the presidential candidate. He won the election and became the eighth president of the United States.
His presidency saw the Panic of 1837, and his elegant style of dress won him many enemies during the hard times. He took the blame for the economic distress and was re-nominated by his party but lost the elections.

Questions

1. When and where was Van Buren born?

2. Summarize his political career.

3. How did he campaign for Jackson?
4. Research the Tammany Hall Group and describe their ideas.

5. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

6. How do you rank Van Buren as president? Why?

Andrew Jackson
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1829-1837

Andrew Jackson was the 7th President of the United States. He was born on March 15, 1767, in the Waxhaws area near the border between North and South Carolina. His parents were Andrew and Elizabeth Hutchinson Jackson who had emigrated from Ireland two years earlier. Andrew Jackson was born three weeks after his father's death. 
Jackson joined the American Revolutionary War as a courier for a local regiment in 1780. He was barely thirteen at that time. During the war he and his brother, Robert, became prisoners of war of the British. According to old lore, Jackson was ordered by a British officer to clean his boots; when he refused, the officer slashed at him with a sword. This treatment made him intensely hate the British. He and his brother contracted small pox during captivity, and Robert died a few days after their mother secured their release. Jackson's entire immediate family died from war-related hardships which strengthened Jackson’s hatred of the British.  He was orphaned when he was fourteen.
Jackson took up various jobs to earn his livelihood and worked at a saddle-maker's shop and also taught. In 1787, he was admitted to the bar, after studying law in Salisbury, North Carolina. He then moved to Jonesboro, in the Western District of North Carolina and started his law practice practicing in the hard world of frontier law. His practice prospered and in 1788, he was appointed Solicitor of the Western District. Jackson held the same position in the territorial government of Tennessee after 1791. Jackson was elected U.S. Senator as a Democratic-Republican in 1797, but on being appointed a judge in 1798, he resigned from his earlier position. He served as judge till 1804. By this time, Jackson had also started flourishing as a planter and merchant, and in 1803 he had built a home and the first general store of Gallatin. In 1804, he acquired a 640-acre plantation in Sumner County, near Nashville and named it Hermitage. Jackson also owned slaves.
In 1788, he met Rachel Donelson Robards who was in an unhappy marriage with Captain Lewis Robards. The two separated in 1790 and Jackson married Rachel after hearing that the Robards had obtained a divorce. Actually, the divorce had not been finalized, and Rachel and Jackson re-married in 1794. This discrepancy became a major discussion point and was used by opposition members to discredit Jackson later in life. Jackson is rumored to have fought many duels, defending his wife’s honor, and in one he mortally wounded a man. Rachel died of a heart attack on December 22, 1828, two weeks after her husband's victory in the presidential elections. Jackson blamed John Quincy Adams for Rachel's death because he brought up the matter of Jackson’s marriage during the election of 1828 which led to Rachel’s demise.  

During the War of 1812, Jackson commanded the American forces, and defeated the Red Stick Creeks at the Battle of Horseshoe Bend in 1814. The Treaty of Fort Jackson was signed due to Jackson’s victory which additionally won twenty million acres from all Creeks for white settlement. Jackson was appointed Major General for his victory. His bravery and discipline won him the moniker of “old hickory" by his men. In the Battle of New Orleans in January 1815, Jackson's 5,000 soldiers won a victory over 7,500 British. Jackson’s victories made him a war hero and he received the thanks of Congress and a gold medal by resolution of February 27, 1815.

During the First Seminole Wars, Jackson led a campaign in December 1817 against the Seminole and Creek Indians. His duty included, preventing Spanish Florida from becoming a refuge for runaway slaves. Jackson captured Pensacola, Florida, without sufficient warning and deposed the Spanish governor. He also captured, tried and executed two Britishers Robert Ambrister and Alexander Arbuthnot, who had been supplying and advising the Indians. Though Jackson’s actions were criticized as exceeding orders, before leaving for war Jackson had sent message to President Monroe stating, "Let it be signified to me through any channel... that the possession of the Floridas would be desirable to the United States, and in sixty days it will be accomplished." The response of Monroe was sufficiently ambiguous and later provided the basis for international denials. Jackson's invasion of territory belonging to Spain, which was not at war with the US, created an international incident. But Secretary of State, Quincy Adam’s defensive letter to Spain led to the Adams-Onis treaty by which Spain ceded Florida to America. Jackson was named military governor and served from March 10, 1821 to December 31, 1821.

In the 1824 elections, Jackson was a popular nominee of the Democratic-Republican Party but did not receive a majority. The other candidates were Treasury Secretary William H. Crawford, Secretary of State John Quincy Adams and House Speaker Henry Clay. Since no candidate received a majority, the House of Representatives chose Adams as Clay had given him his support. This led the public to say that the "man of the people" had been robbed by the "corrupt aristocrats of the East."

In 1825, the Tennessee legislature nominated Jackson for President. Jackson’s supporter Van Buren, revived the old Republican Party, gave it a new name as the Democratic Party and Jackson defeated Adams in 1828.

In the 1832 presidential election, Jackson won re-election as the candidate of the Democratic Party. Jackson was one of the few leaders who continued dominating the politics of his time even after his presidency.
Questions

1. When and where was Jackson born?

2. Why did he hate the British?

3. Describe the hardships he faced.

4. What was his wife’s name? Describe the circumstances surrounding their marriage.

5. Summarize his political career.

6. Why was he called ‘old hickory’?

7. Describe his efforts on the battlefield.

8. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

9. How do you rank Jackson as president? Why?

John Quincy Adams
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1825-1829

John Quincy Adams was the 6th President of the United States. He was born on July 11, 1767 to John Adams, Jr. and Abigail Adams in Braintree, Massachusetts. John Adams served as an American envoy to France and the Netherlands, and young John accompanied his father on these journeys.

Adams studied at Leiden University and due to his extensive travels he became proficient in French and Dutch, and had an easy familiarity with German and other European languages. He graduated from Harvard College in 1788, and was apprenticed as a lawyer with Theophilus Parsons in Newburyport, Massachusetts. He was admitted to the bar in 1791. 

In 1794, Adams was appointed minister to the Netherlands and in 1796 he was appointed to Portugal. His father became the second President of the United States and he appointed him as Minister to Prussia in 1797. 
On July 26, 1797, John Quincy Adams married Louisa Catherine Johnson in London, England. Louisa was the daughter of an American merchant. They had four children - George, John Adams, II, Charles Francis, and Louisa Catherine.
In 1803, the Massachusetts General Court elected Adams as a Federalist to the U.S. Senate, but in 1808 he broke with the Federalists, and became a Democrat-Republican. From 1809 until 1814, Adams served as minister to Russia and as chief negotiator of the U.S. commission for the Treaty of Ghent in 1814, and as minister to the Court of St. James's (Britain) from 1815 until 1817. In 1808, Adams was appointed as Secretary of State to the Cabinet of President James Monroe. During this time his successes were - the acquisition of Florida, the Adams-Onís Treaty, and the Monroe Doctrine which warned European nations against meddling in the affairs of the Western Hemisphere. Adams' interpretation of neutrality was so strict that he endorsed American moral support but not armed intervention on behalf of independence movements. He famously stated that America "goes not abroad in search of monsters to destroy”.
During the elections of 1824, Adams ran against Speaker of the House Henry Clay, Secretary of the Treasury William H. Crawford, U.S. Senator Andrew Jackson, and Secretary of War John C. Calhoun. The elections could not decide on a favorite and the presidential election was thrown to the House of Representatives to vote on the top three candidates: Jackson, Adams, and Crawford. Though Clay was not considered as he had come fourth, he yielded immense power. Clay disliked Jackson and as Crawford had suffered a stroke, Clay pledged his support for Adams, who was elected by the House.  Adams won the presidential election and made Clay the Vice President. 

During his term, he worked on developing the American System, which involved a high tariff to support internal improvements, and a national bank to encourage productive enterprise and sustain a national currency.
Questions

1. When and where was Adams born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his political career.

4. Adams stated “(America) goes not abroad in search of monsters to destroy.” Critically examine this statement in today’s scenario. 

5. Research and summarize the Monroe Doctrine.

6. Describe the events leading to Adams’ election as President.

7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Adams as president? Why?

James Monroe
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1817-1825

James Monroe was the 5th President of the United States. He was born on April 28,1758. His parents were Spence Monroe and Elizabeth Jones Monroe. Spence Monroe was a carpenter and tobacco farmer. 

Monroe went to school at Campbell town Academy and then to The College of William & Mary, in Virginia. After graduating in 1776, Monroe fought in the Continental Army, and served with distinction at the Battle of Trenton.  Later, he practiced law in Fredericksburg, Virginia. 
Monroe married Elizabeth Kortright on February 16, 1786 in New York. 

Monroe was elected to the Virginia House of Delegates in 1782. From 1783 he served in the Continental Congress for three years. He joined the anti-Federalists in the Virginia Convention and was elected United States Senator in 1790. In 1794, Monroe was appointed Minister to France and served as such till 1796. During that time he displayed his sympathies for the French Revolution. After his term expired he returned to his private practice. In 1799 he was elected governor of Virginia. 
In 1803, Monroe was appointed Minister to the Court of St. James (Britain) from and in 1806 he negotiated a treaty with Britain to replace the Jay Treaty of 1794. This was rejected by Jefferson as it contained no ban on the British practice of impressments of American sailors. 

In 1811, he was again elected as governor of Virginia in 1811, but he resigned a few months into the term, as he was appointed as Secretary of State from 1811 to 1814. During 1814, he became Secretary of War but retained his position as Secretary of State too, and after the war he was again commissioned as the permanent Secretary of State.  

Due to his non partisan dealings and practical approach, Monroe was the popular presidential candidate and won the elections of 1816 and 1820.
Monroe’s presidency is known as the "Era of Good Feelings”. His administration saw the acquisition of Florida, the Missouri Compromise and the profession of the Monroe Doctrine. The Monroe Doctrine asserted U.S. opposition to European interference in the Americas, and broke all ties with France. 
Questions

1. When and where was Monroe born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his political career.

4. Why was he nominated to the Presidency?
5. Discuss the events of the time when he was President.

6. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

7. How do you rank Monroe as president? Why?

James Madison
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1809-1817

James Madison was the 4th President of the United States. He was born on March 16, 1751. He was one of the Founding Fathers of the United States. 
Madison started his career as a lawyer and one of his earliest defenses were for the Baptist preachers arrested for preaching without a license from the established Anglican Church. He also worked with the preacher Elijah Craig on constitutional guarantees for religious liberty in Virginia. He was a protégé of Thomas Jefferson and helped draft the Virginia Statute for Religious Freedom which disestablished the Church of England, and disallowed any power of state in religious matters. 

In 1783, James Madison helped create the Northwest Territory by convincing Virginia to give up its claims to northwestern territories of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, and Wisconsin, and part of Minnesota - to the Continental Congress. He was elected to the Virginia House of Delegates for the periods of 1776-1779 and 1784-1786.

At the Philadelphia Convention in 1787, Madison re-wrote the Articles of Confederation, focusing on the divisiveness of state governments and suggested a three-branch federal system. That system became the basis for the American Constitution of today. He desired a strong federal government that could overrule the mistaken actions of the states as and when required. 
In order to support the ratification of the Constitution, Madison, along with Alexander Hamilton and John Jay, wrote the Federalist Papers in 1787 and 1788. In Virginia in 1788, Madison spoke out in defense of the ratification and for his unmatched efforts in drafting and ratification he is called the "Father of the Constitution". A modest man, He later said of that title- "a credit to which I have no claim... The Constitution was not, like the fabled Goddess of Wisdom, the offspring of a single brain. It ought to be regarded as the work of many heads and many hands".
Initially Madison refused to formulate a Bill of Rights as he felt that it was unnecessary and would prove to be a barrier at state level. He also felt that writing down the rights, would deem unwritten or missed out rights as unlawful. But as the anti-Federalists demanded a bill of rights in exchange for their support for ratification, he agreed. By 1791, the proposed amendments were ratified and the Bill of Rights was formed. Despite his wishes, the Bill of Rights was not integrated into the main body of the Constitution. 

In 1789, Madison was elected as one of the senators of the First Congress and stayed a prominent member till the Fourth Congress.

When Britain and France went to war in 1793 the U.S. was in a dilemma as the 1778 treaty of alliance with France was still in effect, but most of the US’s trade was with Britain. As war seemed imminent, Madison was not worried, but George Washington worked to avoid a trade war and secured friendly trade relations with Britain through the Jay Treaty of 1794. Madison tried hard to defeat this treaty, but couldn’t. Due to this treaty, America was divided into Federalists and Democratic-Republicans.
From 1801 to 1809 Madison served as the Secretary of State. During this time Madison tried to maintain neutrality between Britain and France, but at the same time insisted on the legal rights of the U.S. under international law. As neither Britain nor France accepted those terms, an embargo was initiated. But it led to more problems as the southern economy depended on foreign trade.

In 1808, Madison was elected as the presidential nominee and won the presidential elections.
As President, Madison saw the War of 1812 against Great Britain in order to protect the United States' economic rights. The war made him realize the need for a strong central government and he then supported the creation of the second National Bank, a strong military, and a high tariff to protect the new factories opened during the war.
Questions

1. When and where was Madison born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his political career.

4. Why didn’t Madison want to draft the Bill of Rights? Do you agree with his views?

5. Why did he change his views on Central Government?
6. Why is he called the Father of the Constitution?
7. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

8. How do you rank Madison as president? Why?

Thomas Jefferson
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1801-1809

Thomas Jefferson was the 3rd President of the United States. He was born on April 13, 1743. His parents were Peter Jefferson and Jane Randolph. Jefferson's father was a planter and surveyor in Albemarle County. The family was prominent in Virginia. 

In 1752, Jefferson attended a local school run by William Douglas a Scottish minister, and studied Latin, Greek, and French. In 1757, his father died and Jefferson inherited about 5,000 acres of land and dozens of slaves. He also studied with another minister James Maury and boarded with his family.  In 1760 Jefferson joined the College of William & Mary in Williamsburg and graduated with the highest honors in 1762. In 1767 he joined the Virginia bar and became a prominent lawyer handling more than a hundred cases each year between 1768 and 1773 in General Court alone. 
In 1772, Jefferson married the 23-year-old widow Martha Wayles Skelton. They had six children of which five survived. Martha died on September 6, 1782 and Jefferson never remarried, but he had a long-term relationship with an enslaved companion, Sally Hemings. 

In 1769, Jefferson represented Albemarle County in the Virginia House of Burgesses. When the Coercive Acts was passed by the British Parliament in 1774, he wrote a set of resolutions against the acts. These resolutions formed the basis of his first book A Summary View of the Rights of British America.

Jefferson served as a delegate to the Second Continental Congress in June 1775, after the outbreak of the American Revolutionary War. In June 1776, Jefferson was appointed to a five-man committee to prepare a declaration to accompany the resolution of independence. It was not considered to be a major responsibility, but a routine matter. Jefferson showed his draft to the committee, which made some final revisions, and then presented it to Congress on June 28, 1776. The Congress made a few changes in wording and deleted nearly a fourth of the text, especially the passages critical of the slave trade. On July 4, 1776, the wording of the Declaration of Independence was approved. 

In September 1776, Jefferson returned to Virginia and was elected to the Virginia House of Delegates. Jefferson was appointed as governor of Virginia from 1779–1781. Virginia was invaded twice by the British during Jefferson's term as governor. He did not win much support from the public during his stay as governor and was not re-elected.  

From 1785 to 1789 Jefferson served as minister to France. While in Paris, he lived in a residence on the Champs-Élysées and was a frequent dinner guest of many of the city's most prominent people. In 1784 Jefferson helped draft the trade relations between the US and Prussia. 

Jefferson served as the first Secretary of State under George Washington from 1790 to 1793. In 1793, Jefferson supported France against Britain when war broke out between them. This was against Washington’s policy that America should not get involved in the war. Jefferson believed that political success at home depended on the success of the French army in Europe and said that any French reverses on the European battlefields would give "wonderful vigor to our monocrats, and unquestionably affect the tone of administering our government. Indeed, I fear that if this summer should prove disastrous to the French, it will damp that energy of republicanism in our new Congress, from which I had hoped so much reformation." 

In 1796, Jefferson lost his Democratic-Republican candidacy to John Adams, but became Vice President. Jefferson’s main contender to the presidential nomination of 1800 was Aaron Burr. He tied with Burr for first place in the Electoral College and the House of Representatives decided on Jefferson.

Jefferson won the presidential elections. Jefferson repealed many federal taxes, and sought to rely mainly on customs revenue. Jefferson served two full terms as President and was a man of many talents. He was an avid horticulturist, statesman, architect, archaeologist, inventor, and founder of the University of Virginia.
Questions

1. When and where was Jefferson born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his political career.

4. What was Jefferson’s role in the Constitution of America?

5. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

6. How do you rank Jefferson as president? Why?

John Adams
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1797-1801
John Adams, Jr. was the 2nd President of the United States. He was born on October 30, 1735   in Braintree, Massachusetts, to John and Susanna Boylston Adams. His father was a farmer, a Congregationalist deacon, a lieutenant in the militia and a town councilman, who supervised schools and roads. From a young age he felt the need to live up to his family heritage as the founding generation of Puritans. 

Adams went to Harvard College in 1751. He graduated in 1755, and taught for a few years in a school at Worcester. Later, he studied law in the office of James Putnam, a prominent lawyer in Worcester. He was admitted to the bar in 1758. 
In 1764, Adams married Abigail Smith the daughter of a Congregational minister, Rev. William Smith.  They had six children of which five survived - Abigail, John, Susanna, Charles, and Thomas. John, their second child, was the future President, John Quincy Adams.
Adams first prominent act was his opposition of the Stamp Act of 1765. In 1765, Adams drafted the instructions which were sent by the inhabitants of Braintree to its representatives in the Massachusetts legislature. Later that same year, he anonymously contributed four articles to the Boston Gazette hinting that there was a connection between the Protestant ideals and the ideas behind the resistance to the Stamp Act. He further enumerated that the Stamp Act deprived the American colonists of two basic rights - the rights to be taxed only by consent and to be tried only by a jury of one's peers. In December 1765, he also spoke in front of the governor and council and stated the Stamp Act as invalid in Massachusetts, as Massachusetts was not represented in Parliament, and had not assented to it.
In 1770, a street confrontation resulted in British soldiers killing five civilians. It was called the Boston Massacre. The soldiers involved asked Adams to defend them as almost every lawyer refused to do so. Adams agreed, even though he felt that it would be detrimental to his practice. His plea ensured that six of the soldiers were acquitted, while the two who had fired directly into the crowd were charged with murder but were convicted only of manslaughter.

In 1770 Adams was elected to the Massachusetts General Court (the colonial legislature). Massachusetts sent Adams to the first and second Continental Congresses from 1775 to 1778. In June 1775, he nominated George Washington of Virginia as commander-in-chief of the army then assembled around Boston. On May 15, 1776, the Continental Congress asked the colonies to begin work on their own constitutions, a precursor to becoming independent states. The resolution to draft independent constitutions was, as Adams put it, "independence itself”. Many Congressmen turned to Adams for advice about framing new governments. Adams published the pamphlet ‘Thoughts on Government’ in 1776 and this formed the basis of many state constitutions. 

On June 7, 1776, Adams seconded the resolution of independence and championed the resolution until it was adopted by Congress on July 2, 1776. He was appointed to a committee with Thomas Jefferson, Benjamin Franklin, Robert R. Livingston and Roger Sherman to draft a Declaration of Independence. 

Adams drafted the Massachusetts Constitution in two months in 1779, along with Samuel Adams and James Bowdoin. Adams represented the new union in Europe in 1777, and in 1779.
On the second trip, Adams was appointed as Minister Plenipotentiary and charged with the mission of negotiating a treaty of peace and a treaty of commerce with France. Through his concentrated efforts he secured a favorable treaty which gave Americans ownership of all lands east of the Mississippi, except Florida, which was transferred to Spain as its reward. The treaty was signed on November 30, 1782.

In July 1780, he became the ambassador in the Netherlands. In this position, Adams secured the recognition of the United States as an independent government at The Hague on April 19, 1782 and also negotiated a loan of five million guilders.  In October 1782, he negotiated with the Dutch a treaty of amity and commerce. 
In 1784 and 1785, he was one of the architects of the trade relations between the US and Prussia. 

In 1785, John Adams was appointed the first American minister to the Court of St. James (Ambassador to Great Britain). That same year, Adams published a work titled A Defense of the Constitutions of Government of the United States.  

Adams became the Vice President in the presidential election of 1789 and served in that capacity for two terms. During the presidential campaign of 1796 Adams was chosen as the presidential candidate of the Federalist Party. Adams won the election by a narrow margin of 71 electoral votes to 68 for Jefferson. Jefferson became the Vice President. 
The major accomplishment of his presidency was his peaceful resolution of the Quasi-War crisis with France in 1798. Adams was one of the most influential Founding Fathers of the Nation.
Questions

1. When and where was Adams born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his political career.

4. Adams took on the case of the soldiers even though he felt that it would be detrimental to his reputation. What characteristic did he display?

5. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

6. How do you rank Adams as president? Why?

George Washington
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1789-1797
George Washington was the 1st President of the newly formed United States of America. He was born on February 22, 1732, in Westmoreland County, Virginia. His parents were Augustine Washington and Mary Ball Washington. 
In his youth, Washington worked as a surveyor, around the Colony of Virginia. In 1748 he started his life as a planter. In 1749, he was appointed, surveyor of created Culpeper County. In 1752, Washington was appointed a district adjutant general in the Virginia militia and became Major Washington.  His duty included training the militia. 
In December 1753, Washington carried a British ultimatum to the French on the Ohio frontier. While travelling to deliver the message, Washington assessed French military strength and intentions and wrote a detailed report.  
In 1754, Washington was commissioned as a lieutenant colonel and led an expedition to Fort Duquesne to drive out the French. His troops walked into an ambush and he was made to sign a surrender statement that stated that Washington had assassinated Jumonville after the ambush. As Washington could not read French, he signed his name. Washington returned to Virginia on his release. He was cleared of blame but resigned from his position. 
In 1755, Washington was an aide to British General Edward Braddock on the Monongahela expedition. This expedition was a major effort to retake the Ohio Country, but it met with failure. Braddock was killed but Washington managed to distinguish himself as the Hero of the Monongahela. After this expedition, Washington sent to command a frontier in the Virginia Mountains and was promoted to colonel and named commander of all Virginia forces.
In 1758, Washington was part of the Forbes expedition that led to the French evacuation of Fort Duquesne, and British establishment of Pittsburgh. Later that year, Washington resigned from active military service as a Brigadier General.
On January 6, 1759, Washington married Martha Dandridge Custis, a widow. 
Marriage to Martha who was a wealthy widow had greatly increased his standing in society and he was elected to the Virginia provincial legislature, the House of Burgesses, in 1758. For sixteen years, Washington lived the life of a wealthy landowner and concentrated on his business activities.

In May 1769, Washington introduced a proposal which called for Virginia to boycott English goods until the Townsend Acts were repealed. The Intolerable Acts in 1774 further aggravated Washington and the same year he chaired the meeting at which the Fairfax Resolves were adopted. The Fairfax Resolves called for the convening of a Continental Congress. In August, Washington attended the First Virginia Convention and was selected as a delegate to the First Continental Congress. In April 1775, Washington appeared at the Second Continental Congress in military uniform, signaling his desire for war. Congress created the Continental Army on June 14, 1775 and appointed Washington as Major General and Commander-in-chief.
Washington won even the approval of his enemies during the war for his command and concern of his troops. He did not meddle in politics either and that further strengthened his reputation as an incorruptible man. Washington’s victories of Trenton and Princeton won the new nation’s imagination and many more joined up the army. When Britain faced defeats, France joined in the war to support the war and in turn escalated the war.
In 1783, after The Treaty of Paris recognized the independence of the United States, Washington disbanded his army.  On November 25, the British evacuated New York City, and Washington and the governor took possession. On December 23, 1783, he resigned his commission as commander-in-chief. During this period, the United States was governed under the Articles of Confederation without a President.

In 1787 Washington was unanimously elected president of the Constitutional Convention. After the Convention, his support ensured the ratification and the new Constitution was ratified by all thirteen states.

In 1789, the Electoral College elected Washington unanimously. Washington took the oath of office as the first President under the Constitution for the United States of America on April 30, 1789 at Federal Hall in New York City.  

Washington was an able administrator and believed in a democratic and decisive approach of resolving issue. He was unanimously elected President in 1792 too. He reluctantly served the second term, but refused the third term. 
Questions

1. When and where was Washington born?

2. Describe his early life.

3. Describe his military career.

4. Summarize his political career.

5. Research the policies implemented during his presidency and discuss what you feel were his best and/or worst contributions as President.

6. How do you rank Washington as president? Why?
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